ISSN:2149-7893 E-ISSN: 2536-507X

# CALERCES CONTRACTOR OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Indexed in the Web of Science

# Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024



## **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- Liver-Chip Model for Disease Modeling and Toxicity Screening Baddal and Mammadov; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Community Participation of People Living with Stroke Kurtaran et al.; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Blood Pressure Variability and Red Cell Distribution Width Mehmet Ali Mendi; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Sleep Disturbances in Children with Type 1 Diabetes Küpçü et al.; Van, Türkiye
- Assessment of Surface Roughness, Color Stability Cumhur and Cevval Özkoçak; Bolu, İstanbul, Türkiye
- Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Relatives Vural Doğru et al.; Mersin, Türkiye
- Fall Event Reports of a Tertiary-Care Hospital Usta et al.; Ankara, Türkiye
- Hidden Hearing Loss in Noise-Induced Cochlear Synaptopathy Çıldır and Tokgöz-Yılmaz; Ankara, Türkiye
- Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Nurses Dal Yilmaz and Bayraktar; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Striae Gravidarum Mammadov et al.; Nicosia, North Cyprus

#### CASE REPORTS

- An Hourglass Gallbladder Güngör et al.; İzmir, Denizli, Türkiye
- Owl Eye and MitraClip Conkbayır et al.; Güzelyurt, Nicosia, North Cyprus; İstanbul, Türkiye





Official Journal of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association



www.cyprusjmedsci.com



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

**Editor-in-Chief** Sonuç Büyük Department of Pathology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus sonucbuyuk@outlook.com https://ease.org.uk/member\_profile/sonuc-buyuk-5661/

## **Associate Editors**

#### Amber Eker Bakkaloğlu

Department of Neurology, Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus amber.eker@emu.edu.tr

#### Aysa Ayalı

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, European University of Lefke, Faculty of Dentistry, Lefke, North Cyprus aysaayali@hotmail.com

#### Ayşe Baha

Department of Chest Diseases, Dr. Akçiçek State Hospital; Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, Cyprus dr\_aysedemir@hotmail.com

#### Ayşe Ülgen

Department of Biostatistics, Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, Cyprus ayseulgen1@gmail.com

#### Cemal Gürkan

Turkish Cypriot DNA Laboratory, Nicosia, Cyprus Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus cemal.gurkan@gmail.com

#### Cenk Conkbayır

Department of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus cenkconk@hotmail.com

#### Emil Mammadov

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus dremilmammadov@gmail.com

#### **Erol Dülger**

Vip Health Clinic, Nicosia, Cyprus drerold@yahoo.com

#### İzgen Karakaya

Department of Restorative Dentistry, European University of Lefke, Faculty of Dentistry, Lefke, North Cyprus izgen96h@gmail.com

#### Mümtaz Güran

Department of Medical Microbiology, Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus mumtazguran@gmail.com



Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (530) 177 30 97 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521

Publication Date: February 2024 E-ISSN: 2536-507X ISSN: 2149-7893 International scientific journal published bi-annually.



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

#### Nilüfer Güzoğlu

Department of Neonatalogy, Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus nilufer.guzoglu@emu.edu.tr

#### Özüm Tunçyürek

Department of Radiology, Cyprus International University Faculty of Medicine; Kolan British Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ozum.tuncyurek@neu.edu.tr

#### Pınar Tunçbilek Özmanevra

Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, PrimeMed Clinic, Kyrenia, Cyprus pinartuncbilek@gmail.com

#### Ramadan Özmanevra

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Cyprus International University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus rozmanevra@gmail.com

## **Section Editors**

Ahmet Özant Private Clinic of Orthodontics, Nicosia, Cyprus ozantahmet@gmail.com

#### Ahmet Özyiğit

Universitede-Integrated Clinical Practice/Clinical Skills, University of Nicosia Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus dr.ahmet@elitenicosia.com

#### Ali Cenk Özay

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drcenkozay@yahoo.com

#### Ceyhun Dalkan

Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus dalkanc@yahoo.com

#### Ersan Berksel

Cyprus Science University Faculty of Health Sciences, Kyrenia, Cyprus ersanberksel@su.edu.tr

#### Eşref Çelik

Department of Medical and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus esref.celik@neu.edu.tr

#### Gökçe Savtekin

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of City Island Faculty of Dentistry, Famagusta, Cyprus gokcesavtekin@gmail.com

#### Gülten Sucu Dağ

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University Faculty of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus sucugulten@gmail.com

#### Hülya Efetürk

Department of Nuclear Medicine, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drhulyaefeturk@gmail.com

#### Hüseyin Kaya Süer

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus kaya.suer@neu.edu.tr

#### Nail Bulakbaşı

Department of Radiology, Dr. Suat Günsel University of Kyrenia Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus nbulakbasi@yahoo.com

#### Necdet Özçay

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye necdetozcay@gmail.com

#### Nedim Sezgin İlgi

Department of Anatomy, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus sezgin.ilgi@neu.edu.tr



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

#### Nerin Bahçeciler

Department of Child Health and Diseases, Division of Allergy and Immunology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus nerin74@gmail.com

#### Ömer Taşargöl

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus omertasargol@yahoo.com

#### Özen Aşut

Department of Public Health, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ozen.asut@neu.edu.tr

# Özlem Balcıoğlu

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Sinem Şığıt İkiz

Department of Radiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus sinemsigit@gmail.com

#### Uğurcan Balyemez

Department of Radiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ubalyemez@gmail.com

#### Umut Maraşuna Department of Endocrinology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus umutmousa@yahoo.co.uk

#### Zeynep Taşargöl

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus zeynepyt84@hotmail.com

## **Biostatistical Editors**

#### İlker Etikan

Department of Biostatistics, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ietikan@gmail.com

#### Ayşe Ülgen

Department of Biostatistics, Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, Cyprus

## **National Advisory Board**

Ali Ulvi Önder Department of Urology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Ayşe Gökyiğit** Department of Pharmaceutical Services of the Ministry of Health, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Beste Kamiloğlu

Department of Orthodontics, Near East University School of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Bülent Haydar Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Doğan Ceyhan** Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Düriye Deren Oygar

Department of Nephrology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Ender Volkan

Cyprus International University School of Pharmacy, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### **Erdem Beyoğlu** Barış Mental and Neurological Disorders State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

## Fatma Deniz

Department of Dermatology, Girne Akçiçek State Hospital, Girne, Cyprus

**Filiz Besim** Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gamze Mocan Kuzey** Department of Pathology and Cytology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gönül Küçük** Department of Pediatric Surgery, Dr.Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gülsen Bozkurt** Private Clinic of Hematology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hanife Erçal Ezgi Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Besim

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Mete İnançlı Private Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, Nicosia, Cyprus

**İdris Deniz** Department of Forensic Medicine, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**İsmet Başar** Department of Urology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Kaan Erler

Department of Orthopaedics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Kenan Arifoğlu

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus Kerem Teralı

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Mehmet İnan

Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### **Meltem Nalça** Department of Radiation Oncology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Murat Uncu Department of Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mustafa Kalfaoğlu Department of General Surgery, Magusa State Hospital, Famagusta, North Cyprus

#### **Mustafa Taşeli** Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Nahide Gökçora

Department of Nucleer Medicine, East Mediterranian University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### Ozan Emiroğlu

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Özay Önöral

Department of Protetic Medical Therapy, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Serap Soytaç İnançlı

Private Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases and Internal Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

# Sevda Lafcı

Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# EDITORIAL BOARD

#### Sezgin Handan

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Sibel Tozaki Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Songül Acar Vaizoğlu** Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Süha Akpınar Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Şanda Çalı** Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tarık İzbul

Department of General Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tevfik Eker

Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### Tijen Ataçağ

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Turgay Akalın** Private Clinic of Neurology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ülvan Özad

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

## **International Advisory Board**

**A.C. Joao Lima** Department of Radiology, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

#### Aliye Özenoğlu

Department Nutrition and Dietetics, Üsküdar University School of Health Science, İstanbul, Türkiye

Alp Usubütün

Department of Pathology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

Alper Sertçelik Department of Cardiology, Sanko University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Türkiye

**Ayla Ünsal** Department Of Nursing, Ahi Evran University School of Health, Kırşehir, Türkiye

**Ayşe Nihal Demircan** Department of Opthalmology, Çukurova University School of Medicine, Adana, Türkiye

**Aytekin Besim** Private Clinic of Radiology, Ankara, Türkiye

B**engi Semerci** Department of Psychiatrist, Institute of Bengi Semerci, İstanbul, Türkiye

**Barış Doğu Yıldız** Department of General Surgery, Ankara Numune Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Çağrı Büke

Department of Enfectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Cem Ertan

Department of Emergency Medicine, Akdeniz University School of Medicine, Antalya, Türkiye

#### Cem Terzi

Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# EDITORIAL BOARD

#### Coşkun Yorulmaz

Department of Forensic Medicine, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Dilek Yavuz

Department of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology Section, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Research and Training Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Elif Arı Bakır

Department of Nephrology, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Egemen İdiman

Department of Neurology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

#### Emre Canda

Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

#### Erkan Göksu

Department of Emergency Medicine, Akdeniz University School of Medicine, Antalya, Türkiye

#### **Erol Baysal**

Dubai Genetic and Thalassemia Center, Dubai Health Authority, Dubai, UAE

#### Fatih Köse

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Türkiye

#### Fazıl Tuncay Aki

Department of Urology, Head of Transplantation Unite, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Funda Tuğcu

Department of Orthodontics, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye Gökhan Berktuğ Bahadır Department of Pediatric Surgery, Mersin University School of Medicine, Mersin, Türkiye

#### Gülnur Göllü Bahadır

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Gökhan Nergizoğlu

Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Gölge Acaroğlu

Private Clinic of Opthalmology, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Hür Hassoy

Department of Public Health, Ege University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

# Hakan Altay

Department of Cardiology, Başkent University İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Hüseyin Bakkaloğlu

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Hüseyin Mertsoylu

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Türkiye

#### İlhami Kuru

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Kemal Bakır

Department of Pathology, Gaziantep University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Türkiye

#### **Kemal Dolay**

Department of General Surgery, Bezmialem Vakif University, Bezmialem Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

# EDITORIAL BOARD

#### Kürşad Türksen

Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

#### Lale Tokgözoğlu

Department of Cardiology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Levent Sennaroğlu

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Mazhar Tokgözoğlu

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Melih Atahan Güven

Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Mustafa Camgöz

Department of Life Sciences, Imperial Collage School of Natural Sciences, London, United Kingdom

#### Müfit Akyüz

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Karabük University School of Medicine, Karabük, Türkiye

#### Müslime Akbaba

Department of Opthalmology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Mustafa Sertaç Yazıcı

Department of Urology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Neval Duman

Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Nihat Yavuz

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Nilgün Kapucuoğlu

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Nilüfer Rahmioğlu

Department of Genetics, University of Oxford School of Medicine, Oxford, United Kingdom

#### Nuray Başsüllü Kara

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Nuri Özgirgin

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bayındır Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Orçun Şahin

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Oytun Erbaş

Department of Experimental Medicine, The Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK-Martek) of Türkiye, IL, USA

#### Özgür Deren

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal Fetal Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Özgür Özyılkan

Department of Oncology, School of Medicine, Başkent University Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Türkiye

#### Peyman Yalçın

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Pınar Zeyneloğlu

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Başkent University, Ankara Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

#### **Ralph Tufano**

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA



Volume: 9 Issue: 1 February 2024

## **EDITORIAL BOARD**

#### Rahmi Kılıç

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kırıkkale University School of Medicine, Kırıkkale, Türkiye

#### Salih Marangoz

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Selçuk İnanlı

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Marmara University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Serap Öztürkcan

Department of Dermatology, Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Manisa, Türkiye

#### Serkan Durdu

Department of CardiovascularSurgery, Cebeci Kardiac Center, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Serkan Sertel

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Heidelberg Neuenheimer Feld, Heidelberg, Germany

#### Serpil Altındoğan

Department of Oral Maxillofascial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Server Serdaroğlu

Department of Dermatology, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Şaziye Şahin

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Gazi University Dental School of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Teslime Atlı

Department of Geriatrics, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Tolga Karcı

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir Şifa University İzmir, Türkiye

#### Ufuk Ateş

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Ufuk Erginoğlu

Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Wisconsin, School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, USA

#### Vedat Göral

Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul Medipol University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### Vural Fidan

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Yunus Emre State Hospital, Eskişehir, Türkiye

#### Yeşim Sağlıcan

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

Please refer to the journal's webpage (https://cyprusjmedsci.com/) for "Aims and Scope", "Instructions to Authors" and "Ethical Policy".

The editorial and publication process of the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of ICMJE, WAME, CSE, COPE, EASE, and NISO. The journal is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, Embase, EBSCO, J-GATE, CABI, CNKI and Gale.

The journal is published electronically.

**Owner:** Ahmet Özant on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association **Responsible Manager:** Sonuç Büyük



Volume: **9** Issue: **1** February 2024

## CONTENTS

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

**1** Design, Manufacture and Characterization of a Liver-Chip Model: A Platform for Disease Modeling and Toxicity Screening

Buket Baddal, Emil Mammadov; Nicosia, North Cyprus

- 7 Living with Stroke in North Cyprus: Which ICF-Based Biopsychosocial Factors are Related to Community Participation? Utku Kurtaran, Beliz Belgen Kaygısız, Nazemin Gilanlıoğulları, Ferda Selçuk Muhtaroğlu; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- **15** The Association Between Red Cell Distribution Width and Blood Pressure Variability in Hypertensive Patients Mehmet Ali Mendi; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- **19 Examination of Sleep Disturbance and Sleep-Related Problems in Children with Type 1 Diabetes** Zekiye Küpçü, Funda Kardaş Özdemir, Dilek Çiftçi Baykal, Gülçimen Güney, Canan Kara, Servet Yel; Van, Kars, Türkiye
- 28 Evaluation of the Color Stability and Surface Roughness of a Novel Single-Shade Composite Resin: A Smart Chromatic Technology

Alper Cumhur, Begüm Büşra Cevval Özkoçak; Bolu, İstanbul, Türkiye

**36** What is the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Relatives of Patients Hospitalized in the Internal Medicine Clinic? A Hospital-Based Survey Study

Birgül Vural Doğru, Meral Gün, Esra Çavuşoğlu, Fatma Tülin Çelik, Eylem Türk; Mersin, Türkiye

- **43 Fall Event Reports of a Tertiary-Care Hospital: A Retrospective Analysis** Dilara Usta, Neşe Altınok Ersoy, Fatoş Korkmaz, İmatullah Akyar, Yasemin Akyürek, Mine Durusu Tanriover; Ankara, Türkiye
- **51** Noise-Induced Cochlear Synaptopathy in Dental Prosthesis Students Bünyamin Çıldır, Suna Tokgöz-Yılmaz; Ankara, Türkiye
- **58** Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Nurses: A Qualitative Study Ümran Dal Yılmaz, Nurhan Bayraktar; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- 64 Determination of Striae Gravidarum and its Affecting Factors During Pregnancy Betül Mammadov, Dilay Necipoğlu, Gülşen Vural; Nicosia, North Cyprus

#### **CASE REPORTS**

- **70 A Rare Gallbladder Anomaly Mimicking Choledochal Cyst; Hourglass Gallbladder** Feyyaz Güngör, Nihan Acar, İbrahim Cüneyit, Osman Nuri Dilek; İzmir, Denizli, Türkiye
- **73 Percutaneous Mitral Cleft Repair with MitraClip: An Interesting Case of Owl Eye Appearance in the Mitral Valve** Cenk Conkbayır, İsmail Ateş, Alptekin Özkoç; Güzelyurt, Nicosia, North Cyprus; İstanbul, Türkiye

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2023.2023-94 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(1):1-6

# Design, Manufacture and Characterization of a Liver-Chip Model: A Platform for Disease Modeling and Toxicity Screening

#### Buket Baddal<sup>1,2</sup>, Emil Mammadov<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Microfluidic Systems Research Group, Near East University, DESAM Research Institute, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>3</sup>Department of Pediatric Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus

#### Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Drug research and development processes often fail in human clinical trials due to the inability of current in vitro cell culture and in vivo experimentation platforms to accurately predict toxicity and drug efficacy. There is an increasing need for human relevant systems which will enable studies on target tissue models prior to clinical trials. Drug-induced liver injury (DILI) is an important cause of acute liver failure. Species differences in liver toxicity and the limited predictability of traditional models represent a primary barrier to drug development for DILI. The aim of this study was to establish and characterize a dynamic microfluidic liver-chip with a physiological secretion function, continuous flow and compatibility with monitoring toxicity reactions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: A biocompatible polymer-based prototype liver chip was designed using 3D stereolithography printing, CNC milling technology and molding. The chip with two microchannels, an upper channel for hepatocytes, and a lower microvascular channel for endothelium was produced by 3D bioprinting. The liver chips, pre-coated with collagen type I, were seeded with HepG2 cells and cell proliferation was monitored via microscopy. Toxicity was measured using a lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay. Albumin, alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), alanine transaminase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) secretion were also investigated.

**RESULTS:** LDH readings demonstrated that the designed microfluidic chip was non-toxic to human hepatocytes. Albumin, AFP, ALT and AST secretions were detected in cellular secretions at physiologically-relevant levels.

CONCLUSION: Overall, this study demonstrated the design and manufacture of a physiologically-relevant microfluidic liver chip model, which can be used in drug-monitoring and toxicity studies.

Keywords: Microfluidic system, 3D bioprinting, organ chip, drug monitoring, personalized medicine

#### INTRODUCTION

Drug development and disease simulation studies include both in vitro and in vivo stages. During these stages, multiple repetitions are performed in order to obtain the desired accurate results, leading to the consumption of large amounts of consumables and experimental

animals. As a major drawback, incompatibilities between the two stages may occur. A disease model or a treatment which can be simulated at the cellular level can sometimes not be replicated in the animal model.1 Therefore, scientists have sought models which can be studied both on a cellular level basis and closely represent the model organism. In the search for this model, organ-on-a-chip (OOAC) technology has

To cite this article: Baddal B, Mammadov E. Design, Manufacture and Characterization of a Liver-Chip Model: A Platform for Disease Modeling and Toxicity Screening. Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(1):1-6

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.B. 0000-0003-3319-2179; E.M. 0000-0001-8143-1643.



Address for Correspondence: Emil Mammadov E-mail: dremilmammadov@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8143-1643

Received: 26.09.2023 Accepted: 12.12.2023

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. recently come into use. OOAC systems contain engineered or natural human-relevant miniature tissues grown inside microfluidic chips. To better mimic human physiology, these chips are designed to control cell microenvironments and maintain tissue-specific functions.<sup>2</sup> It is a promising technology for effective drug discovery and drug screening for precision medicine. OOAC systems have made a significant advancement over the last 10 years. The OOAC was initiated with a lung chip, and has subsequently evolved into systems in which many different organs can be simulated.<sup>3-7</sup> The OOAC technology combines both cell culture and microfluidic systems. The most important distinguishing feature of these systems is that the cell culture medium is not static; it is stimulated with a continuous dynamic fluid flow and mechanical stimuli can be given if required. These mechanical stimuli can be in the form of stretching, which mimics the human organs, such as the simulation of the human respiratory movements via the stretching in a lung chip or peristalsis in a gut-chip. In addition, the dynamic flow of the culture medium in the OOAC eliminates the need for daily medium changes by the researchers, and the amount of consumables is considerably reduced due to the small size of the microfluidic channel.8

The liver is the largest internal organ of the human body, with its complex microarchitecture and function which plays a critical role in drug metabolism. Hepatotoxicity and drug-induced liver injury (DILI) are the main causes of drug failures.<sup>9</sup> Moreover, liver diseases are among the leading causes of death in the world, with new cases occurring each year. Although animal models have been traditionally used to investigate human drug metabolism and toxicity prior to clinical trials, rat and dog models have been reported to predict only 71% of the drug toxicities observed in humans.<sup>10</sup>

The aim of the current study was to design a three-dimensional (3D) microfluidic liver chip model which would reflect the characteristics of human liver physiology and pathophysiology; recapitulate the sinusoidal structure of the liver, maintain high cell viability and cellular phenotypes, and mimic natural liver functions. The designed liver chip would allow for the simulation of different disease phenotypes and aid in the development of safer and more efficient personalized treatments.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Chip Design, Production and Assembly

For the mold design, a two-piece mold system which enabled the production of six chips was designed using the Fusion 360 (Autodesk Inc, USA) software. The production of the molds was accomplished both by using biocompatible resin in a Prusa SL-1 (Prusa Research, CZ) SLA 3D printer and CNC machining of aluminum. Quality control of the molds and canal diameter verification were performed via DinoLite (DinoLite Inc, USA) digital microscopy. The mold surfaces were cleaned with alcohol and distilled water. PDMS (Sylgard 184, Dowsil, USA) and a curing agent were mixed at a ratio of 10:1 and placed in a vacuum desiccator device for 30 minutes to remove air bubbles. This mixture was then poured into the molds and was incubated in an oven at 100 °C for 30 minutes. The two halves of the chip were then removed from the mold after cooldown and stored in dust-proof sealed boxes. Corning Transwell polyester membrane (10-micron thickness, 0.4-micron pore width) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was used as the separating membrane between the chip channels. The membrane was cut from the Transwell wells with a scalpel to form strips which coincided with the middle channel of the chip. Two pieces separated

from the molds and the previously prepared membrane in the form of upper part-membrane-lower part were applied to all surfaces with the Plasmatreat FG5001 (Plasmatreat GmbH) plasma activator device (IL, USA). As an alternative method, the surfaces of the upper part and the lower part were treated with uncured PDMS to adhere to each other and then cured in an oven at 60 °C for 12 hours. Subsequently, each chip was connected to the Syringe Two (Elveflow, FR) micro-perfusion pump and checked for watertightness. Cross-sectional controls of the first chips were also performed via DinoLite (DinoLite Inc, USA) digital microscopy.

#### **Cell Culture**

For cell culture, the HepG2 hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (catalog no: HB-8065, ATCC, Virginia, USA) was used. Vials containing 1 mL of frozen cell suspension at passage 10 were removed from a liquid nitrogen tank, thawed in a 37 °C water bath and added to 14 mL of cell culture medium (DMEM, 10% FBS, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin) (Invitrogen, USA). The cell suspension was centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes. After the centrifugation, the supernatant was gently decanted without disturbing the cell pellet. The cells were resuspended in 5 mL culture medium, and transferred into a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flask (VWR, USA) containing 15 mL culture medium. After 24 hours of incubation at 37 °C with 5% CO., the medium was refreshed and placed in an incubator. The cells were observed daily under an Olympus IX53 inverted microscope and until 80% confluency was reached. Then, the culture medium was removed and the cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). Three mL of 0.05% 1 x trypsin-EDTA solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) were added to the culture dish and this was incubated at 37 °C for 10 minutes. After incubation, the cells were suspended in 10 mL of DMEM with 10% FBS and centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes. The cell pellet was resuspended in 10 mL of cell culture medium in a new cell culture dish and transferred to a 37 °C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. This procedure was repeated twice per week in order to ensure the continuity of the cell line.

#### Chip Loading with HepG2

Hydrogen peroxide gas plasma sterilization was performed for all of the chips manufactured. The chip channels were treated with 1 mg/ mL Sulfo-SANPAH (sulfosuccinimidyl 6-(4'-azido-2' nitrophenylamino) hexanoate) solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) with 50  $\mu$ L in the upper channel and 30  $\mu$ L in the lower channel. Activation was performed using 365 nm UV light for 20 minutes. Post activation, Sulfo-SANPAH was removed and the channels were washed first with 200  $\mu$ L of sterile H<sub>2</sub>O, and later with 200  $\mu$ L of 70% ethyl alcohol. The channels were washed 3 times with 200  $\mu$ L of sterile PBS in order to avoid ethyl alcohol residues. Subsequently, the upper and lower channels of the chips were coated with ~30  $\mu$ L of 1 mg/mL collagen type I (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) previously prepared with 0.25% acetic acid, and kept at 4 °C overnight. At the end of the incubation period, the collagen in the channels was removed, the channels were washed once with 200  $\mu$ L of HepG2 culture medium and equilibrated for cell culture.

When 80% confluency was reached, the HepG2 cells were removed from the culture medium and washed with 5 mL of PBS. Then, 3 mL of 0.05% 1 x trypsin-EDTA solution was added to the culture dish and, after shaking gently, the culture dish was incubated at 37 °C for 10 minutes. After incubation, the cells were suspended in 10 mL of DMEM with 10% FBS and centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes. Then, the cells were resuspended in 300  $\mu$ L of DMEM medium with 10% FBS and they were stained with 10  $\mu$ L of 0.4% trypan blue (Sigma) and counted on a Neubauer chamber. The cells were seeded at a concentration of 3x10<sup>6</sup>/ mL cells (~30  $\mu$ L) into the upper channel of a chip previously coated with type I collagen. In order for the cells to adhere to the chip, the chips were placed in an incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and incubated for 2 hours. After the incubation, the chips were examined with an inverted microscope. The chips were consequently connected to the syringe pump and the flow rate was set to 30  $\mu$ L/hr. The input reservoir containing 10 mL culture medium and the empty waste output reservoir, chips and perfusion pump were placed into the incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for the duration of the experiment (Figure 1).

#### Chip Characterization

The HepG2 cells were examined with an inverted microscope at different incubation times including 6, 24, 36, 48 and 72 hours in order to monitor cell proliferation. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) measurements were performed using a colorimetric assay (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) to test for cellular cytotoxicity. The culture medium containing cell secretions collected in the output reservoir was used for the LDH assay. In addition, the albumin, alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), alanine transaminase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels in the output culture medium were measured using an ARCHITECT ci4100 Analyzer (Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL, USA) and compared with a DMEM culture medium without cells.

#### Statistical Analysis

No statistical analysis was required for this study.

#### RESULTS

Primarily, two mold designs were investigated in this study. It was determined that the first design caused an air bubble problem which prevented the flow of the culture medium, and therefore the study proceeded with design number two (Figure 2). The molds produced from resin by SLA 3D printing prevented complete curing of the PDMS thus leading to the adhesion of PDMS to the mold surface post curing. In order to solve this issue with the resin, the molds were subjected to both heat (60 °C) for 12 hours and a second UV (365 nm) treatment for



**Figure 1.** Incubator setup (chip, chip tray, perfusion pump, connectors, and output vials).

30 minutes. After this treatment, the PDMS was easily released from the mold. However, it was noted that the PDMS partially lost its transparency feature. However, PDMS chips which were cured at 100 °C for 30 minutes using an aluminum mold were easily released and showed proper transparency. Another failure was encountered during the air plasma activation of the chip halves to induce adhesion. The parts did not adhere after air plasma treatment, and therefore this method was discarded in this study. Instead, the chip halves were treated with a thin layer of uncured PDMS on the inner surfaces, a polyester membrane was placed in between, and the chips were assembled and cured at 60 °C for 12 hours. With this method, it was noticed that the two surfaces adhered to each other in a watertight manner (Figure 3).

The results indicate that, during the liver-chip culture, HepG2 cells were able to adhere to the upper channel of the liver chip at 1-hour post seeding as shown in Figure 4. Monolayer formation was examined under the microscope on the 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> days post seeding (Figure 5). Culture medium containing cell secretions were collected in the output reservoir for LDH cell cytotoxicity measurements. The levels of LDH in the liver chips were found to be comparable with the DMEM culture medium without cells (Table 1). The cells, which formed a monolayer in the chip, were found to be high and concordant with regenerating hepatic cellular physiology.



**Figure 2.** Chip design which was selected for this study (rendered in Autodesk Fusion360 [Autodesk Inc, USA)].



**Figure 3.** Assembled chip after water-tightness test (different dye colors indicate separate channels).



**Figure 4.** HepG2 cells attached to the chip upper channel 1-hour post seeding [(A) 10x magnification, (B) 20x magnification].



**Figure 5.** Proliferation of HepG2 cells on the liver chip and monolayer on (A) day 3, (B) day 4 and (C) day 6 (10x magnification).

Table 1. Comparison of the HepG2 liver chip and DMEM culture medium for cellular secretions					
Liver chip DMEM without cells					
LDH	45 U/L	37 U/L			
Albumin	15 mg/L	7.41 mg/L			
AFP	978 ng/mL	0			
ALT	<6 U/L	ND			
AST	3 U/L	ND			
ND: Not detected, DMEM, Dulk sees's medified Facto's medium. (DI	La stata da hudua sana sa AED: Almha fat	anvetein ALT. Alanina tuoneemineen ACT. Asnautate anninatuonefausee			

#### ND: Not detected, DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium, LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase, AFP: Alpha-fetoprotein, ALT: Alanine transaminase, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase

#### DISCUSSION

Time and cost are two significant parameters for the R&D of new drugs. The development of a new drug takes about 12 to 15 years and costs about 800 million US dollars. In the R&D process, which consists of four phases, namely discovery and research, preclinical studies, clinical studies and treatment approval, 10 of approximately 10,000 compounds taken into animal testing reach clinical trials and only 1 is approved by the pharmaceutical agencies.<sup>11</sup> In this approach, only the preliminary physiological and pathological effects and toxicity results of the tested drug in tissue culture models can be observed. If the in vitro results are promising, the effects of the compounds developed are further investigated using animal models. However, these two models have significant disadvantages. For example, in vitro models cannot fully represent the complex cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, and this incomplete interaction may lead to erroneous study results.<sup>12</sup> Drugs compounds shown to be effective in vitro may be ineffective during in vivo studies. Therefore, unexpected toxicity and low efficacy not detected during in vitro studies represent one of the most common and important causes of drug development failures. In addition, the highest rate of failure in drug development occurs in the second and third phases of clinical trials conducted in the final stages. For this reason, critical studies performed in the earlier stages significantly reduce costs and time spent in the process. The main reasons for the failure of new drug candidates can be attributed to the ineffectiveness of the existing in vivo and in vitro models, and the inability to detect serious side effects through these models.13

Although the current market size of OOAC technology is not as much as its potential, it was 7.5 million USD worldwide in 2016. According to some estimates, this market size will increase rapidly and may reach 163 million USD by 2023 with the completion of the existing R&D projects and an increase in the acceptance rates of organ chips in pharmacology.<sup>14</sup> Considering the use of the animals as well as the high costs, there is an increasing need for innovative alternative research processes which can achieve success in a shorter time, and which can be investigated using target tissue models before starting clinical studies, thus increasing the reliability of the R&D process. Recently developed bioengineered devices which mimic human organs or tissues have emerged as OOAC technology in the literature.<sup>15</sup> OOAC is an in vitro technique in which the mechanical and physiological responses of human tissues and organs are recreated and simulated by 3D microfluidic and other micro-scale supported structures.<sup>16,17</sup> Cell and tissue cultures made with standard cell culture flasks, petri dishes and well plates have many disadvantages such as being static, lacking extracellular matrix, and having deficiencies in modeling human tissue physiology, pathophysiology and microstructure. Microfluidic organchips enable 3D cell cultures in designed microchannels, and by better modeling complex tissues with multi-cell cultures, enable assays which cannot normally be performed with the existing experimental methods to be performed.<sup>18</sup> When previous studies on OOAC are examined, it can be observed that the importance of OOACs which can mimic the functions of various living organs, including the kidney, liver, lung, brain, skin, bone marrow and intestine has increased in recent years.<sup>19-22</sup> If the liver is taken as an example, the role of both new drug candidates and chemicals such as food additives in liver metabolism should be examined before human use. It is not possible to fully understand human liver tissue cells through animal models. Since in vitro cell lines proliferate on a single surface, they cannot be successfully simulated with liver tissue. With the OOAC design, it is possible to place hepatocytes, endothelium, Kupfer, stellate and iPSC cells into the microchannel in order to enable the physical simulation of the liver, or it is possible to create a spheroid, which is a 3D cell culture form from hepatocytes, and model 3D liver tissue within microchannels via these spheroids.<sup>23,24</sup>

With the current study, the first organ-chip study was established in our region, and although it was only a pilot organ-chip study, the results obtained were promising. In this study, it was observed microscopically that HepG2 cells continued their physiological development on the OOAC platform created, and the cells were observed to secrete proteins physiologically. Although HepG2 cells are hepatic carcinoma cells and are more disadvantageous compared to normal hepatocytes due to their proximity to the fetal liver, they represent a good model for proofof-concept studies. During this study, significant potential advantages of microfluidic systems over conventional methods were observed. The most important of these is that the cells do not need intermittent media replacements due to the dynamic flow, and the positive effects of dynamic flow on cell physiology compared to static environment. The flow of dynamic DMEM or other culture media solutions in the chip channel has been proven to mimic the physiological blood or extracellular fluid flow of cells, and has also been shown to trigger growth. Although not included in the results, an increase in AFP secretion was observed within days in our study. It is also likely that risks of deterioration of the sterile environment will be reduced as this method requires less intervention. However, the most important advantage of microfluidic systems can be stated as being the use of very limited amounts of biomaterial. This allows a higher number of experiments to be performed with the same amount of material consumption compared to conventional methods.

In the context of the recent literature, a plethora of studies have been performed in order to demonstrate the superiority of microfluidic liveron-a-chip systems over conventional cell culture methods in terms of their similarities to the physiology, mechanisms, and functionalities of liver cells in an in vitro environment. In particular, the use of primary hepatocytes obtained from liver biopsies or non-transplantable livers has been stated as being the gold standard for the development of human-relevant in vitro liver models, yet human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), non-parenchymal cells and hepatic cell lines, which was the choice of cell source in the current study, are also being used as alternatives. In addition to monolayer cultures, matrix-free spheroids/organoids-on-chip, scaffold/hydrogel-based 3D liver OOACs and 3D liver OOACs using bioprinting are being considered as the emerging models for liver chips.<sup>25</sup> Furthermore, models such as the PhysioMimix liver-on-a-chip have recently been proposed and their utility has been shown to be effective for the exploration of multiple drug metabolism applications.<sup>26</sup> A hybrid polymer-based microfluidic platform, including cyclic olefin copolymer and PDMS, has also been developed for culturing hepatocytes and it has been demonstrated to retain the functionality and metabolic activity of perfusion culture as assessed by the secretion rates of albumin, urea, and cell viability visualization. This hybrid platform has been shown to produce comparable biomarker levels similar to published studies on other in vitro models.<sup>27</sup> More recently, a customizable microfluidic origami liver-on-a-chip model which simplifies the laboratory-scale fabrication of organ-on-chip models and hence speeds up chip development and optimization without reducing structural and functional features has been proposed.28

In the current study, the levels of albumin, AFP, ALT and AST values of HepG2 cells were also measured. Butterfield et al.<sup>29</sup> previously demonstrated that HepG2 cells cultured in 24-well plates produced AFP at 606 ng/mL/10<sup>6</sup> cells at 24 h. In our study, the amount of AFP secretion

was found to be 978 ng/mL, which was comparably higher in the liver chip. Similarly, albumin secretion by HepG2 cells in tissue culture has been reported to be between 1.7-2 µg/mL, which is lower than the albumin values obtained in the liver chip (15 µg/mL).<sup>30,31</sup> Additionally, ALT and AST levels secreted by HepG2 cells in dishes or multi-well plates have been reported to be 3 IU/L and ~5 IU/L in the literature, respectively.<sup>32</sup> While these results are not superior to the cells in dishes, our results still demonstrated the presence of these secretions, which are important for physiological relevance.

#### **Study Limitations**

Under current conditions, experiments can be concurrently performed on four chips with a single channel or two chips with two channels. However, more equipment is required to perform experiments with higher numbers of chips. The liver chip secretions were only compared against cell culture medium without cells and not with secretions from cells grown without the chip. Another limitation of our study was the lack of immunostaining. This limitation did not pose a major problem as we biochemically and microscopically demonstrated that cell viability was preserved.

#### CONCLUSION

The liver chip model established in this study successfully demonstrated the viability of hepatocytes and physiologically-relevant secretions under constant flow. It is predicted that, in the near future, the OOAC models developed will replace experimentation on animal models and offer cheaper and faster potential new diagnosis and treatment methods. Therefore, future studies to improve and develop this technology are of paramount importance in order to advance this line of research.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- There is an increasing demand for human-relevant microphysiological systems which can accurately model and predict human diseases and aid in drug development processes.
- A microfluidic human liver-chip for modeling DILI was developed using 3D stereolithography printing, CNC milling technology and molding.
- The liver-chip model was non-toxic to human hepatocytes. The HepG2 cells secreted albumin, ALT and AST at physiologically-relevant levels. The AFP level in the cells was found to be high and concordant with regenerating hepatic cellular physiology.
- The model developed represents an advancement in drugmonitoring and toxicity studies.

**Acknowledgements:** The authors would like to thank Dr. Oğuz Han Edebal, Arif Dora and Ali Türk for their help and contribution during the project.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee form was not required. The study followed the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Informed Consent: Informed consent form was not required.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: E.M., Concept: B.B., E.M., Design: B.B., E.M., Data Collection and/or Processing: B.B., E.M., Analysis and/or Interpretation: B.B., E.M., Literature Search: B.B., E.M., Writing: B.B., E.M.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Mosig AS. Organ-on-chip models: new opportunities for biomedical research. Future Sci OA. 2016; 3(2): FS0130.
- Bhatia SN, Ingber DE. Microfluidic organs-on-chips. Nat Biotechnol. 2014; 32(8): 760-72.
- Jang KJ, Mehr AP, Hamilton GA, McPartlin LA, Chung S, Suh KY, Ingber DE. Human kidney proximal tubule-on-a-chip for drug transport and nephrotoxicity assessment. Integr Biol (Camb). 2013; 5(9): 1119-29.
- Kim HJ, Ingber DE. Gut-on-a-Chip microenvironment induces human intestinal cells to undergo villus differentiation. Integr Biol (Camb). 2013; 5(9): 1130-40.
- Benam KH, Villenave R, Lucchesi C, Varone A, Hubeau C, Lee HH, et al. Small airway-on-a-chip enables analysis of human lung inflammation and drug responses in vitro. Nat Methods. 2016; 13(2): 151-7.
- Marsano A, Conficconi C, Lemme M, Occhetta P, Gaudiello E, Votta E, et al. Beating heart on a chip: a novel microfluidic platform to generate functional 3D cardiac microtissues. Lab Chip. 2016; 16(3): 599-610.
- Griep LM, Wolbers F, de Wagenaar B, ter Braak PM, Weksler BB, Romero IA, et al. BBB on chip: microfluidic platform to mechanically and biochemically modulate blood-brain barrier function. Biomed Microdevices. 2013; 15(1): 145-50.
- Ingber DE. Human organs-on-chips for disease modelling, drug development and personalized medicine. Nat Rev Genet. 2022; 23(8): 467-91.
- 9. Walker PA, Ryder S, Lavado A, Dilworth C, Riley RJ. The evolution of strategies to minimise the risk of human drug-induced liver injury (DILI) in drug discovery and development. Arch Toxicol. 2020; 94(8): 2559-85.
- 10. Leenaars CHC, Kouwenaar C, Stafleu FR, Bleich A, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, De Vries RBM, et al. Animal to human translation: a systematic scoping review of reported concordance rates. J Transl Med. 2019; 17(1): 223.
- 11. Esch MB, King TL, Shuler ML. The role of body-on-a-chip devices in drug and toxicity studies. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2011; 13: 55-72.
- Ghaemmaghami AM, Hancock MJ, Harrington H, Kaji H, Khademhosseini A. Biomimetic tissues on a chip for drug discovery. Drug Discov Today. 2012; 17(3-4): 173-81.
- Sung JH, Kam C, Shuler ML. A microfluidic device for a pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic (PK-PD) model on a chip. Lab Chip. 2010; 10(4): 446-55.
- Organ-on-Chip Market to reach \$163.1 Million by 2025: P&S Market Research. [07.01.2023]; Available from: https://www.psmarketresearch.com/ press-release/organ-on-chip-market
- Jodat YA, Kang MG, Kiaee K, Kim GJ, Martinez AFH, Rosenkranz A, et al. Human-Derived Organ-on-a-Chip for Personalized Drug Development. Curr Pharm Des. 2018; 24(45): 5471-86.

- Leary JF, Key J, Vidi PA, Cooper CL, Kole A, Reece LM. et al. Human organon-a-chip BioMEMS devices for testing new diagnostic and therapeutic strategies. International Society for Optics and Photonics. 2013; 86150A.
- 17. Kankala RK, Wang SB, Chen AZ. Microengineered Organ-on-a-chip Platforms towards Personalized Medicine. Curr Pharm Des. 2018; 24(45): 5354-66.
- Ingber DE. Reverse Engineering Human Pathophysiology with Organs-on-Chips. Cell. 2016; 164(6): 1105-9.
- Guo Y, Li Z, Su W, Wang L, Zhu Y, Qin J. A Biomimetic Human Gut-on-a-Chip for Modeling Drug Metabolism in Intestine. Artif Organs. 2018; 42(12): 1196-205.
- 20. Miccoli B, Braeken D, Li YE. Brain-on-a-chip Devices for Drug Screening and Disease Modeling Applications. Curr Pharm Des. 2018; 24(45): 5419-36.
- 21. Chin E, Goh E. Blood-brain barrier on a chip. Methods Cell Biol. 2018; 146: 159-82.
- Mittal R, Woo FW, Castro CS, Cohen MA, Karanxha J, Mittal J, et al. Organ-onchip models: Implications in drug discovery and clinical applications. J Cell Physiol. 2019; 234(6): 8352-80.
- Ortega-Prieto AM, Skelton JK, Cherry C, Briones-Orta MA, Hateley CA, Dorner M. "Liver-on-a-Chip" Cultures of Primary Hepatocytes and Kupffer Cells for Hepatitis B Virus Infection. J Vis Exp. 2019; 144.
- Ozkan A, Ghousifam N, Hoopes PJ, Yankeelov TE, Rylander MN. In vitro vascularized liver and tumor tissue microenvironments on a chip for dynamic determination of nanoparticle transport and toxicity. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2019; 116(5): 1201-19.
- Messelmani T, Morisseau L, Sakai Y, Legallais C, Le Goff A, Leclerc E, et al. Liver organ-on-chip models for toxicity studies and risk assessment. Lab Chip. 2022; 22(13): 2423-50.
- Docci L, Milani N, Ramp T, Romeo AA, Godoy P, Franyuti DO, et al. Exploration and application of a liver-on-a-chip device in combination with modelling and simulation for quantitative drug metabolism studies. Lab Chip. 2022; 22(6): 1187-205.
- Kulsharova G, Kurmangaliyeva A, Darbayeva E, Rojas-Solórzano L, Toxeitova G. Development of a Hybrid Polymer-Based Microfluidic Platform for Culturing Hepatocytes towards Liver-on-a-Chip Applications. Polymers (Basel). 2021; 13(19): 3215.
- Xie X, Maharjan S, Kelly C, Liu T, Lang RJ, Alperin R, et al. Customizable Microfluidic Origami Liver-on-a-Chip (oLOC). Adv Mater Technol. 2022; 7(5): 2100677.
- 29. Butterfield LH, Meng WS, Koh A, Vollmer CM, Ribas A, Dissette VB, et al. T cell responses to HLA-A\*0201-restricted peptides derived from human alpha fetoprotein. J Immunol. 2001; 166(8): 5300-8.
- Nishida Y, Taniguchi A. Induction of albumin expression in HepG2 cells using immobilized simplified recombinant fibronectin protein. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2013; 49(6): 400-7.
- Nishikawa T, Tanaka Y, Nishikawa M, Ogino Y, Kusamori K, Mizuno N, et al. Optimization of Albumin Secretion and Metabolic Activity of Cytochrome P450 1A1 of Human Hepatoblastoma HepG2 Cells in Multicellular Spheroids by Controlling Spheroid Size. Biol Pharm Bull. 2017; 40(3): 334-8.
- González LT, Minsky NW, Espinosa LE, Aranda RS, Meseguer JP, Pérez PC. In vitro assessment of hepatoprotective agents against damage induced by acetaminophen and CCl4. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2017; 17(1): 39.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

# Living with Stroke in North Cyprus: Which ICF-Based **Biopsychosocial Factors are Related to Community Participation?**

#### 🕲 Utku Kurtaran<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Beliz Belgen Kaygısız<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Nazemin Gilanlıoğulları<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Ferda Selçuk Muhtaroğlu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Health Sciences, European University of Lefke, Nicosia, North Cyprus

#### Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Improved treatment and rehabilitation care opportunities are resulting in increasing numbers of stroke survivors. Accordingly, the active community participation of stroke survivors is becoming more important in order to maintain a person's psychological and social status and so to improve their quality of life. This study aimed to investigate the relationships among the sociodemographic characteristics, clinical characteristics, International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF)-based biopsychosocial factors, and community participation of stroke survivors living in North Cyprus.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: This cross-sectional study recruited 43 participants. The sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the participants were recorded. Functional Independence Measure (FIM), Stroke Impact Scale 3.0 (SIS), Fall Efficacy Scale (FES), Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Measure of Quality of the Environment-Short Form (MQE-SF), and the Community Integration Questionnaire (CIQ) were used to collect the data.

**RESULTS:** Those participants who did not use assistive devices had higher community participation (p<0.05). Additionally, gender, lesion type, and the affected body side did not have any relationship with community participation (p>0.05). As the Brunnstrom stages (Upper extremity: r=0.455, p=0.002; Lower extremity: r=0.608, p=0.001) of the participants and their scores in FIM (r=0.809, p=0.001), SIS (r=0.766, p=0.001), and MQE-SF (r=0.467, p=0.002) increased, so did their CIQ scores (p<0.05). However, as the age of the participants (r=-0.413, p=0.006) and their FES (r=-0.752, p=0.001), FSS (r=-0.479, p=0.001), and BDI (r=-0.783, p=0.001) scores increased, their CIQ scores decreased (p<0.05).

**CONCLUSION:** To increase their community participation, stroke survivors need to be assessed holistically by considering all factors of the ICF model and they require multidisciplinary rehabilitation, which will lead to better rehabilitation outcomes. The community participation levels of stroke survivors living in North Cyprus were related to the factors of the ICF base biopsychosocial level.

Keywords: Stroke, community participation, ICF

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Disease-related limitations in the biological system affect psychological and social aspects negatively, which in turn limits community participation among stroke survivors. Recently improved treatment and

rehabilitation care opportunities have resulted in increasing numbers of stroke survivors.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, it is important for this population not to be isolated from society, so that they can continue to participate actively in their community, as their activity and participation levels are related to their quality of life.<sup>2</sup>

To cite this article: Kurtaran U, Belgen Kaygısız B, Gilanlıoğulları N, Selçuk Muhtaroğlu F. Living with Stroke in North Cyprus: Which ICF-Based Biopsychosocial Factors are Related to Community Participation?. Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(1):7-14

ORCID IDs of the authors: U.K. 0000-0002-6134-2077; B.B.K. 0000-0003-4801-0884; N.G. 0000-0003-1945-1701; F.S.M. 0000-0002-2170-4061.



Address for Correspondence: Beliz Belgen Kaygısız E-mail: bkaygisiz@eul.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4801-0884

Received: 16.05.2023 Accepted: 07.12.2023

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) is a classification system which is based on biopsychosocial factors and it aims to improve health-related issues.<sup>3</sup> It examines body structure, functions, activity and participation, the capacity of individuals to perform their functions, and their communication with their environment.<sup>4</sup> As described by the ICF, environmental factors constitute the physical and social context in which people live and maintain their lives. Personal factors include those in an individual's life which are not a part of their health status. Contextual factors can have positive or negative effects on an individual's bodily functions and physiology, behaviours or capacity to perform tasks, and their community participation.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, it is important to understand the community participation levels of stroke survivors in order to increase their quality of life.

Studies on community participation in stroke survivors have mostly been conducted in developed countries such as the United States, Northern Ireland, and Australia.<sup>6-9</sup> It is also important to identify the ICF-based biopsychosocial factors which are related to the community participation of stroke survivors in socioeconomically diverse countries such as North Cyprus.

#### Aims

It was aimed to determine the levels of relationships of sociodemographic and ICF-based biopsychosocial factors with the community participation of stroke survivors living in North Cyprus. The results of this study aimed to shed light on the development of appropriate strategies for improved participation and the introduction of mechanisms to facilitate the community participation of this population. This research may also help to understand if the concepts of ICF are relevant for those stroke survivors who live in North Cyprus, namely to understand if culture has any impact on ICF-based biopsychosocial factors related to the community of stroke survivors in North Cyprus.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Design

This was a cross-sectional analytical study conducted between January, 2020 and May, 2020 with stroke survivors in a private rehabilitation centre in North Cyprus, after obtaining ethical from the Ethics Committee of European University of Lefke (approval number: ÜEK/50/01/02/1920/10, date: 11.02.2020). The population of this study included individuals who presented to the neurology inpatient clinics of a public hospital and a private hospital over the previous five years. Those people who met the inclusion criteria were informed about this study, and written consent was obtained from those who agreed to participate.

#### Participants

Fifty-three stroke survivors were invited to take part in this study by a systematic sampling method. The registration numbers at hospitals were listed and the sixth person was chosen randomly, followed by every subsequent sixth person. All chosen individuals were invited to enrol (n=53). Some individuals (n=10) were not included because they either did not want to participate (n=8) or could not spare time to be evaluated (n=2). As a result, 43 participants were included (Flowchart 1).

#### Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

The inclusion criteria were as follows; living in North Cyprus, being able to speak and write in Turkish, being diagnosed with stroke for the first time by a neurologist, being 45-80 years old, having had a stroke at least three months prior, and being cooperative and agreeing to participate in this study (mini-mental test  $\geq$ 24). The exclusion criteria were determined as having other neurological disorders or other diseases affecting the musculoskeletal system.

#### **Data Collection Tools**

The sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the participants were recorded on personal information and clinical information forms. The sociodemographic data of the participants included their age, sex, smoking status, alcohol intake, and educational status, while the clinical information form included the affected side of the body, the duration since the stroke, their walking aid usage status, and lesion type.

The data collection instruments included the Functional Independence Measure (FIM) to determine functional levels in activities, the Brunnstrom Stage Assessment to assess the stage of recovery, the Stroke Impact Scale (SIS) to assess disease status and limitations in daily activities, the Falls Efficacy Scale (FES) to assess self-efficacy related to falls, the Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS) to determine fatigue levels, the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) to assess depression, the Measure of Quality of the Environment-Short Form (MQE-SF) to determine environmental factors, and the Community Integration Questionnaire (CIQ) to assess community participation. The previously validated Turkish language versions of all measures were used.

Data collection was performed by the primary investigator, who worked as a physiotherapist and each assessment took 45-50 minutes according to the participant. However, breaks for 10 minutes took place during the assessments if requested by the participant.

#### Stage of Motor Recovery

The Brunnstrom Stage Assessment was used to assess the stage of recovery for the upper and lower extremities. It is an approach developed by Brunnstrom<sup>10</sup> in the 1960s which has six stages to understand how motor control can be restored to gain functionality after a stroke. Higher scores indicate more improvement. It is a valid, reliable, and responsive stroke-specific and commonly used tool which helps classify the motor levels of stroke survivors.<sup>11-13</sup>

#### **Functional Level in Activities**

The FIM is an 18-item scale which evaluates both the physical (13 items) and cognitive (5 items) functions of an individual to evaluate them in terms of personal care, sphincter control, transfer, mobility, communication, and social-cognitive status.<sup>14</sup> The validity and reliability study of this scale in Turkish was carried out by Küçükdeveci et al.<sup>15</sup>

#### **Community Participation**

The CIQ consists of 18 items and evaluates three variables consisting of home participation, community participation, and productivity and work/school activity.<sup>16</sup> The validity and reliability of this scale in Turkish were tested by Akyurek et al.<sup>17</sup>

#### Limitations in Activities of Daily Living

The SIS version 3 was specifically developed for stroke survivors. It is a scale developed by Duncan et al.<sup>18</sup> to evaluate the quality of life of people who experience loss of mental and physical function after a stroke, depending on the extent of the impact of the stroke. In this scale, which consists of eight domains and 59 items, each item is evaluated by scoring difficulties experienced over the prior seven days on a 5-point Likert-type scale. The validity and reliability study of this scale in Turkish stroke survivors was performed by Hantal et al.<sup>19</sup>

#### **Self-Efficacy Related to Falls**

The FES was developed by Tinetti et al.<sup>20</sup> It aims to investigate the self-efficacy of stroke survivors regarding falls they experience while fulfilling the ADL. This scale consists of 10 items which determine their self-efficacy while performing activities, such as how confident they are that they can dress and undress without falling.<sup>20</sup> Higher scores indicate higher self-efficacy levels. The Turkish language validity and reliability study of this scale was conducted by Ulus et al.<sup>21</sup>

#### Level of Fatigue

The FSS was developed by Krupp et al.<sup>22</sup> It is a 7-point Likert-type scale (1=strongly disagree, 7=strongly agree) consisting of nine items, and the total score of the scale is found by averaging the scores of all nine items. Getting a score of four or higher indicates the presence of pathologic fatigue. The Turkish validity and reliability study of this scale was conducted by Armutlu et al.<sup>23</sup>

#### Level of Depression

The BDI was developed by Beck et al.<sup>24</sup> The purpose of this scale is to objectively measure the level of depression symptoms possessed by an individual. It determines the behavioural pattern which is specific to depression and includes 21 evaluation statements with four options each. The Turkish validity and reliability study of this scale was conducted by Hisli.<sup>25</sup>

#### **Environmental Factors**

The MQE-SF was tested for reliability by Boschen.<sup>26</sup> This scale is a modified ICF format measure created specifically for people with different degrees and types of disability. The five dimensions of this scale include 26 items aiming to assess the impact of the environment on the success of a person's daily activities by considering their abilities and limitations. The respondent scores whether their daily activities are facilitated or obstructed by environmental factors. The validity study of MQE-SF in Turkish was conducted by Akyurek and Bumin.<sup>27</sup>

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The SPSS 25.0 program was used for the statistical analyses of the data collected. Percentage, mean and standard deviation values were calculated for the sociodemographic and clinical data. Based on the Shapiro-Wilk test which was conducted in this study, the FIM, CIQ, SIS, FES, FSS, BDI, and MQE-SF scores of the participants were not normally distributed. Accordingly, the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the CIQ scores of the participants based on their gender, use of walking aids, affected body side, and lesion type. The relationships between the participants' FIM, SIS, FES, FSS, BDI, and MQE-SF scores and their CIQ scores were examined via Spearman's correlation test. The degree of correlation was defined as low if the coefficient was lower than 0.3,

moderate if it was between 0.3 and 0.5, and strong if it was greater than 0.5. The level of statistical significance was determined as p<0.05. As a result of power analysis, the sample size was determined as being 43 participants in order to provide 80% power with a 95% confidence interval.

#### RESULTS

Forty-three individuals participated in this study (13 female, 30 male, mean age: 70.67±8.22 years). Table 1 shows the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the participants. Descriptive statistics were calculated regarding the stroke-related scores of the participants and their scores on the Brunnstrom Stage Assessment (upper/lower extremity), FIM, SIS, FES, BDI, MQE-SF, and overall CIQ (Table 2).

A statistically significant difference was determined in the participants' CIQ scores based on their walking aid usage status (p<0.05). However, there was no statistically significant relationship between the CIQ

	Frequency (n	n) Mean ± SD
Age (years)	43	70.67±8.22
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	43	25.69±4.18
Age (years)	I	Percentage (%)
55-64	11	25.58
65-74	14	32.56
75-84	18	41.86
Gender		
Male	30	69.77
Female	13	30.23
Smoking status		
Smoker	9	20.93
Non-smoker	34	79.07
Alcohol use status		
Non-drinker	43	100.00
Drinker	0	0.00
Educational status		
High school	30	69.77
University	13	30.23
Duration since stroke (x=51.19±4	5.54 months)	
36 months or shorter	19	44.18
37-60 months	14	32.56
61 months or longer	10	23.26
Affected body side		-
Right	22	51.16
Left	21	48.84
Status of using walking aids		
Using	22	51.16
Not using	21	48.84
Lesion type	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Haemorrhagic stroke	19	44.19
Ischemic stroke	24	55.81
SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body ma	ass index.	

Table 2. Results of the stroke-related tools examining the biopsychosocial dimension of the participants (n=43)

	Mean ± SD	Min.	Max.
Brunnstrom stage (upper extremity)	5.37±0.87	3.00	6.00
Brunnstrom stage (lower extremity)	5.63±0.49	5.00	6.00
CIQ overall score	6.70±4.75	0.00	18.00
Home participation sub-score	1.05±1.46	0.00	7.00
Community participation sub-score	4.77±2.72	0.00	10.00
Work/school sub-score	0.88±1.33	0.00	5.00
FIM	93.30±17.08	45.00	118.00
SIS	195.81±36.23	107.00	281.00
FES	47.72±22.69	10.00	85.00
FSS	5.51±1.02	2.55	6.77
BDI	19.51±9.06	5.00	44.00
MQE-SF	41.12±5.83	30.00	54.00

SD: Standard deviation, Min. Minimum, Max. Maximum, ClQ: Community Integration Questionnaire, FIM: Functional Independence Measure, SIS: Stroke Impact Scale, FES: Falls Efficacy Scale, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, MQE-SF: Measure of Quality of the Environment-Short Form. scores of the participants and their affected body side or lesion type (p>0.05). The results of the comparisons between the participants' overall CIQ scores based on their sociodemographic and disease-related characteristics are presented in Table 3.

A statistically significant relationship was found between the participants' age, Brunnstrom stages, and their scores in FIM, SIS, FES, FSS, BDI, and MQE-SF with their CIQ scores (p<0.05). Table 4 shows the correlations between the independent variables of the participants and their CIQ scores.

#### DISCUSSION

Strokes result in physical and psychological impairments which have a negative relationship with the community participation of individuals. The qualifiers for activity and participation components are performance and capacity.<sup>5</sup> The performance qualifier is the qualitative and quantitative definition of the behaviour or abilities shown for the action performed in the environmental conditions of the individual. Capacity defines how much an individual can perform a task or an action. This construct argues that individuals perform an activity with the maximum efficiency while performing an action.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, this study aimed to

Table 3. Comparison of the clinical characteristics of the participants and their overall Community Integration Questionnaire scores (n=43)						
		Frequency, (n)	Mean ± SD	p-value		
		Haemorrhagic	19	6.47±5.10	0.022	
Community Integration Questionnaire Overall Score	Lesion type	Ischemic	24	6.88±4.56	0.623	
	Walking aid	Using	22	4.09±3.19	0.001*	
		Not using	21	9.43±4.63		
	Affected body side	Right	22	6.91±5.14	0.742	
		Left	21	6.48±4.43	0.742	
	Gender	Male	30	7.33±4.52	0.100	
		Female	13	5.23±5.13	0.108	
Chatistically significants *n <0.05 M	own Whiteout Liteot					

Statistically significant: \*p<0.05, Mann-Whitney U test.

# Table 4. Correlations between age, duration since stroke, education status and stroke-related tools and the Community Integration Questionnaire scores of the participants (n=43)

Variables		Community Integration Questionnaire Overall Score	Home participation	Society participation	Work-school
Ago	r	-0.413	-0.354	-0.339	-0.317
Age	р	0.006*	0.020*	0.026*	0.038*
Duration since strake	r	-0.170	-0.011	-0.175	-0.179
Duration since stroke	р	0.275	0.942	0.261	0.251
Education status (high school)	r	0.456	0.235	0.765	0.645
education status - (fiigh school)	р	0.227	0.975	0.199	0.083
	r	0.346	0855	0.003	0.217
education status - (university)	р	0.446	0.434	0.256	0.134
Pruppetrom stage (upper extremite)	r	0.455	0.383	0.411	0.452
Brunnström stage (upper extremity)	р	0.002*	0.011*	0.006*	0.002*
Pruppetrom stage (lower extremity)	R	0.608	0.546	0.527	0.564
Brunnström stage (lower extremity)	р	0.000*	0.000*	0.000*	0.000*
FIM	r	0.809	0.747	0.743	0.660
FIM	р	0.000*	0.000*	0.000*	0.000*
	r	0.766	0.649	0.744	0.576
SIS	р	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*

Table 4. Continued					
Variables		Community Integration Questionnaire Overall Score	Home participation	Society participation	Work-school
	r	-0.752	-0.643	-0.714	-0.604
FES	р	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*
FCC	r	-0.479	-0.433	-0.490	-0.344
F33	р	0.001*	0.004*	0.001*	0.024*
	r	-0.783	-0.638	-0.798	-0.543
ועס	р	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*
MQE-SF	r	0.467	0.442	0.427	0.287
	р	0.002*	0.003*	0.004*	0.062

Statistically significant: \*p<0.05, Spearman's correlation, FIM: Functional Independence Measure, SIS: Stroke Impact Scale, FES: Falls Efficacy Scale, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, MQE-SF: Measure of Quality of the Environment-Short Form.



Flowchart 1. Diagram of recruitment of participants.

determine whether ICF-based biopsychosocial factors are related to the community participation levels of stroke survivors living in North Cyprus. It was hypothesised that ICF-based biopsychosocial factors are correlated with the community lives of stroke survivors living in North Cyprus to different degrees, and the results of this study confirmed this hypothesis.

We analysed participation not only as an overall community integration score, but also from the aspects of social, home and work/school participation. The community participation levels of our sample were low, while participation was highest in the social participation subscale. It was expected for the participants to report low in-home participation subscale scores, as they could have support from family members. It was also predicted for the participants to score low in work/ school integration as many studies in the literature have supported this expectation.28,29

We found a significant relationship between the sociodemographic characteristics and community participation levels of the stroke survivors. Those participants who used walking aids had lower community participation than those who did not use walking aids. Tyson and Rogerson<sup>30</sup> reported that walking aids are an environmental facilitator for stroke survivors, which may increase community participation, suggesting that supportive equipment can be beneficial in increasing the participation of those individuals who have had a stroke. However, the results of our study did not align with the study conducted by Tyson and Rogerson.<sup>30</sup> This may be because of

both physical infrastructure and psychological factors. As a physical infrastructure obstacle, the inadequacy of urban design in North Cyprus was identified as a limiting factor for participation.<sup>31</sup> At the same time, it was reported that depression seen in individuals after a stroke causes individuals to feel as if they were being watched in their environment.<sup>32</sup> Therefore, besides urban accessibility barriers, the use of walking aids by the participants who had had a stroke limited their participation, due to their perception of psychological pressure on them.

It is known that getting older restricts community participation due to physiological or biopsychosocial reasons.<sup>33-35</sup> Our results were similar to those in the literature because it was found that community participation decreased with increasing age. It was expected for our sample to have low community participation rates as 74.42% of the participants were 65 years or older. On the other hand, the duration of living with a stroke was not found to be related to community participation, which was a parallel result to that reported by D'Alisa et al.<sup>29</sup> This may be because stroke survivors may have learnt how to live with their limitations and developed coping strategies. This shows that there is a need for further follow-up of stroke survivors in order to understand the degrees of their limitations over time.

We found that each ICF factor including body structure, functions, activities, participation, environmental factors, and personal factors had a different relationship with the community participation levels of the participants. The functional independence levels of the participants were found to be the most significantly related factor to their community participation. "Function is a process, and the vector of change in function through time is, in part, determined by the unique interaction of an individual's genome with their environment, diet, and lifestyle".36,37 A previous study revealed that functional disability is the most significant variable which explains restriction in the community participation rates of stroke survivors.<sup>29</sup> Moreover, it was found that the current levels of the activities of daily living (ADL) of the participants of this study and their mobility stages were moderately correlated with their community participation levels. Mikołajewska<sup>37</sup> reported that especially the gait parameters, hand functions, and functional levels of stroke survivors were related to community participation among individuals with limited ADL. Other than ADL limitations, psychological factors and functional status, there are further factors which may have a negative impact on community participation among stroke survivors, such as comorbidities, coordination in exercise, family support, and the physical and social environment.<sup>38-40</sup> Many studies have investigated the factors affecting community participation and return to society after a stroke.41,42 In our study, which is in line with the literature, it was found that the community participation levels of stroke survivors were affected by not only physical function, but also by personal and environmental factors. Therefore, it is important to think holistically and consider all aspects which can cause obstacles to participation in order to improve the rehabilitation outcomes of stroke survivors.

Our results also showed that the community integration of our participants was moderately obstructed by environmental factors. Although the relationship of community participation with environmental factors has not been evaluated as much as functionality, activity, or depression in the literature, it is known that environmental factors including the social and attitudinal aspects of one's environment have a high impact on the community participation levels of stroke survivors.<sup>43</sup> Due to the diversity of outcome measures in this area, one recent systematic review suggested the need for a core set of outcome measures to assess the long-term participation of stroke survivors in life situations.<sup>41</sup> Although the tools which we used help to measure the quality of the environment in different aspects, we think that the use of a stroke-specific tool to measure the interaction between these variables and changes in community participation could give us a better view of the relationships with environmental factors.

Additionally, personal factors such as fatigue, depression, and selfefficacy related to falls were all found to have moderate relationships with community participation. Stroke survivors with functional limitations develop some compensatory movements while performing activities, and extra energy consumption was found to cause early fatigue and the subsequent development of withdrawal from activities.44 Our participants' depression levels were at the borderline of clinical depression. This may be due to the participants having difficulty in performing activities which they found easy before their stroke. It has also been documented that the attitudes of people around hemiplegic people result in anxiety, a lack of respect and they affect the social roles of stroke survivors, which have negative relationships with their community participation.44,45 Stroke survivors with a history of falling are afraid of falling and have lower selfefficacy related to falls,<sup>46</sup> and it has been reported that individuals with poor participation have a greater fear of falling.<sup>47,48</sup> Our results led to the conclusion that the fear of falling in stroke survivors can be due to their belief that, in the event of a possible fall, their health status may deteriorate, so they avoided community participation. Our

results highlighted that it is important to work with a multidisciplinary team in cases with long-term limitations as they are restricted in terms of different biopsychosocial factors.

#### **Study Limitations**

Our study had some limitations. Firstly, most of our participants were living close to the private centre where this study was conducted which is located in the central area of North Cyprus. This factor may affect the ability to generalise our results. Secondly, the assessments were performed by the same physiotherapist who was not blinded to the community integration levels of the participants. Lastly, as this was a cross-sectional study, our results do not indicate a causal relationship. Further studies with different methodologies to explore the causes of community participation are recommended.

#### CONCLUSION

This study revealed that the community participation levels of stroke survivors living in North Cyprus were related to the factors of the ICF-based biopsychosocial model. Therefore, in order to increase the community participation levels of stroke survivors, these individuals need to be assessed holistically by considering all factors of the ICF model, which will lead to better rehabilitation outcomes, and multidisciplinary rehabilitation approaches in this process are needed.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- Holistic assessment is required in order to increase the community participation levels of stroke survivors.
- All factors of the ICF model had an impact on the community participation of stroke survivors.
- Multidisciplinary rehabilitation will result in better rehabilitation outcomes.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank all of the survivors, Dr. Şeniz Kulle and Dr. Pembe H.Y. Çeto for their contributions to this study.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of European University of Lefke (approval number: ÜEK/50/01/02/1920/10, date: 11.02.2020).

**Informed Consent:** Written consent was obtained from those who agreed to participate.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: U.K., B.B.K., F.S.M., Design: U.K., B.B.K., F.S.M., Data Collection and/or Processing: U.K., B.B.K., N.G., F.S.M., Analysis and/or Interpretation: U.K., B.B.K., N.G., Literature Search: U.K., N.G., Writing: U.K., B.B.K., F.S.M.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Rudberg AS, Berge E, Laska AC, Jutterström S, Näsman P, Sunnerhagen KS, et al. Stroke survivors' priorities for research related to life after stroke. Top Stroke Rehabil. 2021; 28(2): 153-8.
- 2. Jackson S, Mercer C, Singer BJ. An exploration of factors influencing physical activity levels amongst a cohort of people living in the community after stroke in the south of England. Disabil Rehabil. 2018; 40(4): 414-24.
- Madden RH, Bundy A. The ICF has made a difference to functioning and disability measurement and statistics. Disabil Rehabil. 2019; 41(12): 1450-62.
- Prodinger B, Cieza A, Oberhauser C, Bickenbach J, Üstün TB, Chatterji S, et al. Toward the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) Rehabilitation Set: A Minimal Generic Set of Domains for Rehabilitation as a Health Strategy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016; 97(6): 875-84.
- World Health Organization. International classification of functioning, disability and health: ICF. World Health Organization. 2001; https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/42407, (18/09/2021).
- Fulk GD, Reynolds C, Mondal S, Deutsch JE. Predicting home and community walking activity in people with stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2010; 91(10): 1582-6.
- Egan M, Kubina LA, Dubouloz CJ, Kessler D, Kristjansson E, Sawada M. Very low neighbourhood income limits participation post stroke: preliminary evidence from a cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2015; 15: 528.
- 8. Durcan S, Flavin E, Horgan F. Factors associated with community ambulation in chronic stroke. Disabil Rehabil. 2016; 38(3): 245-9.
- Tse T, Binte Yusoff SZ, Churilov L, Ma H, Davis S, Donnan GA, et al. Increased work and social engagement is associated with increased stroke specific quality of life in stroke survivors at 3 months and 12 months post-stroke: a longitudinal study of an Australian stroke cohort. Top Stroke Rehabil. 2017; 24(6): 405-14.
- 10. Brunnstrom S. Movement Therapy in Hemiplegia: A Neurophysiological Approach. Medical Dept, Harper & Row, New York. 1970
- Pandian S, Arya KN. Stroke-related motor outcome measures: do they quantify the neurophysiological aspects of upper extremity recovery? J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2014; 18(3): 412-23.
- Lee MM, Cho HY, Song CH. The mirror therapy program enhances upperlimb motor recovery and motor function in acute stroke patients. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2012; 91(8): 689-96, quiz 697-700.
- Pandian S, Arya KN, Davidson EWR. Comparison of Brunnstrom movement therapy and Motor Relearning Program in rehabilitation of post-stroke hemiparetic hand: a randomized trial. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2012; 16(3): 330-7.
- 14. Hamilton BB, Granger CV, Sherwin FS, et al. "A Uniform National Data System for Medical Rehabilitation," In: Fuhrer MJ, (ed). Rehabilitation Outcomes: Analysis and Measurement, Brookes, Baltimore, 1987, pp. 137147.
- Küçükdeveci AA, Yavuzer G, Elhan AH, Sonel B, Tennant A. Adaptation of the Functional Independence Measure for use in Turkey. Clin Rehabil. 2001; 15(3): 311-9.
- Willer B, Rosenthal M, Kreutzer JS, Gordon WA, Rempel. Assessment of community integration following rehabilitation for traumatic brain injury. The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation. 1993; 8(2): 75-87.
- 17. Akyurek G, Salar S, Bumin G, Kayihan H. Turkish adaptation of the Community Integration Questionnaire (CIQ) and its validity and reliability in people with SCI. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2016; 97(10): 41-2.
- Duncan PW, Wallace D, Lai SM, Johnson D, Embretson S, Laster LJ. The stroke impact scale version 2.0. Evaluation of reliability, validity, and sensitivity to change. Stroke. 1999; 30(10): 2131-40.

- Hantal AÖ, Doğu B, Büyükavcı R, Kuran B. İnme etki ölçeği 3, 0: Türk toplumundaki inmeli hastalarda güvenilirlik ve geçerlilik çalışması. Türk Fiz Tıp Rehab Derg. 2014; 60: 106-16.
- Tinetti ME, Richman D, Powell L. Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling. J Gerontol. 1990; 45(6): P239-43.
- Ulus Y, Durmus D, Akyol Y, Terzi Y, Bilgici A, Kuru O. Reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Falls Efficacy Scale International (FES-I) in community-dwelling older persons. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2012; 54(3): 429-33.
- 22. Krupp LB, Alvarez LA, LaRocca NG, Scheinberg LC. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol. 1988; 45(4): 435-7.
- Armutlu K, Korkmaz NC, Keser I, Sumbulogl, V, Akbiyik D I, Guney Z, et al. The validity and reliability of the Fatigue Severity Scale in Turkish multiple sclerosis patients. Int J Rehabil Res. 2007; 30(1): 81-5.
- 24. Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1961; 4: 561-71.
- Hisli N. Beck Depresyon Envanterinin üniversite öğrencileri için geçerliği, güvenirliği. Psikoloji Dergisi. 1989; 7(23): 3-13.
- Boschen KA. Reliability studies of the Measure of the Quality of the Environment (MQE). Canadian Journal of Rehabilitation. 1998; 11: 184-5.
- 27. Akyurek G, Bumin G. The Measure of Quality of the Environments' Turkish Validity and Reliability. OTJR (Thorofare N J). 2019; 39(4): 239-46.
- 28. Peters GO, Buni SG, Oyeyemi AY, Hamzat TK. Determinants of return to work among Nigerian stroke survivors. Disabil Rehabil. 2013; 35(6): 455-9.
- D'Alisa S, Baudo S, Mauro A, Miscio G. How does stroke restrict participation in long-term post-stroke survivors? Acta Neurol Scand. 2005; 112(3): 157-62.
- Tyson SF, Rogerson L. Assistive walking devices in nonambulant patients undergoing rehabilitation after stroke: the effects on functional mobility, walking impairments, and patients' opinion. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2009; 90(3): 475-9.
- Oktay D, Rüstemli A, Marans RW. Determinants of neighbourhood satisfaction among local residents and international students: a case study in Famagusta, North Cyprus. Journal of Architectural and Planning Research. 2012; 29(3): 224-40.
- Magwood GS, Ellis C, Nichols M, Burns S P, Jenkins, C, Woodbury, M et al. Barriers and Facilitators of Stroke Recovery: Perspectives From African Americans With Stroke, Caregivers and Healthcare Professionals. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2019; 28(9): 2506-16.
- de Graaf JA, van Mierlo ML, Post MWM, Achterberg WP, Kappelle LJ, Visser-Meily JMA. Long-term restrictions in participation in stroke survivors under and over 70 years of age. Disabil Rehabil. 2018; 40(6): 637-45.
- Thilarajah S, Mentiplay BF, Bower K, Tan D, Pua YH, Williams G, et al. Factors Associated With Post-Stroke Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2018; 99(9): 1876-89.
- Pang MY, Eng JJ, Dawson AS, McKay HA, Harris JE. A community-based fitness and mobility exercise program for older adults with chronic stroke: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005; 53(10): 1667-74.
- 36. Bland J. Defining Function in the Functional Medicine Model. Integr Med (Encinitas). 2017; 16(1): 22-5.
- Mikołajewska E. Associations between results of post-stroke NDT-Bobath rehabilitation in gait parameters, ADL and hand functions. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2013; 22(5): 731-8.
- Desrosiers J, Noreau L, Rochette A, Bourbonnais D, Bravo G, Bourget A. Predictors of long-term participation after stroke. Disabil Rehabil. 2006; 28(4): 221-30.

- 39. Rochette A, Desrosiers J, Noreau L. Association between personal and environmental factors and the occurrence of handicap situations following a stroke. Disabil Rehabil. 2001; 23(13): 559-69.
- 40. Tsouna-Hadjis E, Vemmos KN, Zakopoulos N, Stamatelopoulos S. First-stroke recovery process: the role of family social support. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2000; 81(7): 881-7.
- Ezekiel L, Collett J, Mayo NE, Pang L, Field L, Dawes H. Factors Associated With Participation in Life Situations for Adults With Stroke: A Systematic Review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2019; 100(5): 945-55.
- Verberne DPJ, Post MWM, Köhler S, Carey LM, Visser-Meily JMA, van Heugten CM. Course of Social Participation in the First 2 Years After Stroke and Its Associations with Demographic and Stroke-Related Factors. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2018; 32(9): 821-33.
- 43. Akulwar I and Shahane N. An ICF Perspective on Impact of Environmental Barriers on Community Participation in Stroke Patients: A Qualitative Approach. Archives in Neurology & Neuroscience. 2019; 4(4): 1-8

- 44. de Rooij IJM, van de Port IGL, Visser-Meily JMA, Meijer JG. Virtual reality gait training versus non-virtual reality gait training for improving participation in subacute stroke survivors: study protocol of the ViRTAS randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2019; 20(1): 89.
- 45. Zhang L, Yan T, You L, Li K. Barriers to activity and participation for stroke survivors in rural China. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015; 96(7): 1222-8.
- Belgen B, Beninato M, Sullivan PE, Narielwalla K. The association of balance capacity and falls self-efficacy with history of falling in community-dwelling people with chronic stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2006; 87(4): 554-61.
- 47. Goh HT, Nadarajah M, Hamzah NB, Varadan P, Tan MP. Falls and Fear of Falling After Stroke: A Case-Control Study. PM R. 2016; 8(12): 1173-80.
- Schmid AA, Arnold SE, Jones VA, Ritter MJ, Sapp SA, Van Puymbroeck M. Fear of falling in people with chronic stroke. Am J Occup Ther. 2015; 69(3): 6903350020.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**



# The Association Between Red Cell Distribution Width and **Blood Pressure Variability in Hypertensive Patients**

#### Mehmet Ali Mendi

Department of Cardiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus

#### Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: The relation between blood pressure (BP) variability and inflammation has been demonstrated in numerous types of research. Red cell distribution width (RDW) is independently related to worse cardiovascular consequences. An increased RDW in the circulation may project continuing systemic and vascular inflammatory processes and contribute to the development of hypertension. We aimed to investigate the correlation between RDW and BP variability in hypertensive patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Our research included 210 participants with essential hypertension. The hypertensive participants were identified according to the current guidelines. Twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (24-hABPM) was performed for each participant. Since variability values were in a standard deviation distribution, statistical analysis was carried out accordingly. Routine biochemistry analyses and complete blood count were also performed. The contribution of independent variables on BP variability was analyzed by stepwise multivariable linear regression analysis.

RESULTS: A positive statistical correlation was found between RDW levels and daytime systolic blood pressure (SBP) variability, and also diastolic blood pressure (DBP) variability (r=0.198, p=0.002 and r=0.101, p=0.004 respectively). Similarly, positive correlations were found between the variables of gender, DM, and smoking (r=0.202, p=0.002; r=0.130, p=0.042; r=0.181, p=0.004 respectively) both for daytime SBP and DBP variability (r=0.186, p=0.005; r=0.192, p=0.004; r=0.191, p=0.004 respectively). Although a strong positive statistical correlation (p<0.001) was found between age and daytime SBP, no correlation was detected between age and daytime DBP variability.

**CONCLUSION:** Elevated RDW values predict daytime BP variability in hypertensive patients. This relationship may depend on the underlying inflammation. Further research is needed in order to investigate the influences of strict BP control on adverse cardiovascular events via inflammation and BP variability.

**Keywords:** Blood pressure variability, inflammation, red cell distribution width, ambulatory blood pressure monitoring

#### INTRODUCTION

Red cell distribution width (RDW) is a numerical value of versatility in the volume and dimension of red blood cells, and it is in the routine blood cell count which shows anisocytosis.1 In addition, RDW can be a guide in the differentiation of types of anemia, as well as predicting morbidity and survival rates for many other conditions.<sup>2</sup> RDW has been reported as a predictor of adverse outcomes and mortality in many cardiovascular diseases (CVD) such as stable coronary artery disease,<sup>2,3</sup> heart insufficiency,<sup>1,4</sup> stroke,<sup>5</sup> myocardial infarction,<sup>6</sup> limb atherosclerosis<sup>7</sup> and also in those patients with myocardial infarction.<sup>8</sup> The pathophysiological rationale between the inflammatory process and RDW is based on the hypothesis that chronic systemic inflammation

To cite this article: Mendi MA. The Association Between Red Cell Distribution Width and Blood Pressure Variability in Hypertensive Patients. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):15-18

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.A.M. 0000-0003-4948-1645.



Address for Correspondence: Mehmet Ali Mendi E-mail: mendimehmetali@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4948-1645

**Received:** 09.04.2022 Accepted: 24.11.2022

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. in CVD may cause anisocytosis.<sup>9</sup> The RDW value is elevated in hypertensive patients with normotensives<sup>10</sup> and it is raised in nondipping hypertensive patients with dipper hypertensives<sup>11</sup> as well. A high level of circulating RDW may project continuing vascular inflammatory processes and play a part in the mechanism of hypertension.<sup>12</sup> Elevated blood pressure (BP) aggravates the vascular inflammatory process, leading to endothelial damage and eventually atherosclerosis.<sup>13</sup>

Recent trials have added to the emphasis on 24-hour blood pressure variability (24-hBPV). Hypertensives in those with low 24-hBPV have a lower prevalence and severity of end-organ damage than in those with high 24-hBPV.<sup>14,15</sup>

Based on our hypothesis that there is a positive correlation between BP variability and RDW in hypertensive patients, which has not been investigated before to the best of our knowledge, we aimed to investigate this relationship.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Our study included 210 consequent patients with high BP who had applied to the outpatient department of a cardiology clinic. Hypertension was defined as BP ≥140/90 mmHg in-office measurements for at least two repeated readings.<sup>16</sup> Twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (24-hABPM) was carried out for all hypertensive participants. Patients with secondary hypertension, hematological system disorders (anemia, leukemia, etc.), renal or hepatic dysfunction, malignancy, or connective tissue diseases were not included in this research. The demographic characteristics of the participants, such as their age, gender, smoking status, and diabetes mellitus (DM) were noted. In addition, fasting serum lipid panels including high-density lipoprotein, triglyceride, low-density lipoprotein, total cholesterol, fasting blood glucose, and creatinine values were also recorded. The Ethics Committee of Ankara Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital authorized the research protocol (approval number: 2962, date: 16.09.2013) and informed consent was taken from all participants. Lipid profile, glucose and creatinine were designated by standard methods. Hemoglobin, total white blood cell counts, platelet counts, and RDW were calculated using a self-acting blood cell counter (ADVIA 2120i Hematology System, Siemens, USA).

A 24-hABPM device (Stolberg, Mobilograph, Germany) was used on all participants. The device was worn to measure 24 h BP in 15-min periods during the daytime and each 30-min during the nighttime. It was placed on the non-dominant arm. We analyzed the recordings with interactive software. 24-hABPM was repeated if 20% or more of the measurements could not be taken. The daytime, nighttime, and 24-h averages of systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), and mean BP were obtained from all participants based on the hourly averages of the ambulatory BP recordings.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Since the variability values were in standard deviation distribution, statistical analysis was performed accordingly. Statistical analysis was implemented by SPSS 17.0 statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was performed to establish the distribution of all data. According to the test results, the analysis of normally distributed variables was performed with mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, and the analyses of non-normally distributed variables were performed with medians. The contributions of independent variables on BP variability were analyzed by stepwise multivariable linear regression analysis. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

A total of 210 individuals with primary hypertension took part in our research, and the baseline characteristics of these individuals are outlined in Table 1. Office BP measurements and 24-hABPM results are given in Table 2.

A positive statistical correlation was found between RDW levels and daytime SBP variability, and also daytime DBP variability. Similarly, positive correlations were found between the other variables (female gender, DM, smoking) both for daytime SBP and DBP variability. Although a strong positive statistical correlation (p<0.001) was found between age and daytime SBP, no correlation was detected between age and daytime DBP variability. Although a positive correlation was found between nighttime SBP standard deviation with type-2 DM alone, a positive correlation was found between nighttime DBP standard deviation with type-2 DM as well as female gender (Table 3).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics				
Variable	n (%)/mean or median $\pm$ SD			
Age	55.1±12.3			
Gender (male)	124 (59%)			
Type-2 DM	65 (31%)			
Smoking	43 (20.5%)			
RDW (%)	13.9±1.4			
Hgb (g/dL)	14.5±1.5			
WBC (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	7.5±1.8			
Plt (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	258 (219-295)			
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	101 (93-128.2)			
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.9±0.2			
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	45.1±13.1			
LDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	123.1±32.9			
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	138 (113-198)			

SD: Standard deviation, DM: Diabetes mellitus, RDW: Red cell distribution width, Hgb: Hemoglobin, WBC: Wight blood cell, Plt: Platelet, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, LDL: Low density lipoprotein.

Table 2. Office and 24-h blood pressure mean and awake and asle	ер
standard deviation values	

Variable	Mean ± SD (mmHg)
Office SBP	172.1±21.4
Office DBP	99.3±16.5
24-h mean SBP	142.5±13.7
24-h mean DBP	89.1±10.1
Awake mean SBP	145.3±14.2
Awake mean DBP	94.7±10.5
Asleep mean SBP	133.1±17.1
Asleep mean DBP	80.6±11.6
Awake SBP SD	15.2±4.1
Awake DBP SD	11.1±2.9
Asleep SBP SD	17.1±3.1
Asleep DBP SD	12.4±2.4
CD: Standard doviation CPP: Systelic blood	prossure DPP: Diastelic blood prossure

Table 3. Stepwise multivariable linear regression analysis								
	Awake SBP SD		Awake DBP SD		Asleep SBP SD		Asleep DBP SD	
	r <sup>2</sup> =0.469		r <sup>2</sup> =0.387		r <sup>2</sup> =0.176		r <sup>2</sup> =0.156	
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р
Age	0.265	<0.001						
Female	0.202	0.002	0.186	0.005			0.154	0.025
RDW	0.198	0.002	0.101	0.004				
Smoking	0.181	0.004	0.191	0.004				
Type-2 DM	0.130	0.042	0.192	0.004	0.176	0.011	0.162	0.03
SD: Standard doviation SPP: S	stalic blood prossur	o DPP: Diastolic bl	and proceure PDW.	Pod coll distribution	width DM: Diabot	oc mollituc		

SD: Standard deviation, SBP: Systolic blood pressure, DBP: Diastolic blood pressure, RDW: Red cell distribution width, DM: Diabetes mel

#### DISCUSSION

Our research revealed that RDW was positively correlated with daytime BP variability but no correlation was found between nighttime BP variability and RDW.

Hypertension has been reported as one of the major causes of coronary artery disease, cerebrovascular events, and renal insufficiency.<sup>17</sup> With the increasing availability of 24-hABPM, it has become possible not only to measure the BP during 24 h, but also 24-hABPM can contribute to more information about BP, such as the average level, fluctuations, and the circadian rhythm of BP.<sup>18</sup>

The effects of BP variability on adverse cardiovascular outcomes have been demonstrated by recent research. Suchy-Dicey et al.<sup>19</sup> put forward that SBP variability is independently associated with high mortality ratios and myocardial infarctions. In addition, BP variability is related to increased end-organ damage.<sup>12</sup> The association between BP variability and inflammation has been demonstrated in many types of research using different inflammatory biomarkers, such as high sensitive-Creactive protein, sE-selectin, and IL-6.<sup>13,20,21</sup>

The clinical importance of RDW in hypertension has been defined in various trials. Tanindi et al.<sup>10</sup> demonstrated a strong correlation between high levels of RDW and high SBP and DBP levels. It has been reported that increased RDW levels were associated with higher BP levels in two major community-based cohorts.<sup>3,22</sup> In this study, we attempted to establish whether there was any possible association between BP variability and RDW levels in current essential hypertension. Our results indicate that RDW is associated with daytime BP variability in essential hypertension.

Increased RDW shows a strong and independent association with poor cardiovascular outcomes in CVD and so it is suggested as a new predictor of mortality.<sup>1,7</sup> The association between RDW and CVD may be based on underlying inflammations.<sup>2,23,24</sup> According to our results, increased RDW levels in patients with high BP variability may suggest a greater inflammatory load. There was no correlation between nighttime BP variability and RDW and this may be explained by a decrease in sympathetic activity at nighttime. An elevated RDW level may be a marker which demonstrates increased BP variability in hypertensive patients.

#### Study Limitations

One of the main limitations of our study was that it was single-centered and did not include normotensive individuals. In addition, the results cannot be generalized to the entire hypertensive population due to the lack of black origin among the participants. Also, morning BP fluctuation was not evaluated. Body mass index and waist circumference were not measured. Other biomarkers which have been proven to be associated with inflammation were not included in this study. Despite these limitations, this was the first study to draw attention to the association of BP variability with RDW.

#### CONCLUSION

Elevated RDW value predicts daytime BP variability in hypertensive patients. This relation may depend on the underlying inflammation. Further research is needed to investigate the influences of strict BP control on adverse cardiovascular events via inflammation and BP variability.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- · Elevated RDW values predict blood pressure variability.
- Blood pressure variability is associated with a raised inflammatory process.
- The inflammatory process takes part in the setting of worse cardiovascular outcomes.

**Acknowledgments:** I would like to express my gratitude, especially to our founding rector Prof. Dr. Suat Günsel and, Prof. Dr. Hamza Duygu, and Prof. Dr. Levent Cerit for their contributions.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The Ethics Committee of Ankara Yüksek ihtisas Training and Research Hospital authorized the research protocol (approval number: 2962, date: 16.09.2013).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was taken from all participants.

#### DISCLOSURES

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

 Felker GM, Allen LA, Pocock SJ, Shaw LK, McMurray JJ, Pfeffer MA, et al. Red cell distribution width as a novel prognostic marker in heart failure: data from the CHARM Program and the Duke Databank. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007; 50(1): 40-7.

- 2. Lappe JM, Horne BD, Shah SH, May HT, Muhlestein JB, Lappe DL, et al. Red cell distribution width, C-reactive protein, the complete blood count, and mortality in patients with coronary disease and a normal comparison population. Clin Chim Acta. 2011; 412(23-24): 2094-9.
- Tonelli M, Sacks F, Arnold M, Moye L, Davis B, Pfeffer M; for the Cholesterol and Recurrent Events (CARE) Trial Investigators. Relation Between Red Blood Cell Distribution Width and Cardiovascular Event Rate in People with Coronary Disease. Circulation. 2008; 117(2): 163-8.
- Zalawadiya SK, Zmily H, Farah J, Daifallah S, Ali O, Ghali JK. Red cell distribution width and mortality in predominantly African-American population with decompensated heart failure. J Card Fail. 2011; 17(4): 292-8.
- Ani C, Ovbiagele B. Elevated red blood cell distribution width predicts mortality in persons with known stroke. J Neurol Sci. 2009; 277(1-2): 103-8.
- Dabbah S, Hammerman H, Markiewicz W, Aronson D. Relation between red cell distribution width and clinical outcomes after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2010; 105(3): 312-7.
- Ye Z, Smith C, Kullo IJ. Usefulness of red cell distribution width to predict mortality in patients with peripheral artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 2011; 107(8): 1241-5.
- Karabulut A, Uyarel H, Uzunlar B, *Çakmak* M. Elevated red cell distribution width level predicts worse postinterventional thrombolysis in myocardial infarction flow reflecting abnormal reperfusion in acute myocardial infarction treated with a primary coronary intervention. Coron Artery Dis. 2012; 23(1): 68-72.
- Salvagno GL, Sanchis-Gomar F, Picanza A, Lippi G. Red blood cell distribution width: A simple parameter with multiple clinical applications. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2015; 52(2): 86-105.
- 10. Tanindi A, Topal FE, Topal F, Celik B. Red cell distribution width in patients with prehypertension and hypertension. Blood Press. 2012; 21(3): 177-81.
- Ozcan F, Turak O, Durak A, *İşleyen* A, Uçar F, Giniş Z, et al. Red cell distribution width and inflammation in patients with non-dipper hypertension. Blood Press. 2013; 22(2): 80-5.
- Fici F, Celik T, Balta S, Iyisoy A, Unlu M, Demitkol S, et al. Comparative effects of nebivolol and metoprolol on red cell distribution width and neutrophil/ lymphocyte ratio in patients with newly diagnosed essential hypertension. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2013; 62(4): 388-93.
- Tatasciore A, Zimarino M, Rende G, Zurro M, Soccio M, Prontera C, et al. Awake blood pressure variability, inflammatory markers and target organ damage in newly diagnosed hypertension. Hypertens Res. 2008; 31(12): 2137-46.

- 14. Parati G, Pomidossi G, Albini F, Malaspina D, Mancia G. Relationship of 24hour blood pressure mean and variability to severity of target-organ damage in hypertension. J Hypertens. 1987; 5(1): 93-8.
- Mancia G, Parati G, Hennig M, Flatau B, Omboni S, Glavina F. Relation between blood pressure variability and carotid artery damage in hypertension: baseline data from the European Lacidipine Study on Atherosclerosis (ELSA). | Hypertens. 2001; 19(11): 1981-9.
- Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redon J, Zanchetti A, Böhm M, et al. 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). J Hypertens. 2013; 31(7): 1281-357.
- 17. Kannel WB. Blood pressure as a cardiovascular risk factor: prevention and treatment. JAMA. 1996; 275(20): 1571-6.
- Kanbay M, Turkmen K, Ecder T, Covic A. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring: from old concepts to novel insights. Int Urol Nephrol. 2012; 44(1): 173-82.
- Suchy-Dicey AM, Wallace ER, Mitchell SVE, Aguilar M, Gottesman RF, Rice K, et al. Blood pressure variability and the risk of all-cause mortality, incident myocardial infarction, and incident stroke in the cardiovascular health study. Am J Hypertens. 2013; 26(10): 1210-7.
- Wu J, Lu AD, Zhang LP, Zuo YX, Jia YP. [Study of clinical outcome and prognosis in pediatric core binding factor-acute myeloid leukemia]. Zhonghua Xue Ye Xue Za Zhi. 2019; 40(1): 52-7.
- Kim KI, Lee JH, Chang HJ, Cho YS, Youn TJ, Chung WY, et al. Association between blood pressure variability and inflammatory marker in hypertensive patients. Circ J. 2008; 72(2): 293-8.
- 22. Perlstein TS, Weuve J, Pfeffer MA, Beckman JA. Red blood cell distribution width and mortality risk in a community-based prospective cohort. Arch Intern Med. 2009; 169(6): 588-94.
- Semba RD, Patel KV, Ferrucci L, Sun K, Roy CN, Guralnik JM, Fried LP. Serum antioxidants and inflammation predict red cell distribution width in older women: The Women's Health and Aging Study I. Clin Nutr. 2010; 29(5): 600-4.
- 24. Förhécz Z, Gombos T, Borgulya G, Pozsonyi Z, Prohászka Z, Jánoskuti L. Red cell distribution width in heart failure: prediction of clinical events and relationship with markers of ineffective erythropoiesis, inflammation, renal function, and nutritional state. Am Heart J. 2009; 158(4): 659-66.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

**DOI:** 10.4274/cjms.2023.2023-33 Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):19-27



# **Examination of Sleep Disturbance and Sleep-Related Problems in Children with Type 1 Diabetes**

#### Ø Zekiye Küpçü<sup>1</sup>, Ø Funda Kardaş Özdemir<sup>2</sup>, Ø Dilek Çiftçi Baykal<sup>3</sup>, Ø Gülçimen Güney<sup>4</sup>, Ø Canan Kara<sup>5</sup>, Ø Servet Yel<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Van Training and Research Hospital, Van, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Child Health and Diseases Nursing, Kafkas University Faculty of Health Sciences, Kars, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of Child Health and Diseases, Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Van Vocational School of Health Services, Van, Türkiye <sup>4</sup>Department of Nursing, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Van Training and Research Hospital, Van, Türkiye <sup>5</sup>Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Van Training and Research Hospital, Van, Türkiye

#### Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: This research aimed to investigate the sleep disorders and sleep problems of children with type 1 diabetes (T1D).

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** This research was descriptive and cross-sectional. This research was conducted with 105 parents of children with T1D who were admitted to a training and research hospital between June and August 2022. In the collection of the research data, the "Introductory Information Form" and the "Sleep Disorder Scale for Children (SDSC)" were used.

**RESULTS:** As a result of our research, the average total score of SDSC was found to be  $47.60\pm12.740$ . According to this result, the level of sleep disorders of the children participating in this study was below the average score. Significant differences were found in the sub-dimensions of Wakefulness Reactions Disorders, Sleep-Wakefulness Transition Disorders, and Excessive Sleepiness Disorders.

**CONCLUSION:** The parents participating in this study evaluated their children's sleep disorder levels as being below the average score. Since the sleep disorders of children with T1D are affected by familial characteristics and factors related to the disease, it is recommended to conduct further studies in order to identify sleep disorders and influencing factors so as to improve these conditions, and also to provide educational and counselling services to parents on these issues.

Keywords: Type 1 diabetes, children, sleep

#### INTRODUCTION

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) disease occurs as a result of the autoimmune destruction of insulin-producing  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas. Although its exact cause is not known, genetic and environmental factors are effective in accelerating this disease.<sup>1</sup> T1D is an important subtype of diabetes which occurs mostly in childhood.<sup>2</sup> The incidence of T1D in childhood is increasing globally.<sup>3</sup> Although it is often diagnosed during adolescence, the highest increase occurs in young children<sup>4</sup> and about

15-20% of new cases are diagnosed in children aged five years old or younger.  $^{\scriptscriptstyle 5}$ 

Sleep health has been defined as "a multidimensional sleep-wake model that supports physical and mental well-being, adapted to individual, social and environmental influences." Healthy sleep is characterized by an adequate sleep duration, sleep efficiency, the subjective feeling of satisfaction, proper timing and constant alertness during the waking hours.<sup>6</sup> Children with chronic diseases, including T1D, have a higher

**To cite this article:** Küpçü Z, Kardaş Özdemir F, Çiftçi Baykal D, Güney G, Kara C, Yel S. Examination of Sleep Disturbance and Sleep-Related Problems in Children with Type 1 Diabetes. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):19-27

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** Z.K. 0000-0001-7979-5456; F.K.Ö. 0000-0002-0164-0304; D.Ç.B. 0000-0001-7937-5646; G.G. 0000-0001-5731-8990; C.K. 0000-0002-8433-3202; S.Y. 0000-0001-6889-4504.



Address for Correspondence: Dilek Çiftçi Baykal E-mail: dilekbaykal@yyu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7937-5646

Received: 24.04.2023 Accepted: 12.06.2023

Copyright© 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. risk of showing sleep-related problems such as insufficient sleep and daytime sleepiness than healthy children. Children with T1D are susceptible to sleep disturbances due to the effects of glucose and insulin on their central nervous system and an increased response to bodily stress.<sup>7</sup>

The interactions between sleep and T1D are reciprocal; disrupted sleep negatively affects glycaemic control, while uncontrolled blood sugar can also affect sleep.<sup>8,9</sup> In addition, nocturnal hypoglycaemia and the need for intervention can affect the amount of time spent in bed and the duration of sleep.<sup>10</sup> Nocturnal hypoglycaemia is one of the most feared conditions and it psychologically negatively affects the child and parent and leads to impaired sleep.<sup>11</sup> Since parents often wake up their children at night to prevent nocturnal hypoglycaemia, it is inevitable that children with T1D will have sleep problems and their parents will experience various difficulties in this regard.<sup>12</sup> Young people with T1D experience more sleep disturbance and a shorter sleep duration than their healthy peers.<sup>9,13</sup> Poor sleep quality also negatively affects diabetes management skills and overall well-being.<sup>14,15</sup>

This study aimed to determine the sleep disturbance and sleep-related problems of children with T1D.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

This research was conducted as a descriptive and cross-sectional study. This research was conducted with the parents of children with T1D who were admitted to a training and research hospital for routine check-ups between June and August 2022. The G\*power 3.1.9.4 analysis program was used to calculate the sample size of this study. It was determined that at least 97 parents should participate in the sample of this study with an effect size of 0.30, a margin of error of 0.05%, df= 96 and 90% power. In total, one hundred and five parents participated in this study.

This study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Van Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (approval number: 2022/14-05, date: 24.06.2022).

#### **Data Collection Tools**

The "Introductory Information Form" and the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" were used as the data collection tools in this research. The "Introductory Information Form" contains questions regarding demographics, illness, the living environment and sleep. This form was prepared by the researchers within the scope of the literature.<sup>16,17</sup> The "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" was developed by Bruni et al.<sup>18</sup> Its validity and reliability studies have been conducted in many languages. The validity and reliability study of the scale in Turkish was conducted by Agadayi et al.<sup>19</sup> This scale is a Likert type scale which investigates sleep disturbance. In this scale, the child's sleep disturbance is questioned in 26 items with 6 sub-dimensions. These sub-dimensions are Initiation and Persistence of Sleep Disturbance (UBSB; items 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 10 and 11), Respiratory Disturbance during Sleep (RDDS) (USB; items 13, 14 and 15), Reactions and Alertness Disturbance (URB; items 17, 20 and 21), Sleep-Wake Transition Disturbance (SWTD) (UUGB; items 6, 7, 8, 12, 18 and 19), Disturbance of Excessive Sleepiness (DES) (AUB; items 22, 23, 24, 25 and 26) and Excessive Sweating during Sleep (UAT; items 9 and 16). The answers to the questions were between never (1 point) and always (5 points). A minimum score of 26 and a maximum score of 130 could be obtained from this scale. High scores are interpreted as indicating the presence of sleep disturbance. The Cronbach's alpha value of this scale was 0.79.19 In this study, it was found to be 0.84.

#### **Data Collection**

The research data were collected by interviewing the parents who visited a training and research hospital. After the parents were informed about the purpose and content of this research, the data collection forms were filled out using a face-to-face interview method with those parents who agreed to participate in this research. The completion time of the data collection forms was about 20 minutes.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data obtained from this study were evaluated using the SPSS 20 statistical software package. In the analysis of the data, number, percentage, average, standard deviation and minimum and maximum values were used. The conformity of continuous variables to a normal distribution was evaluated using Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality analysis. The Mann-Whitney U test was used in binary groups to determine differences between variables, the Kruskal-Wallis H test was used in groups of three or more, and Spearman's Rank correlation analysis was used to determine relationship status.

#### RESULTS

Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of the parents who participated in this study. According to the table, 72.4% of the participants in this study were mothers and 27.6% were fathers. 86.7% of the participants were married, 55.3% were primary school graduates and 57.1% were working. The proportion of participants whose income was less than their expenses was 61%.

The duration since the diagnosis of diabetes in 31.4% of their children was between 1 and 3 years. 43.8% of the participants lived in the province where the study was conducted. 63.8% of the participants had a nuclear family structure and 65.7% of their children had more than two siblings. The average age of the parents who participated in this study was 39.32 years and the average age of their children was 10.95 years (Table 1).

Table 2 shows the distribution of characteristics related to diabetes and sleep. According to this table, 57.1% of the children slept with their siblings in separate rooms. 52.4% of the children consumed liquids before going to sleep. 17.1% of the children slept during the day, while 41% did not sleep and 41.9% slept sometimes in the daytime. 84.8% of the children had a digital device (phone, tablet, computer, etc.) which they used and 65.7% of them went to bed after 10 p.m. at night. 88.6% of the children took blood sugar drops during sleep and 61.9% of the children had a snack before going to sleep. Finally, 51.4% of the parents believed that diabetes had an effect on sleep (Table 2).

Table 3 shows the descriptive statistics of the individuals participating in this study according to the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" and its sub-dimensions. According to the analysis, the average total score of the SDSC was  $47.60\pm12.740$ . When reviewing the sub-dimensions of this scale, "Sleep Initiation and Persistence Issues" had an average score of  $14.27\pm4.156$ , "RDDS" had an average score of  $4.29\pm1.911$ , "Vigilance Reactions" had an average score of  $4.09\pm1.522$ , "SWTD" had an average score of  $9.75\pm4.300$  and "Excessive Daytime Sleepiness" had an average score of  $4.43\pm2.507$  (Table 3).

Küpçü et al	. Sleep Disturbance	s in Children	with Type 1	Diabetes
-------------	---------------------	---------------	-------------	----------

Table 2. Distribution of the child's characteristics related to illness and

Variables		n	%
P I	Mother	76	72.4
Parent	Father	29	27.6
	Married	91	86.7
Marital status	Single	14	13.3
	Primary	58	55.3
Education level	High school	27	25.7
	Bachelor	20	19.0
Employment status	Employed	60	57.1
employment status	Unemployed	45	42.9
	Less income than expenses	64	61.0
Income status	Income equal to expenses	33	31.4
	Income more than expenses	8	7.6
	Less than 1 year	31	29.5
	1-3 years	33	31.4
Duration since child's diagnosis	4-6 years	17	16.2
	More than 6 years	24	22.9
	Village/town	24	22.9
Place of residence	District	35	33.3
	City	46	43.8
Tupo of family	Nuclear family	67	63.8
Type of family	Extended family	38	36.2
	No siblings	4	3.9
Number of siblings	One sibling	16	15.2
Number of sibilities	Two siblings	16	15.2
	More than 2 siblings	69	65.7
Parent age		39.32±7.3	388
Child age		10.95±4.1	128
Total		105	100.0

Table 1. Distribution of demographic characteristics of the individuals participating in the study

Table 4 shows the results of the analysis conducted to compare the average scores of the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" and its subdimensions according to the demographic characteristics of the parents who participated in this study. According to the results of the analysis, a significant difference was found in the total of the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" according to the income status variable of the parents (p<0.05). According to this significant difference, the average score of those parents whose income was more than their expenses was lower than the average score of the parents whose income was less than or equal to their expenses.

A significant difference was found in the "Sleep Initiation and Maintenance Problems (SIMP)" sub-dimension according to the parents' educational status (p<0.05). According to this significant difference, the average score of those parents with a bachelor's degree was lower than the average score of the parents with only elementary or high school education.

sieep			
Variables	n	%	
	In the same bed with the parent	3	2.9
The child's sleeping place	Same room with parents, separate bed	25	23.8
	Alone in a separate room	17	16.2
	In a separate room with siblings	60	57.1
Fluid consumption before clean	Yes	55	52.4
Fluid consumption before sleep	No	50	47.6
	Yes	18	17.1
Daytime sleeping condition	No	43	41.0
	Sometimes	44	41.9
Spending time with digital	Yes	89	84.8
devices before sleep	No	16	15.2
Child's clean time	Between 8 p.m. and 10 p.m.	36	34.3
child's sleep time	After 10 p.m.	69	65.7
	Before sleeping	93	88.6
The way of taking insulin at	Waking up	9	8.6
ingit	Pump	3	2.8
Caralina hafana alaan	Yes	65	61.9
Shacking before sleep	No	40	38.1
Plead sugar drep during -l	Yes	63	60.0
ыоод sugar grop guring sleep	No	42	40.0
The effect of diabetes on sleep	Yes	54	51.4
status	No	51	48.6
Total		105	100.0

A significant difference was found in the "SWTD" sub-dimension according to the parents' income status (p<0.05). According to this significant difference, the average score of those parents whose income was more than their expenses was lower than the average score of the parents whose income was less than or equal to their expenses.

A positive and statistically significant relationship was found between the "Excessive Sleepiness Disturbance (ESD)" sub-dimension and the age of the children. In other words, as the age of the children increased, ESD also increased (Table 4).

Table 5 shows the results of the analysis conducted to compare the average scores of the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" and its subdimensions according to the information about the disease and sleep. According to the results of the analysis, a significant difference was found in the sum of the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children" according to the variables of the child's daytime sleeping status, their state of blood sugar drop during sleep and the negative effect of diabetes on their sleep (p<0.05). According to these significant differences, the average score for those parents whose child/children slept during the day was higher than the average score of the parents whose child did not sleep during the day. The mean scores of those parents who stated that blood sugar negatively affected sleep in their children were higher than the average scores of those parents who stated that blood sugar did not negatively affect sleep in their children.

Table 3. Minimum, maximum, average and standard deviation values obtained from the sleep disturbance scale and its sub-dimensions for children							
	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD			
Problems with Sleep Initiation and Maintenance	8.00	28.00	14.27	4.156			
Respiratory Disturbance During Sleep	3.00	13.00	4.29	1.911			
Wakefulness reactions	3.00	11.00	4.09	1.522			
Sleep Wakefulness Transition Disturbance	6.00	26.00	10.75	3.965			
Excessive Sleepiness Disturbance	5.00	24.00	9.75	4.300			
Excessive Sweating During Sleep	2.00	10.00	4.43	2.507			
The Sum of the Scale	29.00	85.00	47.60	12.740			
Min.: Minimum. Max.: Maximum. SD: Standard deviation.							

Table 4. Comparison of the average scores of the Sleep Disturbance Scale and sub-dimensions for children according to the descriptive characteristics of the individuals participating in the study

Variable	PSIM	RDDS	WR	SWTD	ESD	ESDS	Sum scale		
variable	$X \pm SD$	X ± SD	$X \pm SD$	$X \pm SD$	$X \pm SD$	X ± SD	$X \pm SD$		
Parent									
Mother	14.56±4.45	4.44±2.00	4.09±1.44	10.69±4.04	10.02±4.34	4.38±2.47	48.21±13.44		
Father	13.51±3.19	3.89±1.61	4.10±1.73	10.89±3.81	9.03±4.16	4.58±2.62	46.03±10.72		
T+	U=984.5	U=911.5	U=1080.0	U=1047.5	U=938.5	U=1041.5	U=1054.5		
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05		
Marital status									
Married	14.16±4.11	4.34±2.00	4.06±1.54	10.80±4.10	9.61±4.13	4.47±2.54	47.46±12.54		
Single	15.00±4.52	4.00±1.10	4.28±1.38	10.42±3.03	10.64±5.34	4.21±2.32	48.57±14.41		
Tast	U=562.5	U=631.5	U=540.5	U=635.5	U=586.5	U=613.5	U=630.0		
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05		
Education level									
Primary	14.43±4.52	4.62±2.29	4.24±1.53	11.36±4.54	10.08±4.44	4.56±2.62	49.31±14.56		
High school	15.51±3.65	3.81±1.38	4.22±1.78	9.96±3.05	9.92±4.77	4.44±2.57	47.88±11.14		
Bachelor	12.15±2.81	4.00±0.91	3.50±0.88	10.05±2.98	8.55±2.99	4.05±2.08	42.30±6.56		
	KW=10,247								
Tect	p<0.05	KW=3,042	KW=4,010	KW=1,471	KW=1,365	KW=0.251	KW=2,486		
1031	1>3	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05		
	2>3								
Employment statu	5								
Employed	14.10±4.02	4.18±1.79	3.90±1.44	10.85±3.90	9.20±0.02	4.58±2.46	46.81±12.00		
Unemployed	14.51±4.36	4.44±2.06	4.35±1.59	10.62±4.09	10.48±4.58	4.24±2.57	48.66±13.72		
Tect	U=1284.5	U=1256.0	U=1123.0	U=1294.0	U=1110.5	U=1187.5	U=1262.0		
1031	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05		
Income status									
Less income than expenses	14.73±4.39	4.54±2.21	4.17±1.57	11.26±3.60	10.31±4.70	4.75±2.58	49.78±13.19		
Income equal to the expenses	13.63±3.79	3.87±1.31	4.12±1.55	10.27±4.69	9.06±3.60	4.03±2.36	45.00±12.23		
Income more than expenses	13.25±3.49	4.00±0.75	3.37±0.51	8.62±2.66	8.12±2.85	3.62±2.32	41.00±5.87		
				KW=6,108			KW=5,961		
Test	KW=1,186	KW=1,877	KW=1,569	p<0.05	KW=2,665	KW=3,522	p<0.05		
1031	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	1>3	p>0.05	p>0.05	1>3		
				2>3			2>3		
Duration since dia	gnosis								
Less than 1 year	13.90±4.12	4.06±1.36	4.22±1.74	10.48±3.31	8.45±3.60	4.32±2.53	45.45±10.75		

Table 4. Continued								
Ma wala la	PSIM	RDDS	WR	SWTD	ESD	ESDS	Sum scale	
Variable	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD	$X \pm SD$	$X \pm SD$	X ± SD	X ± SD	
1-3 years	14.18±3.81	4.30±2.31	4.03±1.42	11.00±4.38	10.27±3.95	4.66±2.68	48.45±11.84	
4-6 years	14.76±4.61	5.05±2.41	4.17±1.38	11.64±4.15	10.35±4.52	4.17±2.27	50.17±14.44	
More than 6 years	14.54±4.52	4.04±1.42	3.95±1.51	10.12±4.11	10.29±5.23	4.45±2.50	47.41±15.18	
Test	KW=0.554	KW=3,301	KW=1,026	KW=2,015	KW=5,070	KW=0.325	KW=1,674	
1631	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	
Place of residence								
Village/town	13.33±3.37	4.33±1.78	4.00±1.28	10.00±3.81	9.45±4.19	4.20±2.51	45.33±11.88	
District	14.54±4.53	4.51±2.42	3.91±1.31	10.60±3.54	10.17±4.55	4.80±2.81	48.54±13.25	
City	14.56±4.24	4.10±1.50	4.28±1.77	11.26±4.33	9.58±4.22	4.28±2.26	48.08±12.90	
Tost	KW=1,346	KW=0.428	KW=0.792	KW=1,547	KW=0.617	KW=0.558	KW=1,313	
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	
Type of family								
Nuclear family	14.20±4.15	4.14±1.76	4.05±1.57	10.76±3.44	9.52±4.51	4.50±2.57	47.20±12.35	
Extended family	14.39±4.22	4.55±2.13	4.15±1.44	10.73±4.79	10.15±3.91	4.31±2.40	48.31±13.53	
Tost	U=1236.5	U=1111.0	U=1175.0	U=1156.5	U=1081.0	U=1236.0	U=1227.0	
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	
Number of sibling	5							
(1) No	11.50±2.38	3.50±0.57	5.00±4.00	11.00±2.16	7.00±1.41	3.75±0.95	41.75±6.60	
(2) One	14.87±4.78	4.62±2.15	4.00±1.21	11.93±3.29	9.25±3.10	5.00±2.94	49.68±11.90	
(3) Two	15.25±4.21	4.37±2.70	4.06±1.34	10.81±3.39	11.37±6.10	4.68±2.77	50.56±13.98	
(4) More than two	14.07±4.04	4.24±1.69	4.07±1.43	10.44±4.29	9.65±4.08	4.28±2.41	46.78±12.89	
Tost	KW=3,288	KW=1,604	KW=0.255	KW=4,132	KW=2,533	KW=0.816	KW=3,067	
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	
Parent age <sup>r</sup>	-0.004	-0.027	-0.050	-0.070	0.032	-0.017	-0.028	
Child age <sup>r</sup>	0.073	0.106	0.067	-0.026	0.218*	-0.085	0.050	

\*p<0.05, ': Spearman's rank correlation, Kw: Kruskal-Wallis H test, U: Mann-Whitney U test, PSIM: Problems with Sleep Initiation and Maintenance, RDDS: Respiratory Disturbance During Sleep, WR: Wakefulness reactions, SWTD: Sleep-Wake Transition Disturbance, ESD: Excessive Sleepiness Disturbance, ESDS: Excessive Sweating During Sleep, SD: Standard deviation.

A significant difference was found in the "Wakefulness Reactions Disturbance (WRD)" sub-dimension according to daytime sleeping status and snacking before going to sleep (p<0.05). According to these significant differences, the average score of those parents whose child slept during the day and those whose child sometimes slept was higher than the average score of the parents whose child did not sleep during the day. The average score of the parents of those children who snacked before going to sleep was lower than the average score of the parents of children who did not snack before going to sleep.

A significant difference was found in the "SWTD" sub-dimension according to the variables of daytime sleepiness, blood sugar drop during sleep, and the negative effect of diabetes on sleep (p < 0.05). According to these significant differences, the average score of those parents whose child slept during the day and those whose child sometimes slept was higher than the average score of the parents whose child did not sleep during the day. The average score of those parents whose child's blood sugar dropped during sleep was higher than the average score of those whose child's blood sugar did not drop during sleep. The average score of those parents who indicated that blood sugar had a negative effect on sleep was higher than the average score of those who indicated that blood sugar had no negative effect on sleep. A significant difference was found in the "ESD" sub-dimension according to the variables of daytime sleepiness, spending time with a digital device before sleep, blood sugar drop during sleep and the negative effect of diabetes on sleep (p<0.05). According to these significant differences, the average score of those parents whose child slept during the day was higher than the average score of those whose child did not sleep during the day. The average score of those parents whose child did not sleep during the day. The average score of those parents whose child spent time with a digital device before sleep was higher than the average score of those whose child did not spend time with a digital device before sleep. The average score of those parents whose child's blood sugar dropped during sleep was higher than the average score of those parents whose child's blood sugar did not drop during sleep. The average score of those parents who indicated that blood sugar had a negative effect on sleep was higher than the average score of those who indicated that blood sugar had no negative effect on sleep (Table 5).

Table 6 shows the distributions of the children's sleeping times at night and how quickly they fell asleep after going to bed. According to this table, 33.3% of the children slept between 8 and 9 hours per night. In addition, 39% of the children fell asleep within 15 to 30 minutes after going to bed (Table 6).

#### Küpçü et al. Sleep Disturbances in Children with Type 1 Diabetes

Table 5. Comparison of the score averages of the Sleep Disturbance Scale and sub-dimensions for children according to information about illness and sleep							
Veriekles	PSIM	RDDS	WR	SWTD	ESD	ESDS	Sum Scale
variables	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD
In the same bed with parent	13.33±1.15	4.00±1.00	3.33±0.57	11.00±2.00	8.33±2.30	3.33±0.57	43.33±2.30
Same room with parents, separate bed	14.12±4.42	4.60±2.46	4.12±1.36	11.56±4.44	9.00±4.41	5.24±3.01	48.64±14.06
Alone in a separate room	13.94±5.04	3.70±0.91	4.41±2.23	9.64±2.99	10.35±5.18	4.35±2.69	46.41±13.62
In a separate room with sibling	14.48±3.92	4.35±1.88	4.03±1.37	10.71±4.05	9.96±4.08	4.18±2.23	47.73±12.38
Tect	KW=0.883	KW=1.294	KW=0.909	KW=2,091	KW=2,802	KW=2,476	KW=0.680
	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05
Fluid consumption before sleep							
Yes	14.52±4.43	4.36±1.89	4.27±1.71	11.25±4.11	10.18±4.59	4.76±2.65	49.36±13.74
No	14.00±3.85	4.22±1.94	3.90±1.26	10.20±3.75	9.28±3.93	4.08±2.30	45.68±11.35
Test	U=1298.5	U=1295.5	U=1249.5	U=1180.5	U=1224.5	U=1162.5	U=1189.0
	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05
Daytime sleeping condition							
(1) Yes	14.88±5.42	4.61±2.68	4.94±2.26	11.88±4.61	11.33±6.13	5.44±3.31	53.11±17.09
(2) No	13.65±3.44	4.23±1.92	3.58±0.87	9.46±3.07	8.55±3.81	4.39±2.44	43.88±9.98
(3) Sometimes	14.63±4.22	4.22±1.52	4.25±1.49	11.54±4.18	10.27±3.59	4.06±2.11	49.00±12.29
			KW=6,637	KW=6,860	KW=6,709		KW=6,183
Test	KW=0.850	KW=0.262	p<0.05	p<0.05	p<0.05	KW=1,611	p<0.05
	p>0.05	p>0.05	2<1	2<1	2<1	p>0.05	2<1
Consultant time with distant devices hefers also			2<3	2<3			
Spending time with digital devices before sleep	14 46+4 20	4 26+1 76	4 10+1 42	11.02±4.04	10 10+4 20	4 42+2 50	40 40+12 02
Tes No.	14.40±4.50	4.20±1.70	4.10±1.42	0 10+2 10	10.10±4.30	4.45±2.50	48.40±12.92
NO	15.25±5.08	4.45±2.05	4.00±2.04	9.18±5.18	7.01±3.44	4.45±2.00	45.18±10.98
Test	0 - 609.5	U=658.0 p>0.05	0 - 048.5	0-508.5	0-455.00 n<0.05	0-/11.0 n>0.05	U=508.5 p>0.05
Child's sleen time	p= 0.05		p> 0.05	p> 0.05	h -0.02	p= 0.05	
Between 8 p.m. and 10 p.m.	14 27+3 97	4 27+2 03	4 22+1 75	10 91+3 57	9 16+3 98	4 44+2 48	47 30+11 66
After 10 p.m.	14 27+4 27	4 30+1 85	4 02+1 39	10.66+4.17	10 05+4 45	4 43+2 53	47 76+13 34
	U=1220.0	U=1220.5	U=1199.0	U=1144.5	U=1082.5	U=1215.0	U=1197.5
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05
The way of taking insulin at night							
Before sleeping	14.19±4.22	4.26±1.88	4.11±1.53	10.69±3.84	9.95±4.34	4.49±2.46	47.73±12.53
Waking up	15.44±4.06	5.00±2.34	4.11±1.69	12.22±5.28	8.55±4.12	4.33±3.31	49.66±16.05
Pump	13.33±2.30	3.00±0.00	3.33±0.57	8.00±1.73	7.00±2.00	3.00±1.00	37.66±3.51
	KW=0.995	KW=5.499	KW=0.721	KW=2.399	KW=3.302	KW=1,457	KW=2,866
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05
Snacking before sleep							
Yes	14.13±4.19	4.26±1.97	3.83±1.23	10.86±4.10	10.03±4.33	4.63±2.57	47.75±12.80
No	14.50±4.13	4.35±1.81	4.52±1.83	10.57±3.76	9.30±4.26	4.12±2.39	47.37±12.79
Tast	U=1235.5	U=1221.0	U=1024.5	U=1281.0	U=1144.0	U=1125.0	U=1232.0
Test	p>0.05	p>0.05	p<0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05
Blood sugar drop during sleep							
Yes	14.66±4.45	4.63±2.22	4.25±1.70	11.63±4.10	10.96±4.75	4.71±2.59	50.87±13.92
No	13.69±3.63	3.78±1.15	3.85±1.18	9.42±3.38	7.92±2.64	4.02±2.34	42.71±8.81
Test	U=1167.0	U=1033.5	U=1181.0	U=872.5	U=782.5	U=1107.5	U=846.5
	p>0.05	p<0.05	p>0.05	p<0.05	p<0.05	p>0.05	p<0.05
The effect of diabetes on sleep status							
Yes	14.70±4.78	4.59±2.20	4.09±1.44	11.59±4.23	11.12±5.08	4.94±2.80	51.05±14.70
No	13.82±3.35	3.98±1.50	4.09±1.61	9.86±3.48	8.29±2.61	3.90±2.04	43.96±9.05

Table 5. Continued							
Variables	PSIM	RDDS	WR	SWTD	ESD	ESDS	Sum Scale
	X ± SD	X ± SD	X ± SD	$X \pm SD$	$X \pm SD$	$X \pm SD$	$X \pm SD$
Tart	U=1287.0	U=1175.5	U=1358.0	U=1036.5	U=930.0	U=1110.5	U=999.0
1031	p>0.05	p>0.05	p>0.05	p<0.05	p<0.05	p>0.05	p<0.05

Kw: Kruskal-Wallis H test, U: Mann-Whitney U test, PSIM: Problems with Sleep Initiation and Maintenance, RDDS: Respiratory Disturbance During Sleep, WR: Wakefulness reactions, SWTD: Sleep-Wake Transition Disturbance, ESD: Excessive Sleepiness Disturbance, ESDS: Excessive Sweating During Sleep, SD: Standard deviation.

Table 6. Distributions of night sleeping time and falling asleep time of the children participating in this study							
Questions			%				
	9-11 hours	30	28.6				
	8-9 hours	35	33.3				
How many hours does your child sleep most nights?	7-8 hours	32	30.4				
	5-7 hours	7	6.7				
	Less than 5 hours	1	1.0				
	Less than 15 minutes	39	37.1				
	Between 15-30 minutes	41	39.0				
How quickly does your child usually fall asleep after going to bed?	Between 30-45 minutes	8	7.6				
	Between 45-60 minutes	7	6.7				
	More than 60 minutes	10	9.5				
Total	Total 105 100.0						

#### DISCUSSION

Sleep greatly affects people's health and their quality of life. Sleep is a concept with social, psychological and physiological dimensions.<sup>20</sup> Sleep in children and adolescents with T1D can often be disrupted due to hypoglycaemia, hyperglycaemia and their parents' diabetes care behaviours.<sup>15</sup> Sleep disturbance can negatively affect the progression of this disease and cause the development of complications.<sup>17</sup>

As a result of this research, the average total score of the SDSC was 47.60±12.740. According to this result, the level of sleep disturbance of the children who participated in this study was below the average score. In other words, the children who participated in this study had a low level of sleep disturbance. In the study of Agadayi et al.<sup>19</sup> the average total score of the SDSC answered by mothers was 40.9±10.1, while the total score average of the scale answered by fathers was 40.2±10.3. The results of the present research are in parallel with the literature. Six sub-dimensions of the SDSC were used within the scope of the research. According to the demographic characteristics of the surveyed parents with regards to the "Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children", when we look at the "SWTD" sub-dimension, a significant difference was detected in terms of the parents' income status (p<0.05). The average score of those parents whose income was more than their expenses was lower than the average score of those whose income was less than or equal to their expenses. A significant difference was found in the "SIMP" sub-dimension according to the parents' educational status (p<0.05). According to the results of this research, the average score of those parents who graduated with a bachelor's degree was lower than the average score of those who only graduated from elementary or high school. From the literature, a study conducted with the parents of 299 primary school students in Türkiye found significant differences between the family's income status, education status, bedtime resistance and sleep duration.<sup>21</sup> In the present research, a significant relationship was found between age and the "ESD" sub-dimension. In

other words, as the age of the children increased, the ESD also increased. From a study found in the literature, according to the parent group having SDSC sleep problems, the average score of the subscale with the highest UUGB SWTD during the day was in elementary school.<sup>17</sup> A significant difference was found in the "WRD" sub-dimension according to daytime sleep status and snacking before going to sleep (p<0.05). A significant difference was found in the "ESD" sub-dimension according to the variables of the child's daytime sleeping status, spending time with a digital device before sleep, blood sugar drop during sleep and the negative impact of diabetes on sleep (p < 0.05). According to these significant differences, the average score of those parents whose child slept during the day was higher than the average score of those whose child did not sleep during the day. The average score of those parents whose child spent time with a digital device before sleep was higher than the average score of those whose child did not spend time with a digital device before sleep. Sleep problems are affected by television, bedtime resistance, delays in starting to sleep and anxiety during sleep and thus they lead to shortened sleep durations.<sup>22</sup> From the literature, total sleep time and total duration of TV viewing were investigated in one study. 51% of respondents reported to having a TV set in the child's bedroom. For those children with a TV in the room, "night terrors", "nightmares", "sleep talking" and "being tired at wake-up" responses were seen to have significantly higher scores.23

Children with T1D may be especially vulnerable to sleep disturbances as parents may delay bedtime if their blood sugar levels are outside the target range and they often wake their children up during the night to monitor their blood sugar and treat episodes of hypoglycaemia or hyperglycaemia.<sup>24</sup> In the present research, the average score of those parents whose child's blood sugar dropped during sleep was higher than the average score of those whose child's blood sugar did not drop during sleep. The average score of those parents who indicated that blood sugar had a negative effect on sleep was higher than the average score of those who indicated that blood sugar had no negative effect on sleep. In another study consisting of 75 children with T1D and 49 controls, 65.3% of all participants in both groups had sleep problems; children with T1D slept less and experienced more daytime sleepiness problems compared to the controls.<sup>25</sup> In the present study, a significant difference was found in the "SWTD" sub-dimension of the SDSC according to the variables of daytime sleepiness, blood sugar drop during sleep and the negative effect of diabetes on sleep (p<0.05). In another study, the SWTD was the subscale with the highest average score.<sup>17</sup> The results of the present research are similar to the literature. In the present research, 33.3% of the children slept between 8 and 9 hours per night. In addition, 39% of the children fell asleep between 15 and 30 minutes after going to bed. In a study conducted with 111 participants with T1D, which is similar to the sample of the present study, the children slept less than the recommended amount of sleep for this age group of children of approximately nine hours and were found to be in poor glycaemic control, which showed that less sleep is associated with poor management and glycaemic control. In the same study, it was reported that especially later bedtimes and a greater social jetlag were associated with poor glycaemic control.<sup>26</sup> In another study, 60 people formed the control group with 60 T1D patients. In that study, significantly more adolescents with 60 T1D delay starting to sleep, non-REM sleep and sleep efficiency, and arousal index significantly lower compared to the controls to have sleep rapid eye activity are stated.<sup>27</sup> In addition to the direct physiological effects of sleep on glycaemic control, insufficient or poor-quality sleep have an indirect behavioural effect on diabetes management. Sleep disturbance, including bedtime resistance and night-time waking, have been associated with greater behavioural problems in school-age children.<sup>28</sup> In the present research, most children also slept late. According to Monzon et al.<sup>13</sup>, as sleep duration decreases due to increased frequencies of waking up at night, parental stress due to night care, anxiety about the illness, and constant monitoring, cortisol levels rise and glycaemic control is poor. In Farabi's<sup>17</sup> study with 130 people, it was reported by parents that 45.1% of their children's sleep duration was 8-9 hours per night. The results of this research are in line with the literature.

#### Study Limitations

Our research had some limitations. Our research sample size was small and our findings cannot be generalized to the larger child population.

#### CONCLUSION

As a result of this research, the parents who participated in this study evaluated the level of sleep disturbance of their children as being below the average score. The SDSC was affected in the dimensions of WRD, SWTD, and ESD, with significant differences being found in these sub-dimensions. When the sources of the sleep problems of children with T1D were examined, it was seen that the sleep of these children was affected by their condition. Since the sleep disturbances of those children with T1D are affected by familial characteristics and factors related to their disease, it is recommended to conduct further studies in order to identify sleep disturbance and influencing factors so as to improve these conditions, and to provide educational and counselling services to their parents on these issues.

#### MAIN POINTS

- · Diabetes has a negative effect on sleep.
- The sleep problems of those children with chronic diseases are affected by familial characteristics.
- Parental education is important for the sleep health of children with diabetes.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Van Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (approval number: 2022/14-05, date: 24.06.2022).

Informed Consent: It wasn't obtained.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: Z.K., F.K.Ö., D.Ç.B., Design: Z.K., F.K.Ö., D.Ç.B., Data Collection and/or Processing: Z.K., G.G., C.K., S.Y., Analysis and/or Interpretation: F.K.Ö., D.Ç.B., Literature Search: F.K.Ö., D.Ç.B., Writing: F.K.Ö., D.Ç.B.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Gillespie KM. Type 1 diabetes: pathogenesis and prevention. CMAJ. 2006; 175(2): 165-70.
- Li W, Huang E, Gao S. Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and Cognitive Impairments: A Systematic Review. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017; 57(1): 29-36.
- 3. DIAMOND Project Group. Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990-1999. Diabet Med. 2006; 23(8): 857-66.
- Green A, Patterson CC; EURODIAB TIGER Study Group. Europe and Diabetes. Trends in the incidence of childhood-onset diabetes in Europe 1989-1998. Diabetologia. 2001; 44 Suppl 3: B3-8.
- 5. Smaldone A, Ritholz MD. Perceptions of parenting children with type 1 diabetes diagnosed in early childhood. J Pediatr Health Care. 2011; 25(2): 87-95.
- Buysse DJ. Sleep health: can we define it? Does it matter? Sleep. 2014; 37(1): 9-17.
- Silva RAE, Ganen AP, Fernandes VFT, Evangelista NMA, Figueiredo CC, Pacheco LA, et al. Evaluation of sleep characteristics of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Rev Paul Pediatr. 2021; 40: e2020407.
- Perfect MM, Patel PG, Scott RE, Wheeler MD, Patel C, Griffin K, et al. Sleep, glucose, and daytime functioning in youth with type 1 diabetes. Sleep. 2012; 35(1): 81-8.
- Reutrakul S, Thakkinstian A, Anothaisintawee T, Chontong S, Borel AL, Perfect MM, et al. Sleep characteristics in type 1 diabetes and associations with glycemic control: systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med. 2016; 23: 26-45.
- Estrada CL, Danielson KK, Drum ML, Lipton RB. Insufficient sleep in young patients with diabetes and their families. Biol Res Nurs. 2012; 14(1): 48-54.
- Martyn-Nemeth P, Duffecy J, Fritschi C, Quinn L. Challenges Imposed By Hypoglycemia in Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. Clin Nurs Res. 2019; 28(8): 947-67.
- 12. Jaser SS, Lord JH, Simmons JH, Malow BA. Brief report: Sleep disturbances in young children with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016; 120: 232-4.
- Monzon A, McDonough R, Meltzer LJ, Patton SR. Sleep and type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents: Proposed theoretical model and clinical implications. Pediatr Diabetes. 2019; 20(1): 78-85.
- Meltzer LJ, Moore M. Sleep disruptions in parents of children and adolescents with chronic illnesses: prevalence, causes, and consequences. J Pediatr Psychol. 2008; 33(3): 279-91.
- Jaser SS, Foster NC, Nelson BA, Kittelsrud JM, DiMeglio LA, Quinn M, et al. Sleep in children with type 1 diabetes and their parents in the T1D Exchange. Sleep Med. 2017; 39: 108-15.
- Firat E. Investigation of the Factors Affecting the Quality of Life of Children with Type 1 Diabetes Aged 13-16 Years. Unpublished Masyer Thesis; Ankara. 2014.
- 17. Farabi SS. Type 1 Diabetes and Sleep. Diabetes Spectr. 2016; 29(1): 10-3.
- Bruni O, Ottaviano S, Guidetti V, Romoli M, Innocenzi M, Cortesi F, et al. The Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children (SDSC). Construction and validation of an instrument to evaluate sleep disturbances in childhood and adolescence. J Sleep Res. 1996; 5(4): 251-61.
- Agadayi E, Çelik N, Baser DA. Turkish Validity and Reliability of the Sleep Disturbance Scale for Children. Journal of Turkish Sleep Medicine. 2020; 7(2): 65-73.
- 20. Karadağ M. Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD-2). T Clinic Lung Archive. 2007; 8: 88-91.

- 21. Öztürk A, Sezer TA, Tezel A. Evaluation of sleep and television viewing habits of primary school students. J Turkish Sleep Med. 2018; 5(3): 73-80.
- Owens J, Maxim R, McGuinn M, Nobile C, Msall M, Alario A. Televisionviewing habits and sleep disturbance in school children. Pediatrics. 1999; 104(3): e27.
- Brockmann PE, Diaz B, Damiani F, Villarroel L, Núñez F, Bruni O. Impact of television on the quality of sleep in preschool children. Sleep Med. 2016; 20: 140-4.
- 24. Monaghan MC, Hilliard ME, Cogen FR, Streisand R. Nighttime caregiving behaviors among parents of young children with Type 1 diabetes: associations with illness characteristics and parent functioning. Fam Syst Health. 2009; 27(1): 28-38.
- Ilter Bahadur E, Özalkak Ş, Özdemir AA, Çetinkaya S, Özmert EN. Sleep disorder and behavior problems in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2021; 35(1): 29-38.
- Frye SS, Perfect MM, Silva GE. Diabetes management mediates the association between sleep duration and glycemic control in youth with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Sleep Med. 2019; 60: 132-8.
- 27. Abdelmaksoud AA, Salah NY, Ali ZM, Rashed HR, Abido AY. Disturbed sleep quality and architecture in adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus: Relation to glycemic control, vascular complications and insulin sensitivity. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2021; 174: 108774.
- Jaser SS, Bergner EM, Hamburger ER, Bhatia S, Lyttle M, Bell GE, et al. Pilot Trial of a Sleep-Promoting Intervention for Children With Type 1 Diabetes. J Pediatr Psychol. 2021; 46(3): 304-13.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

# Evaluation of the Color Stability and Surface Roughness of a Novel Single-Shade Composite Resin: A Smart Chromatic Technology

# Alper Cumhur<sup>1</sup>, Begüm Büşra Cevval Özkoçak<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Restorative Dentistry, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Faculty of Dentistry, Bolu, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Restorative Dentistry, İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Türkiye

# Abstract

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** This study aimed to assess the color stability and surface roughness of a newly developed single-shade resin-based composite (RBC) utilizing smart chromatic technology in comparison to nanohybrid and nanoceramic RBCs.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** A total of 120 specimens of RBC discs were prepared on a round metal mold (diameter 6 mm, thickness 2 mm). Distilled water was used as a control. Three different RBCs; harmonize (n=40), omnichroma (OM) (n=40), and zenit (n=40), were immersed into three staining beverages, namely orange juice, cola, and coffee, respectively, as the test groups. Prior to the immersion, the initial roughness and color values were recorded using a profilometer and CIE L\* a\* b\*, respectively. The color changes and surface roughness values were determined again after one week. The normality test of numerical variables were analysed by means of Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

**RESULTS:** There was no significant difference between the initial surface roughness values (Ra) among the groups. However, a significant increase was observed in the roughness values of harmonize immersed in coffee (p=0.024) and OM immersed in cola (p=0.021). The color stability of RBC was significantly affected by the immersion period, and coffee caused the highest discoloration (p<0.001).

**CONCLUSION:** The new generation monochrome smart composite resin with spherical filler (OM) is clinically recommended as it shows acceptable values in terms of color stability and roughness. Therefore, OM may be preferred as an alternative to multi-shade composites as it simplifies color selection.

Keywords: Discoloration, single-shade composite resin, smart chromatic technology, spherical filler, surface roughness

# INTRODUCTION

Color stability and surface texture are the most important characteristics of esthetic restorative materials aiming to provide a personalized smile.<sup>1</sup> The maintenance of color throughout the functional lifetime of restorations plays a significant role in the durability of the treatment. However, this characteristic is not constant among dental materials.<sup>2.3</sup> Various inorganic particles with different components, such as silica, alumina, zirconia, silicate glass, quartz, and ceramics, have been

employed in the resin matrix of dental resin-based composites (RBC) as reinforcing filler phases. In addition to the composition of fillers, other properties, such as the filler particle content, size, size distribution, shape, morphology, porosity, and surface characteristics, play a critical role in the development of dental RBCs for specific applications and purposes.<sup>4</sup>

Since composite restorations have different shades and technical sensitivities, success is highly dependent on the skill of the dentist and the choice of shade. This complex process causes the physician to

**To cite this article:** Cumhur A, Cevval Özkoçak BB. Evaluation of the Color Stability and Surface Roughness of a Novel Single-Shade Composite Resin: A Smart Chromatic Technology. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):28-35

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** A.C. 0000-0003-3664-3545; B.B.C.Ö. 0000-0002-6371-5420.



Address for Correspondence: Begüm Büşra Cevval Özkoçak E-mail: busra\_cevval@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6371-5420

Received: 02.05.2023 Accepted: 16.09.2023

Copyright© 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. employ a trial-and-error method and increases the time spent in the dental chair. Therefore, the researchers aimed to simplify and reduce the number of shadows based on color interactions. The chameleon or blending effect is the ability of dental materials to adapt to the color of the surrounding dental hard tissue so that color mismatches are compensated to some extent.<sup>5</sup> These materials, which have the properties of imitating natural tooth structures such as enamel and dentine, support the remaining tooth structure. They employ "smart chromatic technology". However, they can be changed by factors such as temperature, humidity, pH, and stress.<sup>6</sup> RBCs have undergone many changes over the years in order to provide positive properties. For this purpose, many composite resin types are available on the market with changes in both their monomers forming the organic polymer matrix phase and their inorganic filler particles.<sup>4</sup>

Recently, a newly developed monochrome RBC [omnichroma; (OM), Tokuyama Dental, Tokyo, Japan] was introduced to shorten treatment time and reduce the clinician's difficulty in matching colors. The manufacturer claims that the structural color in the OM can mimic the color of the surrounding tooth, regardless of its shade.<sup>7</sup> Homogenized spherical filler particles with a size of 260 nm were used via the "sol-gel method" to obtain uniform filler particles with reflectivity. OM fillers change the light transmitted through the red-yellow area of the color spectrum, allowing it to match the color of the patient's neighboring teeth. OM's wide color matching ability minimizes the waste of unused composite hues by reducing the time spent on color selection and the time spent in the chair by the patient.<sup>7,8</sup> However, to date, there has not been enough research on the physical properties and color adjustment of these composite resins produced with this technology.

This study aimed to evaluate the surface roughness and color stability of OM, a newly developed single-shade composite resin containing spherical particles, by comparing it with nanohybrid and nanoceramic RBCs. The null hypothesis of the present study was that the surface roughness and color change of smart chromatic composite resins immersed in different beverages (distilled water, coffee, cola, and orange juice) were not significantly different from certain multi-shade RBCs with various contents.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Preparation of Sample**

A total of 120 samples were obtained in this study, with 40 samples for each RBC. A cylindrical metal mold of diameter 6 mm, thickness 2 mm was used for composite samples. Mylar strip (Kerr Corp. Orange CA, USA) and cement glass were placed on it in order to obtain a smooth surface. Based on the manufacturer's instructions, the light emitting diode light device Monitex Bluex, GT1200, (Monitex Industrial Co., Taiwan) was applied for 20 seconds in full power mode, M1 mode, at 1,200 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>, with a glass coverslip and light device in contact. Following the polymerization process, the samples were kept in distilled water at 37 °C for 24 hours. They were then polished under a water spray (new discs were used for every five samples) by applying a unidirectional rotation motion with light pressure from coarse to fine grain with 4-stage OptiDisc (Kerr Corp. Orange CA, USA) containing aluminum oxide abrasive. The composite resin materials used in this study are listed in Table 1.

#### **Roughness Evaluation**

In this study, the initial roughness measurements were made with the Perthometer M2 (Mahr, Gottingen, Germany) profilometer device. Afterwards, the samples were kept in four different beverages (distilled water, coffee, cola, and orange juice) in an oven at 37 °C for one week, and the beverages were renewed every other day. At the end of this staining process, the final roughness measurements were evaluated. Three measurements were made in the center of the samples with the same device, and Ra values were recorded by calculating the average of these values.<sup>9,10</sup> A calibration process was performed after every five measurements.

#### **Evaluation of Color Changes**

The Minolta Chromascop colorimeter device (Chroma Me-ter CR 321, Minolta, Osaka, Japan) was used to evaluate color changes. It detects the reflected colors of surfaces using compact tristimulus color analysis. The measurement area was 3 mm and had 45° environmental illumination, and the viewing angle was 0°. Measurements are given as L\* a\* b\*. During the measurements of the samples, the calibration of the instrument was checked before each color measurement step by using a standard white background. Measurements were repeated three times for each sample, and the average of the values was determined.

Table 1. Compositions of the	resin-based composites in t	he present study		
Material	Classification	Organic content	Inorganic content	Lot
Omnichroma Tokuyama dental, Tokyo, Japan	Supra-nano spherical resin- based composite	UDMA, TEGDMA, mequinol, Dibutyl hydroxyl toluene, UV absorber	Spherical silica-zirconia, average particle size: 0.3 µm Weight: 79% Volume: 68%	018EY9
Zenit President dental, Germany	Nanoceramic Resin-based composite	UDMA, BDDMA, BisGMA	Glass filler (0.7 μm) Pyrogenic silica (12 μm) Agglomerated nano-particles (0.6 micron) Weight: 83% Volume: 70%	2019012264
Harmonize Kerr Corp., Orange CA, USA	Nanohybride Resin-based composite	BisGMA, BisEMA, TEGDMA	Spherical silica (30 nm)-zirconia (5 nm) filler particles, barium glass particles (5-400 μ) Weight: 81% Volume: 64%	7253850
BDDMA: Butanediol dimethacryla	te, BisGMA: Bisphenol-A-glycidyl r	nethacrylate, BisEMA: Bisphenol-A-poly	yethylene glycol diether methacrylate, TEGDMA: Triethylene glyco	ol

BDDMA: Butanediol dimethacrylate, BisGMA: Bisphenol-A-glycidyl methacrylate, BisEMA: Bisphenol-A-polyethylene glycol diether methacrylate, TEGDMA: Triethylene glycol dimethacrylate, UDMA: Urethane Di Methacrylate.

The amount of color change is expressed as  $\Delta E$  and calculated as follows;

 $\Delta E = [(\Delta L^{*})^{2} + (\Delta a^{*})^{2} + (\Delta b^{*})^{2}]^{1/2}$  $\Delta L = L2^{*} - L1^{*}$  $\Delta a = a2^{*} - a1^{*}$  $\Delta b = b2^{*} - b1^{*}$ 

After the initial color measurements were taken and recorded, the samples (n=10) were kept in four different types of beverages (distilled water, coffee, cola, and orange juice) at 37 °C for one week. The beverages were renewed daily, the samples were kept in the beverages throughout the day, and final measurements were taken and recorded at the end of one week. For standardization, the same immersion period was applied in all beverages.

#### Statistical Analysis

The data obtained from this study were summarized, and descriptive statistics were tabulated as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation and median and minimum-maximum for continuous variables depending on their distribution. Categorical variables were summarized as numbers and percentages. The normality test of numerical variables was verified by means of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. The paired t-test was used to examine whether the roughness value changed before and after the procedure. In comparisons of more than two independent groups, the Kruskal-Wallis H test was used when numerical variables did not show normal distribution. Differences among the groups in non-parametric tests were evaluated by the Dwass-Steel-Critchlow-Fligner test. Statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (version 20.0) program, and the significance level was defined as 0.05 (p-value).

### RESULTS

# Roughness



In regard to the staining beverages, when the roughness of each composite filling material was evaluated before staining, there was

Figure 1. Roughness-solution graph of harmonize resin-based composite.

no significant difference among the harmonize, OM, and zenit groups (p=0.738, p=0.969, and p=0.940, respectively) (Figure 1-3). Similarly, no statistically significant difference was observed among the post-treatment roughness of each composite resin (p=0.843, p=0.229, and p=0.745, respectively). A significant increase in roughness was observed in harmonize immersed in the coffee solution (p=0.024) and OM immersed in the cola solution and water (p=0.021, p=0.038, respectively) (Table 2).

#### **Color Changes**

The overall color change ( $\Delta E^*$ ) mean values of the RBCs for all staining beverages are shown in Table 3. When the RBCs were compared with each other in regard to the color change in distilled water, coffee, and cola solutions, there was no significant difference between the  $\Delta E^*$  values. The color change of harmonize and OM composite resins after immersion in distilled water, orange juice, and cola was found to be significantly lower than the  $\Delta E^*$  value obtained after immersion in coffee (p<0.001).







Figure 3. Roughness-solution graph of zenit resin-based composite.

Table 2. The values of the surface roughness (R <sub>a</sub> ) of the resin-based composites						
	Beverages	Mean $\pm$ SD (before staining)	Mean ± SD (after staining)	<b>p</b> *		
	Distilled water	0.26±0.12	0.24±0.08	0.798		
	Coffee	0.21±0.07	0.29±0.11	0.024		
Harmonize	Cola	0.22±0.11	0.26±0.1	0.414		
	Orange juice	0.27±0.14	0.29±0.15	0.683		
	<b>p</b> **	0.738	0.843			
	Distilled water	0.17±0.09	0.23±0.11	0.038		
	Coffee	0.19±0.14	0.22±0.23	0.878		
Omnichroma	Cola	0.15±0.07	0.21±0.06	0.021		
	Orange juice	0.20±0.14	0.25±0.11	0.236		
	<b>p</b> **	0.969	0.229			
	Distilled water	0.18±0.1	0.18±0.08	0.906		
Zenit	Coffee	0.20±0.12	0.23±0.12	0.167		
	Cola	0.15±0.06	0.16±0.04	0.540		
	Orange juice	0.15±0.05	0.17±0.07	0.341		
	<b>p</b> **	0.940	0.745			
SD: Standard deviation, *Wild	oxon test, **Kruskal-Wallis test.					

When the color stability of the RBCs was compared after immersion in the orange juice beverage, zenit showed the highest  $\Delta E^*$  value (6.47±1.65), and this color change was considered significant when compared to harmonize and OM (Table 3). Among all RBCs, the  $\Delta E^*$ value of the distilled water was the lowest (1.26), while the  $\Delta E^*$  value of the coffee was the highest (7.04), and this difference was determined to be statistically significant (p<0.001) (Table 4). The differences among the  $\Delta L$ ,  $\Delta a$ , and  $\Delta b$  color change medians of the composite materials according to the staining beverages used were statistically significant (p=0.034, p<0.001, and p=0.001, respectively), and these differences were examined through multiple comparisons (Table 5, 6). When we examined the color change values ( $\Delta E$ ) according to the staining beverages used, the lowest value was found in the distilled water

based composites after	exposure to stanin	ig never	ages		
Resin-based composites	Beverages		Mean ± SD	р	
	Distilled water	ΔE	1.41±0.39		
Harmonize	Coffee	ΔE	7.77±2.03	~0.001	
	Cola	ΔE	2.09±2.31	<0.001	
	Orange juice	ΔE	2.87±1.89		
	Distilled water	ΔE	1.42±0.3	-0.001	
O man i shara ana	Coffee	ΔE	6.37±0.85		
Omnichroma	Cola	ΔE	2.55±2.09	<0.001	
	Orange juice	ΔE	2.99±0.76		
	Distilled water	ΔE	0.94±0.41		
Zenit	Coffee	ΔE	6.97±1.59	<0.001	
	Cola	ΔE	2.64±1.26	<0.001	
	Orange juice	ΔE	6.47±1.65		
Kruskal-Wallis test (p≤0.05),	SD: Standard deviatior	۱.			

Table 3. Comparison of the mean values of color change ( $\Delta E^*$ ) of resinbased composites after exposure to staining beverages

( $\Delta$ E=1.26) and the highest degree of color change was found in the coffee group ( $\Delta$ E=7.04) (Table 4, Figure 4).

Table 4. Comparison of color changes of resin-based composites	
according to staining beverages	

	Distilled water (n=30)	Coffee, (n=30)	Cola, (n=30)	Orange juice, (n=30)			
	Mean ± SD	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	Mean ± SD	р		
ΔL	0.46±0.77	-4.54±2.01	-0.14±1.81	-0.25±1.13	< 0.001		
∆a	0.08±0.41	0.46±0.85	0.63±1.6	-1.32±1.21	< 0.001		
∆b	0.19±0.89	4.89±1.69	1.13±1.43	3.58±2.15	< 0.001		
ΔE	1.26±0.42	7.04±1.62	2.43±1.89	4.11±2.24	< 0.001		
Krusk	Kruckal Wallic tect (p<0.05)						

Kruskal-Wallis test (p≤0.05).



Figure 4.  $\Delta E$  - solution graph of the resin-based composites.

Table 5. Comparison of the mean values of color changes ( $\Delta$ L,  $\Delta$ a,  $\Delta$ b,  $\Delta$ E) of resin-based composites

	Harmonize	Omnichroma	Zenit	
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	р
ΔL	-1.58±2.8 <sup>a,b</sup>	-0.29±2.11 <sup>b</sup>	-1.49±2.39ª	0.034
Δa	0.39±1.48 <sup>b</sup>	0.13±0.75 <sup>b</sup>	-0.64±1.45ª	< 0.001
Δb	1.4±2.75ª	2.71±1.88 <sup>b</sup>	3.23±2.37 <sup>b</sup>	0.001
ΔΕ	3.54±3.08	3.33±2.2	4.25± 2.87	0.35
Kruskal-Wallis test (p<0	.05).			

Kruskai-wains test (p≤0.05).

Table 6. Multiple comparisons of color changes of resin-based composites according to the staining beverages

Distilled water			ΔL	∆a	Δb	ΔE
Harmonize	-	Omnichroma	0.087	0.002	< 0.001	0.981
Harmonize	-	Zenit	0.753	0.007	< 0.001	0.060
Omnichroma	-	Zenit	0.041	0.924	0.022	0.041
Coffee						
Harmonize	-	Omnichroma	< 0.001	0.121	0.636	0.121
Harmonize	-	Zenit	0.234	0.141	0.636	0.540
Omnichroma	-	Zenit	< 0.001	0.022	0.142	0.540
Cola						
Harmonize	-	Omnichroma	0.857	0.050	< 0.001	0.220
Harmonize	-	Zenit	0.285	0.022	< 0.001	0.087
Omnichroma	-	Zenit	0.073	0.103	0.191	0.285
Orange juice						
Harmonize	-	Omnichroma	0.857	0.540	0.448	0.797
Harmonize	-	Zenit	0.962	0.003	0.006	0.006
Omnichroma	-	Zenit	0.730	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

Dwass-Steel-Critchlow-Fligner test (p≤0.05).

# DISCUSSION

Various factors, such as plaque accumulation, the effect of coloring foods and beverages on the composite resin structure, insufficient polymerization of materials, degree of absorption, smoking, frequency of interaction with chemical agents, and the surface roughness of the restoration can cause color changes.<sup>11</sup> The roughness and color stability of the composite resin are among the most important factors for a successful esthetic restoration.<sup>12</sup> Choosing the right shade is an important esthetic factor in the direct restoration of teeth using RBCs. For the restoration of teeth with different shades, dental material manufacturers have produced a variety of RBCs with different shades and/or translucency. One of the most important problems faced by dentists is the incompatibility of the color between the RBCs used and the natural tooth. In order to eliminate this issue, many factors, such as symmetry, color, translucency, and the surface features need to be considered.<sup>13</sup>

However, the choice of color increases the time spent in the dental unit and makes the color selection process subjective. The use of smart technologies in the production of RBCs has recently been applied in order to eliminate all these disadvantages. Manufacturers have developed a resin-based OM composite, which has been formulated based on the concept of "Wide Color Matching." OM creates shades which can cover a large number of natural tooth shades in order to reduce the time required for shade selection and also the number of composite shades needed in stock. It has been claimed that this new dental composite produced with Smart Chromatic Technology can match the tooth color thanks to its optical structure whereby the particles reflect the color of the surrounding tooth structure.<sup>14,15</sup> Therefore, in the current study, a novel single shade composite resin with spherical fillers was compared with the nanohybrid composite harmonize, which imparts a chameleon effect, and the zenit composite containing fine radiopaque porcelain fillers.

In many studies<sup>16-18</sup>, the average critical value was specified as being 0.2 µm for surface roughness. However, there is no accepted threshold value for the assessment of surface roughness to date. In a clinical study conducted by Jones et al.<sup>19</sup>, patients were able to realize when the mean surface roughness was 0.3 µm. In the present study, a significant increase in the mean roughness values of all composite resins was shown after staining (Figure 1-3). We think that this may be related to the acidity of the beverages used and the surface irregularities which occur during the finishing process. With regard to the staining beverages used, when the roughness of each composite filling material was evaluated before the treatment, no statistically significant difference was found among the harmonize, OM, and zenit groups (p=0.738, p=0.969, and p=0.940, respectively) (Table 2). An increase in roughness was observed after staining the harmonize composite in coffee and the OM composite in cola. This change might cause corrosion on the composite resin surface due to the phosphoric acid and sugars in the structure of the solution.<sup>20,21</sup> de Gouvea et al.<sup>21</sup> and Isabel et al.<sup>22</sup> determined that different long-chain organic acids in coffee can dissolve and etch restorative materials, thereby causing surface roughness in composite resins. Therefore, the surface roughness of the harmonize composite in the present study supports these results. Also, these differences can be explained by the differences in the polymer matrices, the types of fillers, and the connections between the filler and the polymer matrix.<sup>23,24</sup> It was observed that the roughness values of the OM composite material were significantly different (p=0.021) after immersion in cola, but there was no significant difference with harmonize and zenit (p=0.414 and p=0.540, respectively) (Table 2). This difference might be related to the supra nano spherical fillers of the OM composite resin. At the same time, since OM composite resin is a new product, the lack of studies on both its mechanical and esthetic performance limits the interpretation of the success of this material.

In the present study, differences in  $\Delta E$  values were detected in all samples after they were immersed in the beverages (Table 3). The composite resins tested in the present study showed a significant color change after immersion in coffee and orange juice but not in distilled water or cola (Figure 4). The highest  $\Delta E$  value was obtained with coffee ( $\Delta E=7.04$ ), followed by orange juice ( $\Delta E=4.11$ ), cola ( $\Delta E=1.84$ ), and distilled water ( $\Delta E=1.26$ ) (Table 4). Ardu et al.<sup>25</sup> reported that the amount of discoloration of RBCs varies according to the brand and content of the composite resin; red wine causes the greatest color change among the materials used as staining beverages, followed by coffee, tea, orange juice, and cola.

Studies reporting that coffee causes more discoloration than other beverages support this result.<sup>26-28</sup> Bagheri et al.<sup>29</sup> argued that although cola harms the surface integrity of composite materials due to its low pH value, it does not cause discoloration as much as coffee and tea due to the absence of yellow dye material. Sirin Karaarslan et al.<sup>30</sup> reported

Cumhur and Cevval Özkoçak Assessment of Surface Roughness, Color Stability

that there was a decrease in L-values in all of the samples after the aging process, and a decrease in L-value indicates that the samples darkened. In the present study, the ∆L\* values decreased significantly as expected in all composite groups exposed to coffee, cola, and orange juice beverages (Table 4).  $\Delta L^*$  results are consistent with many studies examining color changes in composite resins exposed to different beverages. In these studies, the effect of discoloration has been observed to result in negative  $\Delta L^*$  values for composite materials.<sup>31-33</sup> In the CIE Lab system, it is stated that the b\* coordinate is associated with yellow and blue color. A positive b\* value indicates the amount of yellow, and a negative b\* value indicates the amount of blue. Tekce et al.<sup>31</sup> found that in all composite resins, there was a shift towards the blue direction  $(-\Delta b^*)$  with distilled water exposure, and towards the yellow direction  $(+\Delta b^*)$  with black tea exposure. Poggio et al.<sup>32</sup> also found a significant increase in the  $\Delta b$  values of composite resins exposed to coffee, and their findings support our study. In another study, it was reported that yellow discolorants in coffee cause discoloration by showing low polarity, thus adhering to the surface and penetrating deeply.<sup>34</sup> In the present study, the positive  $\Delta b$  value in all samples immersed in the coffee and orange beverages was thought to be related to this situation (Table 5), with the highest  $\Delta b$  value belonging to the zenit composite ( $\Delta b$ =5.81). Although all staining beverages resulted in an increase in the  $\Delta b$  value, we noted that zenit exhibited the highest level of  $\Delta b$  value among the groups, indicating that the effects of the orange solution on zenit were greater compared to the other RBCs.

In general, RBCs with low filler contents are known to exhibit more color change.<sup>35,36</sup> In this study, when the weight ratios of the particles in their content were examined, zenit (83%) had the highest value, followed by harmonize (81%) and OM (79%) (Table 1). However, in regard to the average  $\Delta$ E values (p=0.35), the particle weight was not in line with the results of this study, and the results were not statistically significant (Table 5, 6). We examined the monomer structures of the RBCs as we believed that the close similarity in the weight percentages of the RBCs used in this study contributed to this result.

One of the most important factors affecting the degree of discoloration of RBC is the type of monomer.<sup>37</sup> RBCs with high triethylene glycol dimethacrylate (TEGDMA) content are more susceptible to discoloration than RBCs containing urethane dimethacrylate (UDMA) because UDMA is a more color-resistant monomer. This is due to the low water absorption of UDMA monomer and the sufficient degree of visible light polymerization.<sup>28,38,39</sup> When the average values in the present study were taken into account, the OM resin material containing UDMA and TEGDMA had the lowest  $\Delta E$  value (3.33), however, no statistically significant difference was observed between the  $\Delta E$  values of the RBC materials (Table 5). The highest  $\Delta E$  value was obtained in the orange juice solution in zenit ( $\Delta E=7.02$ ) (Table 3). In parallel with this result, a study by Gregor et al.<sup>40</sup> found that the nanoceramic-based Ceram.X Duo was highly affected by acidic fruit juice, and this might be due to a possible acidic attack by the polysiloxane components of the fruit juice. This explains why the nanoceramic-based zenit composite containing butanediol dimethoxylated and glass particles had the highest value.

When the RBC materials were evaluated with one another, the differences between the  $\Delta E$  color changes were not found to be statistically significant (p=0.350) (Table 5). However, a statistically significant difference was found in the evaluation of color changes of OM composite materials according to the different beverages (p<0.001)

(Table 6). These results are in line with those of Ebaya et al.<sup>5</sup> who concluded that universal shade composites have a satisfactory color and accept surface roughness. In contrast, de Abreu et al.<sup>41</sup> and Iyer et al.<sup>42</sup> reported that the color adjustment of the monochrome composite was lower than that of the multi-shade composite, and this may cause esthetic problems. Based on all these findings, the null hypothesis of the present study was partially rejected.

#### **Study Limitations**

*In vitro* studies can't fully mimic oral conditions. Clinical factors like nutritional habits, temperature, humidity, microorganisms, oral structure, saliva quantity, and tongue-cheek function are challenging to assess. Discoloration from oral beverages may be diluted by saliva. Changes in temperature and pH levels can impact dental material color and composite restoration properties. Insufficient literature exists comparing smart monochromatic resins, limiting discussions on color changes and roughness values. Additional *in vitro* and clinical studies are needed to support.

# CONCLUSION

All RBCs are prone to acceptable surface roughness after staining, and the most stable roughness values belonged to the zenit composite. Coffee had the highest adverse effect on restoration color and caused unacceptable discoloration in all three RBCs ( $\Delta$ E>3.3). The universal shade RBC OM showed acceptable values in terms of color stability and roughness and may be clinically recommended with a single-color option.

#### MAIN POINTS

- "Monochrome composite" is used to denote composite material produced with smart chromatic technology, thus providing a color match for each tooth color.
- "Omnichroma" is a monochrome composite with 260 nm spherical filler, produced with smart chromatic technology, and the ability to adapt to the color of the applied tooth.
- Good color matching eliminates the need for color selection and minimizes in-seat time and wastage of unused composite hues.
- Since color stability is an important factor in the success of treatment in aesthetic composite restorations, the stability of this novel smart monochromatic RBC material against discoloration is a matter of interest.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was not required as there was no experimental research on humans and no human teeth were used.

Informed Consent: It wasn't obtained.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: A.C., B.B.C.Ö., Concept: A.C., B.B.C.Ö., Design: A.C., B.B.C.Ö., Data Collection and/or Processing: A.C., B.B.C.Ö., Analysis and/or Interpretation: A.C., B.B.C.Ö., Literature Search: A.C., B.B.C.Ö., Writing: A.C., B.B.C.Ö.

# DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Ardu S, Duc O, Di Bella E, Krejci I. Color stability of recent composite resins. Odontology. 2017; 105(1): 29-35.
- Nasim I, Neelakantan P, Sujeer R, Subbarao CV. Color stability of microfilled, microhybrid and nanocomposite resins--an in vitro study. J Dent. 2010; 38 (Suppl 2): e137-42.
- Chakravarthy Y, Clarence S. The effect of red wine on colour stability of three different types of esthetic restorative materials: An in vitro study. J Conserv Dent. 2018; 21(3): 319-23.
- Aminoroaya A, Neisiany RE, Khorasani SN, Panahi P, Das O, Madry H, et al. A review of dental composites: Challenges, chemistry aspects, filler influences, and future insights. Compos. B: Eng. 2021; 216.
- Ebaya MM, Ali AI, El-Haliem HA, Mahmoud SH. Color stability and surface roughness of ormocer- versus methacrylate-based single shade composite in anterior restoration. BMC Oral Health. 2022; 22(1): 430.
- McCabe JF, Yan Z, Al Naimi OT, Mahmoud G, Rolland SL. Smart materials in dentistry. Aust Dent J. 2011; 56 Suppl 1: 3-10.
- Kobayashi S, Nakajima M, Furusawa K, Tichy A, Hosaka K, Tagami J. Color adjustment potential of single-shade resin composite to various-shade human teeth: Effect of structural color phenomenon. Dent Mater J. 2021; 40(4): 1033-40.
- 8. Eliezer R, Devendra C, Ravi N, Tangutoori T, Yesh S. Omnichroma: one composite to rule them all. Int J Med Sci. 2020; 7 (6): 6-8.
- Han JM, Zhang H, Choe HS, Lin H, Zheng G, Hong G. Abrasive wear and surface roughness of contemporary dental composite resin. Dent Mater J. 2014; 33(6): 725-32.
- Temizci T, Tuncdemir MT. Effects of bleaching agents on surface roughness and color change of discolored resin composites. Turkiye Klin J Dent Sci. 2021; 27(2): 261-8.
- 11. Ashok NG, Jayalakshmi S. Factors that influence the color stability of composite restorations. Int J Orofac Biol. 2017; 1(1): 1-3.
- Bozkaya S, Tekçe N, Özel E. Effects of characterization material and bleaching agent application on surface properties and color change of composite materials. Turkiye Klinikleri J Dental Sci. 2018; 24(3): 197-204 (Turkish).
- Hawary E. The art of matching anterior porcelain restorations: a clinical case report. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2014; 42(5): 319-24.
- Cruz da Silva ET, Charamba Leal CF, Miranda SB, Evangelista Santos M, Saeger Meireles S, Maciel de Andrade AK, et al. Evaluation of Single-Shade Composite Resin Color Matching on Extracted Human Teeth. ScientificWorldJournal. 2023; 2023: 4376545.
- Ahmed MA, Jouhar R, Khurshid Z. Smart Monochromatic Composite: A Literature Review. Int J Dent. 2022; 2022: 2445394.
- Bollen CM, Lambrechts P, Quirynen M. Comparison of surface roughness of oral hard materials to the threshold surface roughness for bacterial plaque retention: a review of the literature. Dent Mater. 1997; 13(4): 258-69.
- 17. Jones CS, Billington RW, Pearson GJ. The in vivo perception of roughness of restorations. Br Dent J. 2004; 196(1): 42-5; discussion 31.
- Park JW, An JS, Lim WH, Lim BS, Ahn SJ. Microbial changes in biofilms on composite resins with different surface roughness: An in vitro study with a multispecies biofilm model. J Prosthet Dent. 2019; 122(5): 493. e1-493.e8.

- Jones CS, Billington RW, Pearson GJ. The in vivo perception of roughness of restorations. Br Dent J. 2004; 196(1): 42-5; discussion 31.
- Bansal K, Acharya SR, Saraswathi V. Effect of alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages on color stability and surface roughness of resin composites: An in vitro study. J Conserv Dent. 2012; 15(3): 283-8.
- de Gouvea CV, Bedran LM, de Faria MA, Cunha-Ferreira N. Surface roughness and translucency of resin composites after immersion in coffee and soft drink. Acta Odontol Latinoam. 2011; 24(1): 3-7.
- Isabel CAC, Dominguette AAS, dos Santos SG, Ribeiro JCR, Moyses MR. Surface roughness of a resin composite. Rev Gaúcha Odontol. 2016; 64(1): 50-5.
- 23. Alghazali N, Burnside G, Moallem M, Smith P, Preston A, Jarad FD. Assessment of perceptibility and acceptability of color difference of denture teeth. J Dent. 2012; 40 Suppl 1: e10-7.
- 24. Cetin AR, Hataysal AE. Comparison of mechanical properties of two new types of composite materials. Selcuk Dent J. 2018; 5(3): 194-202.
- Ardu S, Braut V, Gutemberg D, Krejci I, Dietschi D, Feilzer AJ. A long-term laboratory test on staining susceptibility of esthetic composite resin materials. Quintessence Int. 2010; 41(8): 695-702.
- Tan BL, Yap AU, Ma HN, Chew J, Tan WJ. Effect of beverages on color and translucency of new tooth-colored restoratives. Oper Dent. 2015; 40(2): E56-65.
- 27. Barutcigil Ç, Yıldız M. Intrinsic and extrinsic discoloration of dimethacrylate and silorane based composites. J Dent. 2012; 40 Suppl 1: e57-63.
- Mundim FM, Garcia Lda F, Pires-de-Souza Fde C. Effect of staining solutions and repolishing on color stability of direct composites. J Appl Oral Sci. 2010; 18(3): 249-54.
- Bagheri R, Burrow MF, Tyas M. Influence of food-simulating solutions and surface finish on susceptibility to staining of aesthetic restorative materials. J Dent. 2005; 33(5): 389-98.
- Sirin Karaarslan E, Bulbul M, Yildiz E, Secilmis A, Sari F, Usumez A. Effects of different polishing methods on color stability of resin composites after accelerated aging. Dent Mater J. 2013; 32(1): 58-67.
- Tekçe N, Tuncer S, Demirci M, Serim ME, Baydemir C. The effect of different drinks on the color stability of different restorative materials after one month. Restor Dent Endod. 2015; 40(4): 255-61.
- Poggio C, Ceci M, Beltrami R, Mirando M, Wassim J, Colombo M. Color stability of esthetic restorative materials: a spectrophotometric analysis. Acta Biomater Odontol Scand. 2016; 2(1): 95-101.
- Domingos PA, Garcia PP, Oliveira AL, Palma-Dibb RG. Composite resin color stability: influence of light sources and immersion media. J Appl Oral Sci. 2011; 19(3): 204-11.
- Yazici AR, Celik C, Dayangaç B, Ozgünaltay G. The effect of curing units and staining solutions on the color stability of resin composites. Oper Dent. 2007; 32(6): 616-22.
- Lu H, Roeder LB, Lei L, Powers JM. Effect of surface roughness on stain resistance of dental resin composites. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2005; 17(2): 102-8; discussion 109.
- Sarafianou A, Iosifidou S, Papadopoulos T, Eliades G. Color stability and degree of cure of direct composite restoratives after accelerated aging. Oper Dent. 2007; 32(4): 406-11.
- Hervás-García A, Martínez-Lozano MA, Cabanes-Vila J, Barjau-Escribano A, Fos-Galve P. Composite resins. A review of the materials and clinical indications. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2006; 11(2): E215-20.
- Szczesio-Wlodarczyk A, Domarecka M, Kopacz K, Sokolowski J, Bociong K. An Evaluation of the Properties of Urethane Dimethacrylate-Based Dental Resins. Materials (Basel). 2021; 14(11): 2727.

- Kıvanc Yamanel. Effect of different drinks on color stability of tooth colored restorative materials. SDU J Heal Sci Inst. 2018; 9(2): 26-31.
- 40. Gregor L, Krejci I, Di Bella E, Feilzer AJ, Ardu S. Silorane, ormocer, methacrylate and compomer long-term staining susceptibility using  $\Delta E$  and  $\Delta E$  00 colour-difference formulas. Odontology. 2016; 104(3): 305-9.
- 41. de Abreu JLB, Sampaio CS, Benalcázar Jalkh EB, Hirata R. Analysis of the color matching of universal resin composites in anterior restorations. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2021; 33(2): 269-76.
- 42. Iyer RS, Babani VR, Yaman P, Dennison J. Color match using instrumental and visual methods for single, group, and multi-shade composite resins. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2021; 33(2): 394-400.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2021.3543 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(1):36-42



# What is the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Relatives of Patients Hospitalized in the Internal Medicine Clinic? A Hospital-Based Survey Study

Birgül Vural Doğru<sup>1</sup>, 
Meral Gün<sup>1</sup>, 
Esra Çavuşoğlu<sup>1</sup>, 
Fatma Tülin Çelik<sup>1</sup>, 
Eylem Türk<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine Nursing, Mersin University Faculty of Nursing, Mersin, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Mersin University Hospital, Mersin, Türkiye

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Type 2 diabetes is an important health problem and its worldwide frequency is increasing day by day. The study was conducted in order to determine the risk of type 2 diabetes in the relatives of patients hospitalized in internal medicine clinics.

MATERIALS and METHODS: This descriptive and cross-sectional study consisted of 337 relatives of patients hospitalized in the internal medicine clinics of a university hospital in the south of Türkiye. Data were collected using the "Introductory Information Form" and the "Finnish Diabetes Risk Score (FINDRISC)" Scale. The chi-squared test, t-test, the Mann-Whitney U test, and Binary logistic regression analysis were used for statistical analysis.

**RESULTS:** The mean age of the research participants was  $42.69 \pm 15.80$  years and their mean total FINDRISC score was  $9.65 \pm 5.51$ . According to the FINDRISC score, 22.3% of the participants were in the high-risk group. In One-Way analysis, the risk of diabetes was determined to be significantly high according to random capillary blood glucose levels, systolic blood pressure, marital status, educational status, and income status (p<0.005). Moreover, in logistic analysis, age, body mass index, waist circumference, physical activity and family history of diabetes had a significant effect on the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (p < 0.005).

**CONCLUSION:** About a quarter of the participants were in the high-risk group for developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years. By means of tools such as the FINDRISC, the early detection of individuals at risk of diabetes can be provided so as to take measures to prevent or delay diabetes. Keywords: Type 2 diabetes, risk factor, FINDRISC, patients' relatives, screening

# INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a chronic broad-spectrum metabolic disorder in which the organism cannot benefit from carbohydrates, lipids or proteins due to insulin deficiency or insulin-related defects and so it requires continuous medical care.1 Generally, life expectancy has increased as a result of advances in developing technology and health care systems; therefore, the incidence of chronic diseases such as diabetes has also

increased. Factors such as fast-food habits due to working conditions or time constraints, obesity, low physical activity rates, and family history also pose a risk for diabetes.<sup>2,3</sup>

Diabetes is an important public health issue with an increasing global, national, and regional prevalence. According to the 2019 data of the International Diabetes Federation, there were 463 million (9.3%) individuals aged between 20-79 diagnosed with diabetes mellitus (DM)

To cite this article: Vural Doğru B, Gün M, Çavuşoğlu E, Çelik FT, Türk E. What is the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Relatives of Patients Hospitalized in the Internal Medicine Clinic? A Hospital-Based Survey Study. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):36-42

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.V.D. 0000-0002-3546-9656; M.G. 0000-0002-0434-368X; E.C. 0000-0003-4138-7494; F.T.C. 0000-0002- 8571-9430; E.T. 0000-0003-4047-7463.



Address for Correspondence: Birgül Vural Doğru E-mail: bvuraldogru@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3546-9656

Received: 18.11.2020 Accepted: 23.05.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. in the world and this number is predicted to reach 578 million (10.2%) by 2030 and 700 million by 2045.<sup>4,5</sup> The increase in DM prevalence is highest in low- and middle-income countries (74-96%). In Europe, Türkiye ranks first in terms of DM prevalence with a rate of 11.1% (6.5 million) and almost half of diabetic individuals are not aware of their diagnosis.<sup>4,5</sup> Diabetes prevalence was reported to be 7.2% in the Turkish Diabetes Epidemiology Study (TURDEP-I) conducted nationally in our country in 2002 and it reached 13.7% with an approximately 90% increase as seen in the TURDEP-II study conducted in 2010.<sup>6,7</sup>

Approximately 90% of all diabetic individuals have type 2 diabetes and go through a prediabetic period in which the symptoms of type 2 diabetes do not appear. The rate of prediabetes is 7.5% in the world and 8.2% in Türkiye.4,5,7 These data demonstrate that DM and DMrelated complications will significantly increase both in the world and in Türkiye. Type 2 diabetes is a long-term chronic metabolic disease which progresses asymptomatically for a long period. Significant dysfunctions can develop in organs such as the heart, blood vessels, and kidneys when symptoms appear and even a secondary disease (such as myocardial infarction or kidney failure) accompanying DM can be diagnosed. Therefore, a delay in the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes may lead to increased morbidity, mortality, and health expenditures.<sup>1,4,5</sup> For this reason, it is very important to determine the disease risk and risk factors affecting the development of DM in the prediabetes period, in which symptoms are not seen, in order to prevent type 2 diabetes and/ or bring it under control.4,8-12

The development of diabetes can be prevented or delayed in these risk groups by adopting healthy living habits such as increased physical activity, healthy nutrition, and the maintenance of normal weight.<sup>1,4,8-12</sup> The relatives of patients hospitalized in internal clinics are also at risk of some diseases [such as diabetes, hypertension (HT), or obesity] due to their family history. For this reason, this study was conducted in order to determine the risk of type 2 diabetes in patients' relatives, so as to inform those at risk regarding protective measures and to direct them towards the relevant units.

The research question is given below:

1. What the risk of type 2 diabetes in the relatives of those patients hospitalized in the internal medicine clinic?

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study Design

This descriptive and cross-sectional study was conducted in order to determine the risk of type 2 diabetes in the relatives of patients hospitalized in internal medicine clinics.

#### Study Participants and Sampling

The population of this study consisted of the relatives of patients hospitalized in internal medicine clinics of a university hospital in the south of Türkiye between April, 2019 and August, 2019. The sample size was determined by power analysis taking type 1 error as 0.05 and a power of 80%. The sample consisted of 337 patient relatives.

The relatives of those patients who had not previously been diagnosed with diabetes, who were aged over 18, who had mental and cognitive competence, who did not have hearing, comprehension or speech problems, who agreed to participate in this study, and of whom standing weight and height measurements were possible were included in this study. Those who had previously been diagnosed with DM by a physician and/or did not agree to a blood sugar measurement were excluded.

#### **Data collection**

The research data were collected using the "Introductory Information Form" and the "Finnish Diabetes Risk Score (FINDRISC)" scale. The Introductory Information Form includes variables related to sociodemographic characteristics (such as age, gender, marital status and educational status).

The Diabetes Risk Score (FINDRISC) consists of eight questions regarding age, body mass index (BMI), waist circumference, exercise, vegetablefruit consumption, HT, history of high blood glucose, and family history. The total FINDRISC score ranges between 0 and 26. A total score below 7 points indicates a low 10-year risk of developing type 2 diabetes; a score between 7-11 points indicates mild risk; a score between 12-14 points indicates moderate risk; a score between 15-20 points indicates high risk; and a score above 20 points indicates very high risk.<sup>9</sup> The cut-off value of the scale was determined as 15 or above in some studies which had used FINDRISC to determine the risk of type 2 diabetes.<sup>10,11</sup> In this study, a FINDRISC score of 15 or above was defined as being "high-very high risk" for type 2 diabetes.

#### **Data Collection Procedures**

The researchers applied the questionnaire form to those patient relatives who met the inclusion criteria via a face-to-face interview method. Data collection, anthropometric, blood pressure and random capillary blood glucose measurements were performed by the researchers in the patient waiting room. Body weight was measured in a standing position to the nearest 0.1 kg on a calibrated "Seca" electronic balance, with the participants wearing light clothes and no shoes and their height was measured with a wall-mounted meter. The waist circumference of the participants was measured using a non-stretch tape measure. The participants' BMI was calculated and classified according to the World Health Organization criteria. Random blood glucose was determined from a capillary blood sample using a calibrated device from the same brand (Viva Check). The participants' blood pressure was measured from the right arm in a sitting position after a 10-15-minute rest using an appropriate cuff, a perfect aneroid mercury sphygmomanometer (Erka), and a stethoscope (Erka). Those with a FINDRISC score of 12 or above and random capillary blood glucose (RCBG) of 140 mg/dL or above were directed to a healthcare facility for further examination. After the evaluation, all participants were informed regarding their risk levels.

Prior to this research, permission was taken from the Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2019/147, date: 03.04.2019) and the Mersin University Hospital where the study was conducted. Before the implementation of the data collection forms, all of the participants were informed about the purpose of this study, and its voluntary and confidentiality principles. Their written and verbal consent were taken.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Science 22.0 (SPSS, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Numbers, percentages, means, and standard deviations were used to evaluate descriptive characteristics. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was performed to examine normal distribution conformity. The independent t-test, chi-squared test and

Fisher's exact test were used in the statistical analysis of the data. The Mann-Whitney U test was employed for variables which were not normally distributed. Binary logistic regression was performed in multivariate analysis. The goodness of fit of the model was assessed with the Hosmer-Lemeshow test (p>0.05) and the significance of the model was assessed with the Omnibus test (p<0.05). Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05 in all tests.

# RESULTS

The mean age of the 337 patients' relatives was  $42.69\pm15.80$  years. Of the participants, 58.2% were female, 65.6% were married, 61.1% had a middle income, 73% were unemployed or retired, and more than half (60.3%) had a high school degree or above.

According to the FINDRISC scores of the participants, the 10-year risk of developing type 2 diabetes was moderate in 15.7%, high in 19.6% and very high in 2.7% (Table 1). The mean total FINDRISC score was determined as being  $9.65\pm5.51$  (minimum: 0, maximum: 26). The mean FINDRISC score for women ( $10.45\pm10.00$ ) was higher than that for men ( $8.53\pm8.00$ ) (Z=-2.99, p=0.003).

In the study, those participants with a FINDRISC score of <15 were defined as the "low to moderate risk" group and those with a score of  $\geq$ 15 were defined as the "high-risk" group. When the socio-demographic characteristics of the participants were compared according to the FINDRISC group, the risk was found to be higher in those who were married (p<0.001), who were illiterate (p<0.001) and those who had low incomes (p=0.044). There was no significant difference between gender, working status, and the RCBG threshold value and the risk groups (p>0.05). Age (p<0.001), RCBG (p=0.001), BMI (p<0.001), waist circumference (p<0.001) and systolic blood pressure (p=0.002) were low in the high-risk group, being significantly higher compared to the low/moderate risk group (Table 2).

When the FINDRISC scores were compared according to the variables included in the FINDRISC calculation, the FINDRISC score and the risk level were found to increase as age, BMI and waist circumference increased. It was determined that 37.7% of those in the 55-64 age group and 47.1% of those aged over 64 were in the high-risk group in terms of type 2 diabetes and that this difference was significant (p<0.001). Of those with a BMI of >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, 55.4% were in the high-risk group and this difference was significant (p<0.001). S8.1% of men with a waist circumference of >102 cm and 36.9% of women with a waist circumference of >88 cm were in the high-risk group and this difference was significant (p<0.001) (Table 3). Those who did not exercise, who had high blood pressure or who used antihypertensive medicine, those who had blood glucose at a high levels or at the upper limit and those who

Table 1. Participants' 10-year risk of developing type-2 DM					
Risk level	n	%	Estimated number of diabetics (n)*		
Low: <7 (1/100)	119	35.3	1.1		
Mild: 7-11 (1/25)	90	26.7	3.6		
Moderate: 12-14 (1/6)	53	15.7	8.8		
High: 15-20 (1/3)	66	19.6	22		
Very high >20 (1/2)	9	2.7	4.5		
*Number of individuals who may be diagnosed with type-2 diabetes in 10 years. DM:					

Number of individuals who may be diagnosed with type-2 diabetes in 10 years. DM: Diabetes mellitus.

had a family history of diabetes were in the high risk group in terms of type 2 diabetes (p<0.001); however, there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of vegetable-fruit consumption (p=0.681) (Table 3).

The variables of age (p<0.001), BMI (p<0.001), waist circumference (p<0.003), physical activity and family history of diabetes (p<0.001) had a significant effect on the participants' risk of developing type 2 diabetes. The risk of developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years was found to be 1,347 times higher, especially in those with a family history of diabetes compared to those without. This risk was estimated to be 48 times higher in those who did not exercise than in those who did (Table 4).

# DISCUSSION

The mean age of the patients' relatives was 42.69±15.80 years and 22.3% were evaluated as being in the high or very high-risk groups in terms of the 10-year risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Moreover, the FINDRISC score and risk levels were found to increase with increasing age. Insulin resistance may develop with advanced age due to decreased physical activity, an increased incidence of accompanying chronic diseases (especially HT) and increased abdominal fat, etc.; therefore, the risk of developing type 2 diabetes may increase as well.<sup>2,7,10-13</sup> Cosansu et al.<sup>10</sup> determined the risk of developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years as being 7.9%; Kılıç et al.<sup>11</sup> as 11.5%; Awad and Alsaleh<sup>14</sup> as 17.6%; İğci and Basat<sup>15</sup> as 32% and the risk of developing type 2 diabetes was seen to increase with increasing age. Although the mean age of the patients' relatives included in our study group was low, the risk of developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years was found to be high or very high. All these results suggest that type 2 diabetes is a serious health issue.

In our study, the mean total FINDRISC score of the participants was 9.65±5.51 and the mean FINDRISC score for women (10.45±10.00) was found to be higher than that for men (8.53±8.00). This result indicates that the number of risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes is higher in women compared to men. Likewise, Cosansu et al.<sup>10</sup>, Berber et al.<sup>16</sup> and Awad and Alsaleh14 found that the FINDRISC scores of women were higher than those of men. Ural et al.<sup>17</sup> conducted a systematic meta-analysis study investigating the prevalence of obesity and waist circumference in Türkiye and found that the prevalence of both obesity (32.2% in women, 18.2% in men) and abdominal obesity (50.8% in women, 20.8% in men) was higher in women. Additionally, the TURDEP II study revealed that the prevalence of both DM and obesity were higher in women than in men.<sup>7</sup> These results may be associated with the fact that women spend more time on housework, such as cooking and cleaning due to traditional and cultural characteristics, and so cannot spend time on physical activities, thus women have a more sedentary life and become fatter.

The risk of developing type 2 diabetes was found to be higher in those patients' relatives who were married, who were illiterate and those who had low incomes. Likewise, Cosansu et al.<sup>10</sup>, Liu et al.<sup>18</sup>, Ramezankhani et al.<sup>19</sup> and Oruganti et al.<sup>20</sup> reported that individuals with low incomes and low educational levels had a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years. Furthermore, the literature revealed that those individuals with low income and educational levels also have low levels of health literacy.<sup>21,22</sup> Having a low educational level and low income can create an obstacle in accessing the appropriate resources (correct information, accessing appropriate health services, consuming

Table 2. Comparison of the socio-demogr	aphic variables with 10-year risk of de	eveloping type-2 diabetes				
Variables	Low and medium risk (<15 points), n (%)	High risk (≥15 points), n (%)	Total (n=337), n (%)	Test values		
Gender	1	1	1			
Female	146 (74.5)	50 (25.5)	196 (58.2)	X <sup>2</sup> =2.86		
Male	116 (82.3)	25 (17.7)	141 (41.8)	p=0.111		
Marital status						
Married	153 (69.2)	68 (30.8)	221 (65.6)	X <sup>2</sup> =26.89		
Single	109 (94.0)	7 (6.0)	116 (34.4)	p< <b>0.001</b>		
Educational status						
Illiterate	8 (61.5)	5 (38.5)	13 (3.9)	X <sup>2</sup> =29.73		
Primary school	77 (63.6)	44 (36.4)	121 (35.9)	p< <b>0.001</b>		
High school	61 (80.3)	15 (19.7)	76 (22.6)			
University or higher	116 (91.3)	11 (8.7)	127 (37.7)			
Working status						
Employed	75 (82.4)	16 (17.6)	91 (27.0)	X <sup>2</sup> =1.57		
Unemployed	187 (76.0)	59 (24.0	246 (73.0)	p=0.240		
Income						
Low	76 (76.0)	24 (24.0)	100 (29.7)	X <sup>2</sup> =6.22		
Middle	157 (76.2)	49 (23.8)	206 (61.1)	p=0.044		
High	29 (93.5)	2 (6.5)	31 (9.2)			
RCBG						
<140 mg/dL	239 (78.6)	65 (21.4)	304 (90.2)	X <sup>2</sup> =1.36		
≥140 mg/dL	23 (69.7)	10 (30.3)	33 (9.8)	p=0.271		
Age (mean ± SD)	39.47±15.28	53.94±12.06		Z=-7.09		
RCBG (mean $\pm$ SD)	107.58±25.38	122.22±51.86		Z=-3.40 p=0.001		
BMI (mean ± SD)	25.30±4.70	30.37±4.61		t=-8.25 p<0.001		
Waist circumference (mean $\pm$ SD)	87.21±12.84	102.45±10.22		t=-10.71 <b>p&lt;0.001</b>		
SBP (mmHg) (mean ± SD)	118.04±13.23	124.60±15.38		Z=-3.40 <b>p=0.002</b>		
DBP (mmHg) (mean ± SD)	75.76±9.55	77.14±10.88		Z=-0.68 p=0.491		
RCBG: Random capillary blood glucose, SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index, SBP: Systolic blood pressure, DBP: Diastolic blood pressure.						

healthy foods, etc.) and in using these resources effectively in order to prevent, control and manage these risk factors. Some studies have also reported that those who are married have a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes.<sup>10,19</sup> Our study results are consistent with the literature.

In our study, the FINDRISC scores and risk levels of the participants were found to increase as their BMI and waist circumferences increased. Moreover, those patients' relatives who did not exercise were determined to be in the high-risk group in terms of type 2 diabetes. Studies have reported that obesity is the most important changeable risk factor in the development of type 2 diabetes, that the age of obesity onset and the number of obese-years significantly increase the risk of type 2 diabetes, <sup>16,20,23,24</sup> and that weight loss may prevent or delay the development of type 2 diabetes.<sup>4,8,12,24</sup> In obesity, some hormones (adipokines such as resistin) produced by adipose tissue increase insulin resistance. Therefore, obesity contributes to the development of type

2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes contributes to the development of obesity.<sup>2,12,25</sup> Our study results are consistent with the literature.

Regular physical activity increases glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity and ectopic adipose tissue decreases by burning extra calories. Additionally, exercising increases glucose utilization by increasing muscle mass.<sup>2,12,26-30</sup> Similar to our findings, the literature reported that those individuals with low levels of physical activity have a high risk of developing type 2 diabetes,<sup>11,15,20,23,27</sup> and that excessive sitting contributes to the development of type 2 diabetes independent of sociodemographic characteristics and obesity.<sup>29</sup> Being consistent with the literature,<sup>10,11,13,15,20,23,27</sup> half of the participants were found to be physically inactive and above normal weight and both variables were determined as being independent risk factors in the development of type 2 diabetes.

Table 3. The distribution of FINDRISC Scale scores by FINDRISC	C variables			
Variables	Low and medium risk (<15 points), n (%)	High risk (≥15 points), n (%)	Total (n=337), n (%)	Test values
Age group				
0 point: <45	169 (92.3)	14 (7.7)	183 (54.3)	X <sup>2</sup> =50.77
2 points: 45-54	42 (62.7)	25 (37.3)	67 (19.9)	p< <b>0.001</b>
3 points: 55-64	33 (62.3)	20 (37.7)	53 (15.7)	
4 points: >64	18 (52.9)	16 (47.1)	34 (10.1)	
BMI (kg/m²)				
0 point: <25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	133 (93.0)	10 (7.0)	143 (42.4)	X <sup>2</sup> =66.60
1 point: 25-30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	96 (80.0)	24 (20.0)	120 (35.6)	p< <b>0.001</b>
3 points: >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	33 (44.6)	41 (55.4)	74 (22.0)	
Waist circumference (men)				
0 point: <94 cm	176 (95.1)	9 (4.9)	185 (54.9)	X <sup>2</sup> =84.66
3 points: 94-102 cm	60 (66.7)	30 (33.3)	90 (26.7)	p< <b>0.001</b>
4 points: >102 cm	26 (41.9)	36 (58.1)	62 (18.4)	
Waist circumference (women)				
0 point: <80 cm	69 (97.2)	2 (2.8)	71 (21.1)	X <sup>2</sup> =57.58
3 points: 80-88 cm	70 (98.6)	1 (1.4)	71 (21.1)	p< <b>0.001</b>
4 points: >88 cm	123 (63.1)	72 (36.9)	195 (57.9)	
Physical activity				
0 point: Yes	147 (88.0)	20 (12.0)	167 (49.6)	X <sup>2</sup> =20.21
2 points: No	115 (67.6)	55 (32.4)	170 (50.4)	p< <b>0.001</b>
Vegetable-fruit consumption				
0 point: Every day	172 (78.5)	47 (21.5)	219 (65.0)	X <sup>2</sup> =0.228
1 point: Not every day	90 (76.3)	28 (23.7)	118 (35.0)	p=0.681
Hypertension or use of anti-hypertensive medicine				
0 point: No	238 (85.6)	40 (14.4)	278 (82.5)	X <sup>2</sup> =56.79
2 points: Yes	24 (40.7)	35 (59.3)	59 (17.5)	p< <b>0.001</b>
History of high blood glucose				
0 point: No	239 (87.9)	33 (12.1)	272 (80.7)	X <sup>2</sup> =83.51
5 points: Yes	23 (35.4)	42 (64.6)	65 (19.3)	p< <b>0.001</b>
Family history of diabetes				
0 point: No	131 (92.9)	10 (7.1)	141 (41.8)	X <sup>2</sup> =35.70
3 points: Second-degree relatives	52 (74.3)	18 (25.7)	70 (20.8)	p< <b>0.001</b>
5 points: First-degree relatives	79 (62.7)	47 (37.3)	126 (37.4)	

BMI: Body mass index, FINDRISC: Finnish Diabetes Risk Score.

Those who had high blood pressure and used antihypertensive medicine were found to be in the high-risk group in terms of type 2 diabetes. Likewise, some relevant studies determined that those individuals who had HT and who used antihypertensive medicine had a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes than normotensive individuals.<sup>11,15,16,23</sup> Genetic characteristics, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and obesity are common risk factors for the development of both type 2 diabetes and HT.<sup>31,32</sup> Identifying at risk individuals by screening with easy-to-apply scales such as FINDRISC and raising awareness will make a significant contribution to the increased quality of life of individuals and reduced morbidity, mortality and costs.

In our study, those patients with a family history of diabetes were found to be in the high-risk group for type 2 diabetes. Our study results are consistent with those that reported that individuals who had a family history of DM had a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes compared to those with no family history.<sup>10,16,18,20,23</sup> The literature states that high carbohydrate intake causes oxidative stress and increased inflammatory response in individuals with genetic susceptibility in terms of DM, leading to the impairment of insulin sensitivity and insulin receptor signaling and so it increases the risk of developing DM in the long term.<sup>3,33,34</sup>

#### **Study Limitations**

Our results cannot be generalized as this study was conducted in only one hospital. One of the limitations of this study was that it was conducted only on the patients' relatives in the internal medicine clinic. Another limitation was that the random blood glucose level was measured from capillaries and not from plasma. However, the targeted sample size was reached and the at risk individuals were informed about

# Table 4. Binary logistic regression analysis of factors affecting the risk of developing type-2 DM

Variables	β	р	OR	95% CI
Age	0.138	0.001	1.149	1.068-1.235
BMI	0.333	0.001	1.395	1.167-1.667
Waist circumference	0.103	0.003	1.109	1.036-1.187
RCBG	0.007	0.444	1.007	0.989-1.026
SBP	0.035	0.254	1.036	0.975-1.100
Physical activity	3.883	0.001	48.587	8.683-271.860
Family history of diabetes	7.206	0.001	1347.989	70.727-25691.358
Marital status	0.606	0.534	1.833	0.272-12.374
Educational status	-0.641	0.347	0.527	0.138-2.006
Income	0.467	0.773	1.595	0.067-38.172

DM: Diabetes mellitus, BMI: Body mass index, RCBG: Random capillary blood glucose, SBP: Systolic blood pressure, CI: Confidence interval, OR: Odds ratio, Independent variables: Physical activity, family history of diabetes, marital status, educational status and income status were categorical variables and age, BMI, waist circumference, RCBG and SBP were continuous variables.

measures of protection from type 2 diabetes and directed towards the relevant units. These factors increase the strength of our study.

# CONCLUSION

FINDRISC can help in the early identification of individuals at risk of diabetes. In this study, 22.3% of the patients' relatives were found to be at high risk in terms of developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years. The risk of developing type 2 diabetes was determined to be higher in women, in those who were married, in those who had low income and low educational levels, and in those who had a family history of DM. Moreover, our study revealed that the classic risk factors such as physical inactivity, BMI, waist circumference, and HT also had an important effect on the development of type 2 diabetes. Therefore, strategies (screenings, training/counseling, guidance to related units) should be developed, especially in order to raise awareness in at risk individuals and to prevent and control the development of type 2 diabetes. Performing studies for risk screening can facilitate in taking early precautionary measures in order to prevent or delay diabetes.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- The mean score of the relatives of the patients on the FINDRISC was 9.65±5.51. This result showed that 22.3% of patients' relatives were at high risk of developing type 2 diabetes within 10 years.
- The mean FINDRISC score of women (10.45±10.00) was higher than that of men (8.53±8.00).
- Age, body mass index and waist circumference, physical inactivity and a family history of diabetes increased the risk of developing type 2 diabetes.
- The FINDRISC tool can help in the early identification of individuals at risk of diabetes and facilitate in taking early precautionary measures.
- In terms of type 2 diabetes, screening programs should be applied periodically in order to raise awareness among those individuals

with a family history of chronic diseases, in order to prevent or delay the development of DM by identifying at risk individuals.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Mersin University Hospital (approval number: 2019/147, date: 03.04.2019).

Informed Consent: Their written and verbal consent were obtained.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: B.V.D., M.G., E.Ç., F.T.Ç., E.T., Design: B.V.D., M.G., E.Ç., F.T.Ç., E.T., Supervision: B.V.D., M.G., Resource: B.V.D., M.G., E.Ç., Materials: B.V.D., M.G., E.Ç., Data Collection and/or Processing: B.V.D., M.G., E.Ç., F.T.Ç., E.T., Analysis and/or Interpretation: B.V.D., M.G., Literature Search: B.V.D., M.G., Writing: B.V.D., M.G., Critical Reviews: B.V.D., M.G., E.Ç., F.T.Ç., E.T.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- SEMT: The Society of Endocrinology and Metabolism of Turkey-2019. Clinical Practice Guideline for Diagnosis, Treatment and follow-up of diabetes mellitus and its complications-2019. Available at: http://temd.org.tr/admin/ uploads/tbl\_kilavuz/20191107144832- 2019tbl\_kilavuz7c65cb4e70.pdf /. (Accessed 02 April 2020).
- 2. Kolb H, Martin S. Environmental/lifestyle factors in the pathogenesis and prevention of type 2 diabetes. BMC Med. 2017; 15(1): 131.
- Hu X, Pan X, Ma X, Luo Y, Xu Y, Xiong Q, et al. Contribution of a first-degree family history of diabetes to increased serum adipocyte fatty acid binding protein levels independent of body fat content and distribution. Int J Obes (Lond). 2016; 40(11): 1649-54.
- 4. International Diabetes Federation, Diabetes Atlas, 9th ed.,2019, Available at: http://www.diabetesatlas.org/. (Accessed 02 April 2020).
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019; 157: 107843.
- Satman I, Yilmaz T, Sengül A, Salman S, Salman F, Uygur S, et al. Populationbased study of diabetes and risk characteristics in Turkey: results of the turkish diabetes epidemiology study (TURDEP). Diabetes Care. 2002; 25(9): 1551-6.
- Satman I, Omer B, Tutuncu Y, Kalaca S, Gedik S, Dinccag N, et al. Twelveyear trends in the prevalence and risk factors of diabetes and prediabetes in Turkish adults. Eur J Epidemiol. 2013; 28(2): 169-80.
- 8. Prevention or Delay of Type 2 Diabetes: Standards of medical care in diabetes—2020. Diabetes Care. 2020; 43(Suppl. 1): S32-S36.
- 9. Lindström J, Tuomilehto J. The diabetes risk score: a practical tool to predict type 2 diabetes risk. Diabetes Care. 2003; 26(3): 725-31.
- Cosansu G, Celik S, Özcan S, Olgun N, Yıldırım N, Gulyuz Demir H. Determining type 2 diabetes risk factors for the adults: A community based study from Turkey. Prim Care Diabetes. 2018; 12(5): 409-15.

- 11. Kılıç MM, Çetinkaya F, Kılıç Aİ. Predicting risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a population-based study. Journal of Clinical and Analytical Medicine. 2016; 6: 850-4.
- Bell K, Shaw JE, Maple-Brown L, Ferris W, Gray S, Murfet G, et al. A position statement on screening and management of prediabetes in adults in primary care in Australia. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2020; 164: 108188.
- Ephraim RK, Saasi AR, Anto EO, Adoba P. Determinants of isolated systolic hypertension among diabetic patients visiting the diabetic clinic at the Tamale Teaching Hospital, Northern Ghana. Afr Health Sci. 2016; 16(4): 1151-6.
- Awad AI, Alsaleh FM. 10-year risk estimation for type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease in Kuwait: a cross-sectional population-based study. PLoS One. 2015; 10(1): e0116742.
- 15. iğci MA, Basat O. Determine type 2 diabetes development risk in adult patients presenting to family medicine department of Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Training And Research Hospital using diabetes risk assessment test. Namık Kemal Medical Journal. 2019; 7(2): 53-60.
- Berber B, Save D, Kulak E, Dedeoğlu FN, Temel H, Yildirim M, et al. Determination of type 2 diabetes risk levels in individuals applying to family medicine. The Turkish Journal of Family Practice. 2019; 23(1): 20-30.
- Ural D, Kılıçkap M, Göksülük H, Karaaslan D, Kayıkçıoğlu M, Özer N, et al. Data on prevalence of obesity and waist circumference in Turkey: Systematic review, meta-analysis and meta regression of epidemiological studies on cardiovascular risk factors. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars. 2018; 46(7): 577-90.
- Liu X, Li Y, Li L, Zhang L, Ren Y, Zhou H, et al. Prevalence, awareness, treatment, control of type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk factors in Chinese rural population: the RuralDiab study. Sci Rep. 2016; 6: 31426.
- Ramezankhani A, Azizi F, Hadaegh F. Associations of marital status with diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality: A long term follow-up study. PLoS One. 2019; 14(4): e0215593.
- Oruganti A, Kavi A, Walvekar PR. Risk of developing Diabetes Mellitus among urban poor South Indian population using Indian Diabetes Risk Score. J Family Med Prim Care. 2019; 8(2): 487-92.
- Ozdemir H, Alper Z, Uncu Y, Bilgel N. Health literacy among adults: a study from Turkey. Health Educ Res. 2010; 25(3): 464-77.
- 22. Yılmazel G, Çetinkaya F. The importance of health literacy for community health. TAF Prev Med Bulletin. 2016; 15(1): 69-74.
- 23. Bayındır Çevik A, Metin Karaaslan M, Koçan S, Pekmezci H, Baydur Şahin S,

Kırbaş A, et al. Prevalence and screening for risk factors of type 2 diabetes in Rize, Nourtheast Turkey: findings from a population-based study. Prim Care Diabetes. 2016; 10(1): 10-8.

- Luo J, Hodge A, Hendryx M, Byles JE. Age of obesity onset, cumulative obesity exposure over early adulthood and risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2020; 63(3): 519-27.
- Okamura T, Hashimoto Y, Hamaguchi M, Obora A, Kojima T, Fukui M. Ectopic fat obesity presents the greatest risk for incident type 2 diabetes: a population-based longitudinal study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2019; 43(1): 139-48.
- Abd El-Kader S, Gari A, Salah El-Den A. Impact of moderate versus mild aerobic exercise training on inflammatory cytokines in obese type 2 diabetic patients: a randomized clinical trial. Afr Health Sci. 2013; 13(4): 857-63.
- Díaz-Martínez X, Steell L, Martinez MA, Leiva AM, Salas-Bravo C, Labraña AM, et al. Higher levels of self-reported sitting time is associated with higher risk of type 2 diabetes independent of physical activity in Chile. J Public Health (Oxf). 2018; 40(3): 501-7.
- Wang Y, Lee DC, Brellenthin AG, Eijsvogels TMH, Sui X, Church TS, et al. Leisure-Time Running Reduces the Risk of Incident Type 2 Diabetes. Am J Med. 2019; 132(10): 1225-32.
- 29. Bailey DP, Hewson DJ, Champion RB, Sayegh SM. Sitting Time and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Prev Med. 2019; 57(3): 408-16.
- Bennett DA, Du H, Bragg F, Guo Y, Wright N, Yang L, et al. Physical activity, sedentary leisure-time and risk of incident type 2 diabetes: a prospective study of 512 000 Chinese adults. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2019; 7(1): e000835.
- Petrie JR, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM. Diabetes, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease: Clinical Insights and Vascular Mechanisms. Can J Cardiol. 2018; 34(5): 575-84.
- Ferrannini E, Buzzigoli G, Bonadonna R, Giorico MA, Oleggini M, Graziadei L, et al. Insulin resistance in essential hypertension. N Engl J Med. 1987; 317(6): 350-7.
- Baig S, Shabeer M, Parvaresh Rizi E, Agarwal M, Lee MH, Ooi DSQ, et al. Heredity of type 2 diabetes confers increased susceptibility to oxidative stress and inflammation. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020; 8(1): e000945.
- 34. Alon Y, Wainstock T, Sheiner E, Pariente G. Family history of diabetes mellitus and long-term endocrine morbidity of the offspring. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2020; 36(10): 869-72.



# Fall Event Reports of a Tertiary-Care Hospital: A Retrospective Analysis

Dilara Usta<sup>1</sup>, O Neșe Altınok Ersoy<sup>2</sup>, O Fatoş Korkmaz<sup>1</sup>, O İmatullah Akyar<sup>2</sup>, O Yasemin Akyürek<sup>3</sup>, O Mine Durusu Tanriover<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Fundamentals of Nursing, Hacettepe University Faculty of Nursing, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Internal Medicine Nursing, Hacettepe University Faculty of Nursing, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of Quality Coordinatorship, Hacettepe University Adult Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>4</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Section of General Internal Medicine, Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

# Abstract

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** The current study aimed to perform a retrospective analysis of fall events in a tertiary-care hospital and identify the related risk factors.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** This research was conducted in a 1,160-bed-capacity tertiary-care hospital in Ankara between June 2016 and June 2017. The sample comprises 241 patient falls among 1,009 fall events in the facility between 2006 and 2016. Data were retrospectively collected with patient preassessment forms, daily nursing documentation forms, and daily medication order protocols. Means and standard deviations for continuous variables, frequency distributions for categorical variables, and chi-square analysis for the correlation between two categorical variables were used.

**RESULTS:** Of the patients with files investigated, 42.7% were aged from 18 to 65 years, 59.3% were male, 74.1% had a chronic disease, 40.3% could complete daily-life activities independently, and 32% were using medication that increased fall risks. Of the fall events, 29.5% occurred in the pediatric clinics, 29.5% in surgery, and 28.2% in internal medicine clinics. 35.2% occurred during the night shift, and 33% occurred within the first three days of admission. Additionally, 35.7% of the fall events happened due to not taking appropriate safety precautions, 20.2% due to not using the nurse call button, 64.7% were in the patient's room, and 32.6% were due to syncope.

**CONCLUSION:** It was revealed that the riskiest interval for patient falls is in the first three days of admission and during the night shift. While evaluating fall risks, sociodemographic, medical, environmental, and fall-related independent variables should be considered together. It is recommended that fall risk assessment tools be revised by reviewing patients' specific care needs and clinical conditions.

Keywords: Falls, nursing, patient safety, quality of healthcare, risk assessment

**To cite this article:** Usta D, Altınok Ersoy N, Korkmaz F, Akyar İ, Akyürek Y, Durusu Tanriover M. Fall Event Reports of a Tertiary-Care Hospital: A Retrospective Analysis. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):43-50

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** D.U. 0000-0003-1300-0678; N.A.E. 0000-0001-5081-4035; F.K. 0000-0003-4457-8691; İ.A. 0000-0003-3551-8099; Y.A. 0000-0002-4252-1387; M.D.T. 0000-0001-9565-4389.



Address for Correspondence: Dilara Usta E-mail: dilarausta6@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1300-0678

Received: 16.09.2020 Accepted: 24.12.2020

Copyright© 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License.

# INTRODUCTION

Falls are considered the second leading cause of accidental or unintentional deaths and appear to be a critical patient safety problem for patients admitted for treatment to healthcare institutions worldwide.<sup>1,2</sup> The World Health Organization estimated that each year 646 thousand people die from falls, and fall events mostly occur among individuals older than 65 years of age.<sup>2</sup> The National Safety Reporting System in Türkiye declared that patient falls are the most frequent patient safety issues, and falls constituted 36.2% of patient safety issues in 2018.<sup>3</sup> Falls cause lengthened hospital stays, increased rehabilitation requirements, anxiety and fear, loss of self-confidence, loss of muscle power and function, reduced activity levels and guality of life, and injured patients both physically and psychologically.<sup>4</sup> Also, falls increase health costs, creating an economic load on the healthcare system and society.<sup>5</sup> According to the United Kingdom National Health Service (NHS), falls occurring in England are estimated to cause costs of more than 2.3 billion pounds sterling to the NHS annually,<sup>6</sup> while in Türkiye, falls-related injuries cost 3,302.60 USD and 14.61 additional hospitalization days for each patient.7

Falls mostly occur due to many preventable factors linked to the individual or environment. The main factors increasing the risk of falling may be listed as old age, fall history, male gender, amputated extremities, incontinence, anti-convulsant, anti-hypertensive and tranquilizing medication use, cognitive disorders, reduced visual acuity, peripheral neuropathy, lack of muscle power, posture imbalance, vitamin D deficiency, and arthritis.<sup>8</sup> Additionally, being in an unfamiliar environment, the type of diagnosis, medical treatment, and long duration of hospital stay may increase the risk of falls.<sup>9</sup> In order to prevent falls and reduce risks, effective, comprehensive, and structured prevention programs are required.

Identifying fall risk factors and measuring risk levels is a priority for planning preventive interventions because falls are mainly predictable.<sup>10</sup> Risk identification for fall events in Türkiye commonly uses the İtaki (17 years or older) and Harizmi (0-16 years) risk assessment tools, especially developed by the Ministry of Health Quality and Accreditation in the Health and Employee Rights Department. Although the cultural adaptation has not been completed, the Hendrich II Fall Risk Scale and the Morse Fall Scale are commonly used in risk assessment. In addition to risk assessment, an analysis of fall event characteristics specific to an organization is recommended in order to determine preventable risk factors and implement holistic care strategies. In order to plan effective preventive interventions and create organizational policies, it is necessary to determine risk areas, assess risks, and monitor them. Therefore, an analysis of fall event characteristics is needed first of all. As a result, this study aimed to retrospectively analyze fall events in a tertiary-care hospital and identify the risk factors related to patient falls.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study Design and Setting

This research was completed in a tertiary-care hospital in Ankara from June 2016 to June 2017. Data were retrospectively collected from fall event report forms and patient files, and the fall event characteristics were analyzed.

The 1,160-bed hospital comprises of three main sections, namely adult, pediatric, and oncology. The adult hospital has a 730 bed-capacity

with 30 outpatient, 28 inpatient, ten intensive-care units, and two surgery rooms. In this hospital, an average of 2,700 patients currently receive care in inpatient services per month. The pediatric hospital comprises 270 beds and delivers healthcare services to an average of 11,000 inpatients annually. Finally, the oncology hospital with 160 beds provides outpatient and inpatient healthcare services to approximately 80,000 patients annually.

# Prevention and Follow-Up Protocol of the Institution Regarding Inpatient Falls

The tertiary-care hospital where this study was conducted follows a standardized protocol for all units (Fall Events Prevention and Monitoring Procedure) in collaboration with Quality Coordinators. The protocol identifies the fall types, factors increasing risks, and activities to prevent and monitor falls for the patients admitted to the organization or receiving outpatient healthcare services. As a standardized protocol, nurses assess the patients' fall risks using the Hendrich II Fall Risk Scale, plan nursing interventions, and record them on a daily documentation form. During admission to the inpatient clinics, nurses inform the patient and the family about using the nurse call buttons in the patient rooms and wards. Within the standard safety precautions framework, bed rails are elevated, and the bed is kept at the lowest level. Unused medical equipment is removed from the room, and corridors between rooms are tidied up, with devices used for mobility (e.g., wheelchairs, trolleys) being kept with wheels locked. Additionally, windows are locked. Patient rooms and corridors are well-lit, and wet-floor signs are used while cleaning the corridors and rooms.

Additionally, patients keep frequently used personal items (e.g., glasses, water) close to the bed, are encouraged to ask for help with hygiene and excretion needs, and are given information that slippers should not have slippery soles. When situations occur that may increase the risk of falls (e.g., performing interventional implementations, changes in consciousness) and during transfer between wards, fall risks are reassessed, and risk assessment is recorded on the daily nursing documentation forms. On the day of admission, the nurse responsible gives the patient a brochure about the definition, causes, and preventions that should be taken to prevent falls. It is ensured that those patients with high fall risks are accompanied by a caregiver, if possible.

#### Sampling

The research population comprised 425,751 patients admitted to adult, pediatric, and oncology clinics in the hospital from January 2006 to May 2016. Between these dates, a total of 1,009 fall events occurred and were reported to the Quality Coordinator, and the files for 666 patients who experienced fall events were available to be accessed (66%). Over this ten-year period, the ratio of patients who fell to those admitted showed that the fall frequency was 0.2%. When the tolerance value is accepted as d=0.006, the appropriate sample size was 221 according to sample calculations for the known population. Among the accessible 666 patient files, a total of 241 were randomly chosen for data collection (Figure 1).

#### **Data Collection Procedure and Forms**

When fall events occur in the hospital, a fall event report form is completed and sent to the Quality Coordinator by the nurses. The Quality Coordinator records the patients' file numbers on a list. This



list containing patients who fell over the ten-year period was obtained from the coordinator, and the patient files were obtained from the hospital archive between May and July 2016 by the researchers. The patient preassessment forms, daily nursing documentation forms, and daily medication order protocols were investigated, and the data were recorded onto a Microsoft Excel file.

#### Sociodemographic Data and Fall Event Characteristics

Sociodemographic data and fall event features were recorded using a data collection form created by the researchers after a literature review<sup>7,11,12</sup> and based on the institution's fall event report form. This form includes a total of twenty-two questions about age, gender, shift and day of the week when the fall occurred, fall history of the patient, fall risk assessment tool scores for the day of the fall, admission ward, the type of admission, the presence of chronic disease, the type of chronic disease, the use of medications which may cause falls (antiepileptics and benzodiazepine group medications in medication groups on the Hendrich II Risk Assessment Tool), the independence level for activities of daily living (ADL), the use of assistive devices and the type of device used, the limitation status of the patient, precautions not taken before the fall event, the location of fall, the type of fall, injury status and type if present, the day of admission and the number of days since the patient was admitted.

#### Dependence Level in ADL

Data related to ADL were obtained from the standard patient preassessment form used in the hospital. This form defines these activities as eating/drinking, personal hygiene, balanced walking, getting up from bed, turning in bed, and toilet requirements under "Daily living activities and functional assessment." The patient's ability to complete activities is assessed as independent, semi-dependent, or dependent.

#### **Fall Risk Assessment**

The Hendrich II Fall Risk Assessment Tool was developed by Hendrich et al.<sup>13</sup> in 1995. The highest point obtainable from this scale is 20, with five points and above being assessed as high risk. The Hendrich II Fall Risk Assessment Tool comprises seven factors; namely confusion/ disorientation, symptomatic depression, changes in excretion, dizziness, gender, anti-epileptic and benzodiazepine group medication intake, and chair stand test.<sup>13</sup>

#### **Ethical Consideration**

The study was approved by the Hacettepe University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2016-14-GO 16/45-32). Informed consent was not required due to the retrospective nature of this study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was completed with the IBM SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) Statistics Data Editor 23 (United States of America) program. Mean  $\pm$  standard deviation was used for continuous variables, while frequency distribution was used for categorical variables. Chi-square analysis was used to investigate the relationship between two categorical variables. In the 95% confidence interval, p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

# RESULTS

Within the scope of this research, 241 files were analyzed. In this sample, it was observed that there were deficiencies in recording the data for some independent variables. For this reason, the numbers of independent variables for which data could be accessed among the 241 patient files are given in parentheses as "(n=...)" in the tables. The data regarding the patients' sociodemographic and clinical characteristics are shown in Table 1, and the characteristics related to falls are presented in Table 2.

When fall risk levels of those patients who fell were assessed according to the Hendrich II scale, there were no statistically significant differences found according to age groups ( $X^2=2,335$ ; p=0.331), gender ( $X^2=0.718$ ; p=0.397), use of medication increasing fall risk ( $X^2=0.206$ ; p=0.650) or the presence of chronic disease ( $X^2=0.351$ ; p=0.554). A statistically significant difference was identified between the assessed fall risk levels of those patients with the ability to complete daily living activities independently ( $X^2=6,029$ ; p=0.049).

#### DISCUSSION

Admission to hospital for any reason brings with it the risk of falls. The current study retrospectively analyzed fall events in a tertiarycare hospital. This analysis dealt with the fall events occurring in healthcare institutions and the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants. It is expected that the findings of this study may contribute to planning individualized care regarding fall prevention in order to improve patient safety in the short term.

This study found that fall events mostly occurred in the surgery and internal medicine clinics. Mata et al.<sup>14</sup> suggested that most adult patients in the postoperative period were evaluated as having high fall risks. In contrast, Hajduchová et al.<sup>15</sup> found that almost half of the patients who fell were admitted to internal medicine units.

Table 1. Distribution of patients' sociodemographic and characteristics (n=241)	clinical	
Sociodemographic characteristics	n	%
Age		
1-3	48	19.9
4-17	23	9.6
18-65	103	42.7
66-95	67	27.8
Gender		
Male	143	59.3
Female	98	40.7
Unit of admission (n=161)		
Outpatient clinic	119	73.9
Emergency service	37	23.0
Transferred from external center	5	3.1
Chronic disease (n=135)		
No	35	25.9
Yes	100	74.1
Type of chronic disease <sup>*</sup> (n=154)		
Cardiovascular system diseases	72	46.9
Type 2 diabetes	23	14.9
Malignancy	5	3.2
Hemiplegia	1	0.6
Arthritis	1	0.6
Other**	52	33.8
Ability to complete daily living activities independently (n=	149)	
Independent	60	40.3
Semi-dependent	41	27.5
Dependent	48	32.2
Use of assistive devices (n=142)		
No	120	84.5
Yes	22	15.5
Presence of invasive devices (n=144)		
No	35	24.3
Yes	109	75.7
Type of invasive device <sup>***</sup> (n=147)		
Peripheral venous catheter	88	59.9
Central venous catheter	28	19.0
Urinary catheter	25	17.0
Hemovac drain	5	3.4
Nasogastric tube	1	0.7
Physical restraint status (n=156)		
No	148	94.9
Yes	8	5.1
Use of medications increasing fall risk (n=150)		
No	102	68.0
Yes	48	32.0

\*Multiple data, one patient may have more than one chronic disease, \*\*Anemia, asthma, goiter, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic renal failure, epilepsy, hyperlipidemia, benign prostate hyperplasia, hyperparathyroidism, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson, cirrhosis, hypothyroidism, \*\*\*Multiple data, one patient may have more than one invasive device.

Table 2 Distribution of the characteristics related to fall events $(n=241)$				
Characteristics related to fall events	n	) %		
		70		
Pediatrics	71	20.5		
Surgical	71	29.5		
	68	29.5		
	15	6.2		
Parchistry	10	4.1		
Intensive care	6	2.5		
Assessment of fall risk (n=139)	0	2.5		
High risk (5 noints and above)	93	66.9		
No risk (1-4 noints)	46	33.1		
Shift when fall occurred (n=230)	10	55.1		
Morning (08 00-16 00)	73	30.5		
Afternoon (16.00-24.00)	82	34.3		
Night (24.00-08.00)	84	35.2		
Weekday when fall occurred	т	55.2		
Monday	34	14.1		
Tuesday	37	15.4		
Wednesday	44	18.3		
Thursday	29	12.0		
Friday	35	14.5		
Saturday	33	13.7		
Sunday	29	12.0		
Precautions not taken to prevent fall* (n=90)				
No appropriate safety precautions were taken	32	35.7		
Not using the nurse call buttons	18	20.2		
Caregiver's lack of attention	14	15.4		
No appropriate physical restraint precautions were taken	8	8.9		
Wet floor	5	5.5		
Insufficient information given to patient/caregiver	5	5.5		
Unnecessary material left in the clinical area	3	3.3		
Lack of assessment of fall risk	1	1.1		
Not specified	4	4.4		
Location of fall (n=220)				
Patient room	156	70.9		
Bathroom	34	15.5		
Ward corridor	22	10.0		
Outpatient clinic	6	2.7		
Surgery room	2	0.9		
Type of fall (n=230)				
Syncope	75	32.6		
Fall from bed/trolley	65	28.3		
Foot slip	49	21.3		
Fall from chair/wheelchair	16	7.0		
Loss of balance when walking	10	4.3		
Fall from mother's lap	5	2.2		
Tripping (e.g., cable)	4	1.7		
Not specified	6	2.6		

Usta et al. Fall Event Reports of a	a Tertiary-Care Hospita
-------------------------------------	-------------------------

Table 2. Continued				
Characteristics related to fall events	n	%		
Injury due to fall (n=92)				
None	63	68.5		
Present	29	31.5		
Type of injury (n=29)				
Head injury	15	51.8		
Pain in hip	3	10.3		
Not specified	11	37.9		
Admission interval (in days) (n=165) (M=17)				
0-3	14	8.5		
4-7	15	9.1		
8-15	45	27.2		
16-30	48	29.1		
31-159	43	26.1		
Day of fall since admission (n=185) (M=6)				
0-3	61	33.0		
4-7	49	26.5		
8-14	29	15.7		
15-107	46	24.8		
*Multiple data, more than one precaution may be related to one event.				

Although there are different perspectives, it is argued that the fall risks differ due to the different characteristics of surgical and internal medicine patients. Accordingly, surgical patients need to be identified in the high fall-risk group due to lengthened preoperative fasting, the narcotic analgesics used in the postoperative period, and physical activity limitations. Patients admitted to internal medicine clinics have fall risk due to the requirement for long durations of hospital care and having chronic disease diagnoses, which lead to physical movement limitations due to effects on muscle, nerve, and circulation systems. Therefore, when assessing the fall risks of patients admitted to internal medicine and surgery clinics, it is necessary to consider individuals with chronic diseases and factors which may increase their risk of falling in the pre- and post-operative periods.<sup>14,16</sup>

When reporting fall events, recording time intervals allows health professionals to determine when patients frequently fall and are exposed to most risks during the day. In addition, this enables health professionals to take suitable precautions to prevent falls. Majkusová and Jarošová<sup>16</sup> reported that surgical patients fell mostly during the night shift, while McKechnie et al.<sup>17</sup> reported that fall events occurred during the day and evening shifts. Moreover, in long-term departments, it was suggested that falls frequently occurred in the afternoon when the patients were visited by their families/relatives.<sup>16</sup> In our study, most falls were identified as occurring on the night shift between 24.00 and 08.00. This situation is possibly due to the lower number of staff nurses working the night shift than the day and evening shifts. Also, attempting to go unassisted for urgent toilet requirements without disturbing the nurse or caregiver, the short-duration loss of orientation, or orthostatic hypotension occurring after waking may lead to falls at night.

Our study findings showed that patients most frequently fell within the first three days of admission. Hajduchová et al.<sup>15</sup> noted that falls were mostly reported in the first week of admission. It is suggested that this situation is due to the patient experiencing difficulty orienting to the hospital environment in the early period of admission and using devices they are unfamiliar with. Moreover, our findings showed that lengthened admission increased the risk of falling. A prolonged hospital stay is among the most critical risk factors for fall events. Majkusová and Jarošová<sup>16</sup> indicated that long-term patients suffered the most falls compared to other inpatient units. Hospitalization for an extended period may likely cause loss of muscle tone and result in patient facing weakness and being unable to prevent themselves from falling.

In this study, it was identified that falls most frequently occurred in the patient's room. Similarly, it has been reported that fall events frequently occur in environments such as the patient's room, corridors, and bathroom, forming the patient's environment in the hospital setting.<sup>12</sup> Abreu et al.<sup>18</sup> stated that falls were most common in the patient's room, occurring when the nurse was absent and the patient was attempting to stand up without assistance. Also, the patient room is the place where the patient spends most of their time, and falls from bed are frequently experienced. Consequently, it is considered that patients experience difficulties orientating to the room environment during admission and especially to safety precautions related to the bed.

Our study revealed different causes of falls in adults compared to pediatric patients. Adult patients most frequently fall due to syncope, standing up from the bed/trolley, or foot slip. In contrast, pediatric patients frequently fall when standing from the bed/trolley or chairs. Studies conducted with adult patients showed that patients in the hospital have similar causes of falling, which aligns with our results. It was reported that adult patients' most common activities during falls were standing up from the bed, ambulating, going to the toilet, and moving to a chair.<sup>16</sup> When the causes of falls in pediatric patients were investigated, falls were mostly observed due to broken rails, a lack of attention by the family, or not educating the child's primary caregiver about falls.<sup>19</sup> Chang et al.<sup>20</sup> revealed that falls occurred among the 0-6 age group due to jumping out of the bed or lowering the bed railings. Therefore, it is possible to say that interventions to reduce fall risks differ depending on the age groups, and a proper arrangement of the hospital environment is required.

It is known that falls and their related mortality-morbidity rates are higher in childhood and at older ages. However, this study did not identify a significant correlation between age and fall risk levels, with patients who fell found to be middle-aged or older on average. Variations occurring with older age, such as reduced physiological functions and the limitations of daily living activities, an increase in multiple medication use, and chronic diseases, are independent factors increasing fall risk.<sup>20</sup> Additionally, in this study, nearly one-third of fall events were observed in pediatric patients. As pediatric patients are still in the development stage for neuromotor, physical, cognitive, and psychosocial processes, falls occur as a part of this development process and are different from the adult ages.<sup>21</sup> For example, learning to walk at an early age and running while playing leads to falls in children. Not requesting help from caregivers or nurses and meeting hygiene and toiletry requirements due to the excessive importance attached to privacy are among the risk factors for falls adolescents. As a result, when assessing fall risks, focusing on the specific risk factors related to the individual's developmental period is recommended.

In the current study, more than half of the patients with high fall risk were men, but gender was not a significant variable for fall risk. Results have been put forward arguing both for and against gender being a fall risk factor. Majkusová and Jarošová<sup>16</sup> indicated that falls are expected to happen among females older than 65 due to their higher age and higher hospitalization rate; in contrast, Pereira et al.<sup>22</sup> emphasized high fall rates among the male population. Tanrikulu and Sari<sup>23</sup> found no correlation between gender and fall risks, and our results are similar to their research. However, it is essential to consider that causes of falls may differ according to gender characteristics, such as hearing loss in males and urinary incontinence, living alone, and repeated fall history being associated with increased fall risks.<sup>24</sup>

Functional insufficiency in individuals with chronic disease results in an increased risk of falls. In our study, though most patients had chronic disease diagnoses, no statistically significant difference was found between this situation and fall risk points. In a cross-sectional study, Sibley et al.25 revealed that elderly patients with at least one or more chronic disease diagnoses had an increased risk of falls. Our study revealed that half of the patients with chronic disease were diagnosed with hypertension and/or diabetes. Gangavati et al.<sup>26</sup> identified that repeated fall risk was 2.5 times higher in elderly patients with hypertension and uncontrolled blood pressure. Similarly, Sibley et al.<sup>25</sup> revealed that patients with hypertension had significantly higher fall risk. Acute orthostatic falls in blood pressure reduce blood flow to the brain, and temporary cerebral ischemia creates syncope-related falls. Findings from a meta-analysis by Yang et al.<sup>27</sup> showed increased fall risks for diabetes patients. Berra et al.28 concluded that increased fall risks in diabetic individuals were due to irregularities in blood glucose levels. In line with these results, it was revealed that determining specific risk factors of various chronic diseases is essential.

According to our study, more than half of falling patients could not complete ADL independently, and a statistically significant correlation was found between dependence levels and fall risk. Hajduchová et al.<sup>15</sup> concluded that more than half of the patients who fell were moderately or highly dependent according to the Barthel ADL index. Similarly, de Souza et al.<sup>29</sup> revealed that fall risks increased as the need for ambulation support increased. Dependence for ADL occurs when individuals are faced with environmental dangers due to loss of muscle power and physical limitations, which increases fall risks. Dependence in ADL is revealed by the individual's need to use assistive devices. In our study, some patients who fell were identified as using assistive devices (glasses, walkers/walking sticks, or extremity protheses). Choi and Lee<sup>30</sup> emphasized that most individuals requiring physical support when walking had a high risk of falling. Similarly, a weakness of visual acuity is among the risk factors, and nearly one-third of falls are reported to be due to visual impairments.<sup>31</sup> Additionally, some of our patients were found to fall due to not using the nurse call button. Fall events occurring in the patients' rooms were especially related to patients who did not receive assistance when standing up from the bed/chair or going to the toilet. It is known that the use of the nurse call button when attempting to leave a bed or a chair reduces fall events.32

Medications that increase fall risks are listed as anti-hypertensive agents, diuretics, B blockers, sedatives and hypnotics, neuroleptics and antipsychotics, antidepressants, benzodiazepines, narcotics, and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.<sup>33</sup> Signorovitch et al.<sup>34</sup> highlighted that the use of non-insulin anti-diabetic drugs is significantly associated with higher fall risks by resulting in hypoglycemia. It was also shown that polypharmacy had become a critical issue among elderly patients, contributing to their hospital falls.<sup>35</sup> On the one hand, the Hendrich II

risk evaluation tool only defines anti-epileptics and benzodiazepines as medications that increase fall risks. On the other hand, in our study, nearly one-third of patients were using at least one of the medications included in the two groups stated in this risk tool, and there was no statistically significant difference between medication use and fall risk scores. Thus, assessment tools need to include the other medication groups that may increase fall risks.

#### Study Limitations

In our study, some limitations are present due to inaccessible data from the retrospective study design. Consequently, insufficient fall precautions may have been derived from inadequate written records about interventions in the past.

# CONCLUSION

Fall events are a crucial public health issue for all age groups and are commonly used as healthcare service quality indicators. In this study, fall events mostly occurred in the internal medicine and surgery clinics between the hours of 24.00 and 08.00, with most patients falling in their room due to syncope, rising from their bed, or foot slip. Fall events occurred most frequently in the first three days of admission, with the risk of falls observed to increase as admission duration lengthened. When the causes of falls were investigated, patients frequently did not take appropriate safety precautions and did not use the nurse call button. Those patients who fell were mainly in the middle-aged group and male and could not complete their daily living activities independently, had at least one chronic disease diagnosis, and were assessed as having high fall risk.

On this basis, we conclude with the following recommendations: individuals with chronic diseases affecting the muscle, nerve, and circulation systems should be closely monitored; patients in surgery clinics should have factors that increase risk in the pre- and postoperative periods defined in detail and included in scale tools; especially those patients at high risk should be assessed at intervals during the night shift; all patients should be accepted as high risk during care interventions on the first three days of admission; family members should be supported in taking an active role in the patient's room, and orientation in the ward and medication groups forming a risk factor for falls should be defined in detail and included in risk assessment tools.

#### MAIN POINTS

- Falls are critical in causing physiological and psychological damage to individuals by reducing their quality of life.
- Patient falls have become an essential indicator of healthcare service quality.
- A set of sociodemographic, medical, environmental, and fall-related independent variables should be considered when evaluating fall risks.
- Fall risk assessment tools should be revised by reviewing the patient's specific care needs and clinical conditions.

**Acknowledgment:** We would like to present our special thanks to Research Assistant Şeyma Adıbelli for contributing to the data collection process.

# **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Hacettepe University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2016-14-GO 16/45-32).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was not necessary due to the retrospective nature of this study.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Design: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Supervision: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Fundings: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Materials: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Data Collection and/or Processing: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Analysis and/or Interpretation: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Literature Search: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., M.D.T., Critical Review: D.U., N.A.E., F.K., İ.A., Y.A., Y.A., M.D.T.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Murray E, Vess J, Edlund BJ. Implementing a Pediatric Fall Prevention Policy and Program. Pediatr Nurs. 2016; 42(5): 256-9.
- 2. World Health Organization. Falls. World Health Organization; 2018.
- Safety Reporting System. National satistics and analysis report. Ankara: National Safety Reporting System. 2018.
- Hallford DJ, Nicholson G, Sanders K, McCabe MP. The Association Between Anxiety and Falls: A Meta-Analysis. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2017; 72(5): 729-41.
- Cameron ID, Dyer SM, Panagoda CE, Murray GR, Hill KD, Cumming RG, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018; 9(9): CD005465.
- Improvement N. The incidence and costs of inpatient falls in hospitals. London: NHS Improvement. 2017.
- Baris VK, Intepeler SS, Yeginboy EY. The Cost of Serious Patient Fall-Related Injuries at Hospitals in Turkey: A Matched Case-Control Study. Clin Nurs Res. 2018; 27(2): 162-79.
- Hempel S, Newberry S, Wang Z, Booth M, Shanman R, Johnsen B, et al. Hospital fall prevention: a systematic review of implementation, components, adherence, and effectiveness. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013; 61(4): 483-94.
- Severo IM, Almeida Mde A, Kuchenbecker R, Vieira DF, Weschenfelder ME, Pinto LR, et al. Fatores de risco para quedas em pacientes adultos hospitalizados: revisão integrativa [Risk factors for falls in hospitalized adult patients: an integrative review]. Rev Esc Enferm USP. 2014; 48(3): 540-54.
- Miake-Lye IM, Hempel S, Ganz DA, Shekelle PG. Inpatient fall prevention programs as a patient safety strategy: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2013; 158(5 Pt 2): 390-6.
- 11. Mazur K, Wilczyński K, Szewieczek J. Geriatric falls in the context of a hospital fall prevention program: delirium, low body mass index, and other risk factors. Clin Interv Aging. 2016; 11: 1253-61.

- 12. Kisacik OG, Cigerci Y. Characteristics of inpatient falls in a hospital setting: A retrospective study from Turkey. Int J Caring Sci. 2019; 12(2): 768.
- Hendrich AL, Bufalino A, Groves C. Validation of the Hendrich II Fall Risk Model: The imperative to reduce modifiable risk factors. Appl Nurs Res. 2020; 53: 151243.
- 14. Mata LRFD, Azevedo C, Policarpo AG, Moraes JT. Factors associated with the risk of fall in adults in the postoperative period: a cross-sectional study. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem. 2017; 25: e2904.
- Hajduchová H, Brabcová I, Tóthová V, Bártlová S, Doseděl M, Malý J, et al. Factors associated with falls in hospitals: Outcomes for nursing care. Kontakt. 2019; 21(2): 114-20.
- Majkusová K, Jarošová D. Falls risk factors in an acute-care setting: A retrospective study. Cent Eur J Nurs Midwifery. 2014; 5(2): 47-53.
- McKechnie D, Fisher MJ, Pryor J. The characteristics of falls in an inpatient traumatic brain injury rehabilitation setting. J Clin Nurs. 2016; 25(1-2): 213-22.
- 18. Abreu C, Mendes A, Monteiro J, Santos FR. Falls in hospital settings: a longitudinal study. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem. 2012; 20(3): 597-603.
- Tung TH, Liu MC, Yang JY, Syu WY, Wu HP. Useful methods in preventing accidental falls from the bed in children at the emergency department. Eur J Pediatr. 2009; 168(11): 1323-6.
- 20. Chang CM, Lin HF, Chiang HH. A study on the relationship between age and inpatient falls in Taiwan. Int J Nurs Pract. 2015; 21(5): 605-11.
- 21. Parker C, Kellaway J, Stockton K. Analysis of Falls within Paediatric Hospital and Community Healthcare Settings. J Pediatr Nurs. 2020; 50: 31-6.
- 22. Pereira CL, Baptista F, Infante P. Men older than 50 yrs are more likely to fall than women under similar conditions of health, body composition, and balance. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2013; 92(12): 1095-103.
- 23. Tanrikulu F, Sari D. Determining patients' risk of falling in the emergency department. Int J Caring Sci. 2017; 10(2): 907-14.
- 24. Gale CR, Cooper C, Aihie Sayer A. Prevalence and risk factors for falls in older men and women: The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Age Ageing. 2016; 45(6): 789-94.
- Sibley KM, Voth J, Munce SE, Straus SE, Jaglal SB. Chronic disease and falls in community-dwelling Canadians over 65 years old: a population-based study exploring associations with number and pattern of chronic conditions. BMC Geriatr. 2014; 14: 22.
- Gangavati A, Hajjar I, Quach L, Jones RN, Kiely DK, Gagnon P, et al. Hypertension, orthostatic hypotension, and the risk of falls in a communitydwelling elderly population: the maintenance of balance, independent living, intellect, and zest in the elderly of Boston study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011; 59(3): 383-9.
- Yang Y, Hu X, Zhang Q, Zou R. Diabetes mellitus and risk of falls in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Age Ageing. 2016; 45(6): 761-7.
- 28. Berra C, De Fazio F, Azzolini E, Albini M, Zangrandi F, Mirani M, et al. Hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia are risk factors for falls in the hospital population. Acta Diabetol. 2019; 56(8): 931-8.
- 29. de Souza AB, Röhsig V, Maestri RN, Mutlaq MFP, Lorenzini E, Alves BM, et al. In hospital falls of a large hospital. BMC Res Notes. 2019; 12(1): 284.
- Choi KW, Lee IS. [Fall risk in low-income elderly people in one urban area]. J Korean Acad Nurs. 2010; 40(4): 589-98.
- 31. Oliver D, Healey F, Haines TP. Preventing falls and fall-related injuries in hospitals. Clin Geriatr Med. 2010; 26(4): 645-92.
- 32. Shorr RI, Chandler AM, Mion LC, Waters TM, Liu M, Daniels MJ, et al. Effects of an intervention to increase bed alarm use to prevent falls in hospitalized patients: a cluster randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2012; 157(10): 692-9.

- de Jong MR, Van der Elst M, Hartholt KA. Drug-related falls in older patients: implicated drugs, consequences, and possible prevention strategies. Ther Adv Drug Saf. 2013; 4(4): 147-54.
- 34. Signorovitch JE, Macaulay D, Diener M, Yan Y, Wu EQ, Gruenberger JB, et al. Hypoglycaemia and accident risk in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus treated with non-insulin antidiabetes drugs. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2013; 15(4): 335-41.
- Masumoto S, Sato M, Maeno T, Ichinohe Y, Maeno T. Potentially inappropriate medications with polypharmacy increase the risk of falls in older Japanese patients: 1-year prospective cohort study. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2018; 18(7): 1064-70.

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2021.2021-51 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(1):51-57

# Noise-Induced Cochlear Synaptopathy in Dental Prosthesis **Students**

# Bünyamin Çıldır<sup>1</sup>, Suna Tokgöz-Yılmaz<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Language and Speech Therapy, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University Faculty of Health Sciences, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Audiology, Ankara University Faculty of Health Sciences, Ankara, Türkiye

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Noise causes damage to cochlear hair cells and loss of sensitivity for low volume sounds. Hidden hearing loss is a functional disorder which can be seen in individuals with noise exposure history but no permanent threshold loss. We aimed to determine which tests can be used to diagnose hidden hearing loss in dental prosthesis associate degree students with normal hearing who are exposed to noise.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Ninety individuals between the ages of 19-35 whose pure tone average was within normal limits were included in our study. These individuals were divided into two groups according to their noise exposure score as the high-risk group (n=45) and the low-risk group (n=45). Auditory brainstem response (ABR) and amplitude modulation detection tests were performed with and without background noise after standard audiometric tests and otoacoustic emission suppression measurement.

**RESULTS:** The otoacoustic emission suppression values of those individuals in the high-risk group were found to be significantly lower than those in the low-risk group. As the stimulus level increased, the differentiations (amplitude increase and latency decrease) in the first wave of ABR without background noise were observed in those individuals in the low-risk group. The recognition threshold score which was modulated to the amplitude was found to be lower in the presence of background noise than in the absence of background noise for all participants.

CONCLUSION: Although noise exposure does not result in any permanent differences in hearing thresholds, the otoacoustic emission suppression values, the differentiations of the first wave and the amplitude modulation detection values can provide useful information in the diagnosis of hidden hearing loss in individuals with normal hearing.

Keywords: Hidden hearing loss, auditory brainstem response, otoacoustic emission suppression, amplitude modulation detection

# INTRODUCTION

Exposure to high intensity noise may cause unwanted sounds which mask speech and communication, as well as the long-term exposure to such noises causing physical (such as temporary hearing loss, increased blood pressure) and mental effects (such as stress, anxiety, mental difficulty).1-3 These effects may vary depending on the duration of exposure to noise, the distance to the source and the sensitivity of the person.<sup>1,3</sup>

The loss of the synaptic connection between the inner hair cell and spiral ganglion cells after noise exposure is the first pathological finding of temporary hearing loss.<sup>4</sup> This deterioration is called "synaptopathy" due to the connection loss between the lesion area inner hair cell ribbon synapses and afferent hearing nerves. It is also known as "hidden hearing loss" since it does not reach hearing thresholds.<sup>4</sup>

Hidden hearing loss is a functional disorder which can be seen in individuals with noise exposure history but no permanent threshold

To cite this article: Cıldır B, Tokgöz-Yılmaz S. Noise-Induced Cochlear Synaptopathy in Dental Prosthesis Students. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):51-57

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.C. 0000-0002-5632-1650; S.T.Y. 0000-0002-4656-099X.



Address for Correspondence: Bünyamin Çıldır E-mail: bunyamin.cildir@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5632-1650

Received: 18.02.2021 Accepted: 13.06.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. loss.<sup>5</sup> We can investigate functional distortions in outer hair cells (OHC) by determining the lowest discernible hearing threshold levels in a given frequency region with the use of pure tone audiometry.<sup>6</sup> Hidden hearing loss is assumed to affect low-spontaneous rate fibres with high thresholds, which are responsible for encoding moderate to high noise intensity.7 In this pathology which occurs after noise exposure, due to the peripheral loss of hearing nerve fibres with a high threshold and low spontaneous rate, no deterioration occurs in low-intensity sounds.7 High-intensity sounds, consistent with low SR fibre loss, are associated with non-abnormal results.8 It has been indicated that hidden hearing loss cannot be determined by audiometric results but there is a decrease in the amplitude of wave I of the auditory brainstem responses (ABR) to moderate-to-high intensity stimuli,<sup>8</sup> and amplitude modulation detection values.<sup>9</sup> In the study by Liberman et al.<sup>10</sup>, normal hearing individuals with low-risk of noise exposure and normal hearing individuals with high-risk were compared in terms of cochlear synaptopathy, and the amplitude of wave I of the ABR responses was not found to be decreased in the high-risk group. In another study conducted on individuals with and without tinnitus, it was reported that the amplitudes of individuals with tinnitus decreased more with wave I of the ABR compared to the group without tinnitus.<sup>11</sup> Dentists or dental assistants can be exposed to different noise levels and types while working in dental offices or laboratories.12

In our study, we aimed to determine whether the ABR and distortion suppression of otoacoustic emissions and amplitude modulation detection (AMDT) tests and speech in noise tests would be useful in determining whether there is latent hearing loss in individuals with dental prosthesis associate degrees with normal hearing. At the same time, the results of dental prosthesis associate degree students (dental auxiliaries) were compared with the results of individuals with normal hearing who were not exposed to noise, and the damage caused by noise exposure to the hearing system was evaluated.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

Our study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University and implemented according to the Helsinki Declaration (approval number: 56/15). The individuals who applied for occupational health check-ups were informed about the aims of this study and consent was obtained from those who agreed to participate.

Participants: A total of 90 individuals, who were aged between 19-35 years (23.45±3.67) took part in this study. Dental prosthesis associate degree individuals with high-risk (n=45; noise exposure score=5 or above) exposed to noise between the ages of 19-35 were compared with low-risk normal hearing low noise exposure (n=45; noise exposure score=4 or below) according to their one-minute noise questionnaire score. Our study was conducted with Ankara University, Vocational High School, dental prosthesis associate degree students and undergraduate students with normal hearing and no history of noise exposure. This study was conducted in Ankara University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Audiology between 2016-2018. Individuals who were over 18 years and with no hearing loss history, neurological disorders, or tinnitus were included in this study (hearing thresholds ≤20 dB HL at 125 to 12,000 Hz). Four participants with hearing thresholds higher than 20 dB HL were excluded from this study. After otoscopy, all participants were tested by pure tone audiometry, immitansmetry, speech in noise, Distortion Product Otoacoustic Emission (DPOAE) suppression measurement, auditory brain stem response, and

AMDT with and without background noise. The measurements of all participants were made when the schools entered the semester break. None of the participants entered the laboratory within this time period (approximately 3 weeks).

Evaluation of noise exposure and sensitivity: The participants' noise exposure scores were determined by a 1-minute noise screen guestionnaire.13 Those with a score of 5 or above were evaluated as being high-risk individuals and those with a score of 4 or below were evaluated as being low-risk individuals according to their questionnaire responses. In addition, in order to evaluate the participants' noise sensitivity, we used the Turkish version of the Weinstein noise sensitivity scale which had been tested for its validity and reliability. The total score is calculated by giving 1 to 6 points (agree/disagree) to 21 questions in this scale (the highest possible score is 126).<sup>14</sup> At the same time, the noise level of the dental prosthesis laboratory was measured using the Larson Davis system 824 sound level meter. The noise levels of the laboratory were measured every 10 minutes (10.00-12.00 and 13.00-14.00) during a three-month period (excluding weekends) from the same point in the middle of the laboratory while all devices in the laboratory were working. Measurements were made a total of 18 times every day.

#### Speech in Noise Test

This test is carried out using monosyllabic word lists in background noise such as narrowband and white noise.<sup>15,16</sup> This test can be performed at different signal to noise ratios as well as at fixed signal to noise ratios.<sup>17</sup> In our study, 50-word monosyllabic word lists were given at 40 dB SL, with a constant +10 dB signal/noise ratio to the ear to be tested for both noise and speech stimuli. Each ear was evaluated separately.

**Pure tone audiometry and immitancemeter measurements:** Pure tone audiometry were performed with Sennheiser TDH 49 P supra-aural headset in the range of 0.125 to 8 kHz and with Sennheiser HDA 200 circumaural headphones in the range of 8 to 12 kHz according to the British Society of Audiology (2011). The participants' middle ear pressure values were between  $\pm$  50 daPa and performed by GSI TympStar device.

**Contralateral suppression of distortion product otoacoustic emissions:** DPOAE is an electro-acoustic measurement which reflects the mechanical properties of the OHCs. The DPOAE test is performed by simultaneously transmitting two pure tone sounds (to the ear at different frequencies f1 and f2 using an f2/f1 ratio of 1.2).<sup>18</sup> The DPOAE amplitude was chosen when L1 (75 dB SPL) was 10 dB higher than L2 (65 dB SPL). The contralateral DPOAE suppression test causes suppression of OHCs with contralateral noise. The contralateral DPOAE suppression test can either be performed by decreasing the amplitude (Input-Output-I/O function) or by changing the frequency values of the constant amplitude (DP-Gram).<sup>19</sup> We used the Otometrics (Denmark, Taastrup) Capella DPOAE. DP-gram was obtained at octave frequencies of 200, 2,383, 3,359 and 4,004 Hz at 60 dB SPL broadband-contralateral white noise Hz using contralateral TDH39 headphones.

Auditory brainstem response: ABR measurements of the participants were performed in a natural sleep state in a Faraday cage test room using Vivasonic (Canada, Toronto) Integrety<sup>TM</sup> V500 Auditory Diagnostic System in two channels. The active electrode ( $F_{z2}$ ) was placed on the upper part of the forehead, the ground electrode ( $F_{pz2}$ ) was placed on the lower part of the forehead, one of the reference electrodes was placed on the left (M1) and the other was placed on the right mastoid (M2) region (electrode skin impedance below 3 k $\Omega$ ). The click stimuli

(with 1,024 repeats) at alternative polarity were transmitted through ER-3A insert headphones, using a 30 Hz high-pass filter (high-pass). ABR recordings were kept by using a 100  $\mu$ s stimulus at a rate of 9.1 Hz (rate) at 70, 80, 90 and 99 dB nHL levels to the opposite ear, for both cases of a 55 dB nHL broadband mask and without mask.

Amplitude modulation detection test: The AMDT is used to detect amplitude modulation sounds which are assumed to decrease after noise exposure because of impairment in individual's over-threshold responses. AMDT was performed with and without contralateral narrowband noise (40 dB SPL).<sup>20</sup> The bandwidth of narrowband noise was set to 1/3 of an octave in this study. A sinusoidal sound modulated to 19 Hz with a carrier frequency of 5 kHz at 75 dB SPL level was used. The AMDT test was performed using the Parameter Estimation by Sequential Testing (3 interval-3 alternative selection methods) and the p-value was taken as 0.75. One of three randomly transmitted sounds was modulated to stimulus amplitude and the other two were not modulated. While the target tone was being transmitted, the AM depth was initially set as 6 dB (50%) and was adaptively randomized until the final modulation change size reached 0.45 dB; the mean value of the last two steps was accepted as the threshold.<sup>21</sup> We used AMDT software with the Matlab 2019.b program.

#### Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using SPSS v.23.0 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, US). The normal distribution of our study was examined with the Shapiro-Wilk test. A chi-square test was used to compare the demographic findings. The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between the high-risk and low-risk groups. The Wilcoxon test was used for in-group comparison and the Spearman test was used for the relationships between two variables. The p-value for statistical significance was accepted as <0.05.

#### RESULTS

**Noise exposure and sensitivity:** The average noise level of the dental laboratory was  $97\pm11.3$  dB (A) at 10.00 a.m. and  $102\pm9.3$  dB (A) at 2 p.m. These hours are when the laboratory was very busy. Of the 45 participants in the high-risk group (dental prosthesis associate degree students), 41 reported that they were exposed to sounds such as wedding halls, ambulances, and traffic noise during the day. 85% of the individuals in the low-risk group stated that they were exposed to traffic noise. As shown in Figure 1, the 1-minute noise screen scores of the individuals in the high-risk group's scores ( $2.81\pm1.35$ ) (p=0.001). The Weinstein's noise sensitivity scale scores of the individuals in the high-risk group's scores of the individuals in the high-risk group's scores of the individuals in the high-risk group's scores of the individuals in the high-risk group's scores ( $2.81\pm1.35$ ) (p=0.001). The Weinstein's noise sensitivity scale scores of the individuals in the high-risk group ( $34.16\pm8.14$ ) (p=0.011) (Figure 2). A positive and high correlation was observed between the 1-minute noise screen and Weinstein's noise sensitivity scale of all individuals (r=0.822, p=0.001).

**Pure tone audiometry:** All participants had normal hearing thresholds (equal to or less than 20 dB HL at 125-8,000 Hz octave frequencies). No statistical difference was observed between the hearing thresholds of the groups (p>0.05).

**Speech in noise test:** Although no statistically significant difference was found between the scores of speech understanding in noise of the high and low-risk groups for both ears, the scores of the high-risk group were lower than the scores of the low-risk group.



**Figure 1.** One-minute noise screen questionnaire findings of both groups, error bars show the standard deviation.



**Figure 2.** Weinstein noise sensitivity scale findings of both groups, error bars show the standard deviation.

**Contralateral suppression of distortion product otoacoustic emissions:** Contralateral DPOAE suppression amounts were calculated at all frequencies and were found to be 0.84 dB SPL for individuals at high-risk, and 2.02 dB SPL for individuals with low-risk. The difference in the contralateral DPOAE suppression amounts between the two groups was statistically significant (p=0.014).

Auditory brainstem responses: ABR records of all participants were made on the right ear of 68 patients and the left ear of 16 patients. While the amplitude of wave I of ABR with mask was statistically smaller than the amplitude value obtained without mask at 99 dB nHL in the high-risk group (z=-3.087, p=0.002), the amplitude was found to be bigger at 80 dB nHL without mask (z=-3.155, p=0.002) (Table 1). A negative value was found in the amplitude of wave I of ABR in 10 individuals in the low-risk group and 8 individuals in the high-risk group. The latency of wave I obtained with mask was statistically significantly shorter

than the latency without mask at 90 dB nHL (z=-2.178, p=0.029) and 99 dB n HL (z=-2,449, p=0.014) in the high-risk group. There was no statistically significant prolongation of the ABR wave V latency with mask in the high-risk group (p>0.05).

As shown in Table 2, for the low-risk group, the wave I amplitude (z=-2.587, p=0.010) at 70 dB nHL and the wave III amplitude at 90 dB nHL (z=-2.807, p=0.005) values were found to be statistically lower with mask. There was no statistical difference between the amplitude and latency values of the wave I, III and V with mask and without mask at other (80 and 99 dB nHL) intensity levels (p>0.05). Although there was no statistical difference, it was observed that the amplitude increased as the stimulus intensity level rose.

For the high-risk group, the wave V amplitude was found to be smaller with mask than without mask at 99 dB nHL (z=-2.562, p=0.010) and 90 dB nHL (z=-1.999, p=0.046), but it was found to be bigger at 80 dB nHL (z=-3.905, p=0.001) (Table 1).

There were statistically significant differences in the wave I amplitude at 70 dB nHL (U=288, p=0.001), 80 dB nHL (U=586.5, p=0.011) and 99 dB nHL (U=635.5, p=0.035) with mask between the two groups. However, there was no difference at all stimulus levels without mask (Table 1, 2) (p>0.05).

Amplitude modulation detection threshold: For both groups, the AMDT scores were evaluated both with mask and without mask (Table 3). AMDT values with mask were statistically higher (worse) than the AMDT values without mask in all individuals (p=0.001 for the highrisk group; p=0.035 for the low-risk group). The AMDT values in the high-risk group were lower (better) than the AMDT values in the low-risk group (p<0.001).

### DISCUSSION

Noise-related hidden hearing loss is a functional disorder which is seen in individuals who suffer from noise exposure without hearing loss<sup>5</sup> and it is also known as cochlear synaptopathy.8 In a cochlear synaptopathy study on mice, no difference was observed in the hearing thresholds which were measured with ABR, although half of the synapses between the inner hair cell and spiral ganglion neurons were lost due to noise exposure.<sup>22,23</sup> In synapse loss after noise exposure, while otoacoustic emissions were obtained, the slope of the ABR wave I amplitude was observed at high stimulus levels.1

Table 1. Auditory brainstem responses amplitude with/without mask at different stimulus level for the high-risk group							
Mask	Stimulus level	Wave I, Mean $\pm$ SD	р	Wave III, Mean $\pm$ SD	р	Wave V, Mean $\pm$ SD	р
With mask	00 10 111	0.12±0.28	0.002*	0.33±0.25	0.169	0.45±0.22	0.010*
Without mask	99 UB IIHL	0.21±0.25		0.37±0.27		0.75±0.96	
With mask	90 dB nHL	0.17±0.25	0.609	0.34±0.22	0.797	0.56±0.17	0.046*
Without mask		0.17±0.19	0.000	0.31±0.16		0.49±0.17	
With mask		0.22±0.23	0.002*	0.31±0.19	0.103	0.50±0.17	0.001*
Without mask		0.11±0.20		0.25±0.20		0.36±0.17	
With mask	70 dB pUU	0.19±0.22	0.063	0.21±0.18	0 305	0.35±0.22	0.331
Without mask	0.16±0.36		0.005	0.25±0.22	0.555	0.33±0.19	0.551
*p<0.05 SD: Standard deviation.							

*p<0.05,	SD:	Standard	deviation.
----------	-----	----------	------------

Table 2. Auditory brainstem responses amplitude with/without mask at different stimulus level for the low-risk group							
Mask	Stimulus level	Wave I, Mean $\pm$ SD	р	Wave III, mean ± SD	р	Wave V, Mean ± SD	р
With mask	00 10 111	0.15±0.14	0.786	0.29±0.16	0.678	0.53±0.22	0.120
Without mask	99 UD IITL	0.14±0.17		0.27±0.19		0.46±0.25	
With mask		0.10±0.16	0.223	0.25±0.15	0.005*	0.38±0.24	0.275
Without mask	90 UB IIIL	0.18±0.22		0.35±0.18		0.44±0.19	
With mask	00 10 111	0.77±0.23	0.488	0.23±0.26	0.771	0.36±0.15	0.322
Without mask		0.12±0.17		0.30±0.63		0.40±0.17	
With mask	70 10 111	-0.1±0.21	0.010*	0.16±0.30	0.662	0.35±0.27	0.411
Without mask	/U UB IIHL	0.05±0.17		0.19±0.16		0.30±0.14	
to a 0.05 CDs they dead day in the							

<sup>€</sup>p<0.05, SD: Standard deviation

Table 3. Amplitude modulation detection test findings with/without mask for two groups						
	AMDT with mask		AMDT without mask			
Groups	Median (minmax.)	Mean ± SD	Median (minmax.)	Mean ± SD	р	
High-risk	-40.1 (-46.1, -32.6)	-39.9±3.16	- 40.8 (-49.8, -28.8)	-41.2±4.57	0.035*	
Low-risk	-32.2 (-41.5, -26.3)	-32.7±3.58	-37.6 (-43.1, -31.1)	-37.5±3.19	0.001*	
p-value	0.001*		0.001*			
AMDT: Amplitude modulation detection test. Min : Minimum. Max : Maximum. SD: Standard deviation. *n<0.05						

As shown in Figure 3, 4, we found a decrease in the suprathreshold ABR wave I amplitude with mask in the high-risk group compared to the low-risk group. This decrease in amplitude value was highlighted in another study about mild and high spontaneous rate fibre loss-induced hidden hearing loss.<sup>4</sup> In animal studies, it has been reported that decreases in wave I amplitude are associated with synaptic loss with long-term exposure to noise, but the measurement of the wave I amplitude in humans does not provide precise information on the evaluation of synaptopathy.<sup>8</sup> Studies have indicated that individuals with noise exposure may experience difficulties in terms of supra-threshold processing skills, such as poor understanding and impaired



**Figure 3.** Amplitude findings of wave I of ABR with mask in individuals in the high-risk group.

ABR: Auditory brainstem response.



**Figure 4.** Amplitude findings of wave I of ABR without mask in individuals in the high-risk group.

ABR: Auditory brainstem response.

attention.<sup>24</sup> However, exposure to noise did not cause any hearing loss in the high-risk group in our study.

We observed an increase in the amplitude of wave I without mask and a decrease with mask as the stimulus level increased (p<0.05). There was a minimum prolongation in the latency of wave V with mask in comparison to without mask in the high-risk group, which was found to be compatible with previous studies.<sup>25,26</sup> As a finding different from the literature, we found that the masked wave I latency was shorter than the unmasked wave I latency at suprathreshold levels in the high-risk group. In our study, the change in the wave V latency was accompanied by a decrease in the wave I amplitude in the high-risk group, suggesting that there may be hidden hearing loss in these individuals. This change mostly reflects the activities of low spontaneous fibre in the presence of background noise.<sup>27</sup>

The AMDT was performed with and without mask and was lower in the high-risk group than for those in the low-risk group with mask (p<0.05). This finding suggests that the temporal modulation of the sound may impair auditory sensitivity and may be useful in diagnosing hidden hearing loss.

The finding that individuals in the high-risk group with mask had lower AMDT scores than those in the low-risk group may be useful in the diagnosis of hidden hearing loss (Table 3). In studies which were previously conducted, it was stated that ABR with mask may reflect the efferent auditory system.<sup>28</sup> In our study, there was no change in the wave I amplitude at stimulus levels of 70 and 80 dB nHL with mask for both groups. This finding is consistent with the study conducted by Matas et al.<sup>29</sup>

In our study, individuals in the high-risk group had lower suppression values with contralateral noise than those individuals in the low-risk group (p<0.05). This finding is thought to be due to the fact that contralateral noise results in DPOAE suppression by activating efferent neurons as well as a decrease in afferent electric activity.<sup>30</sup> Marques and da Costa<sup>31</sup> highlighted that especially DPOAE data would be beneficial in the early diagnosis of cochlear impairments before noise induced hearing loss occurs due to noise exposure.

We thought that a decrease in suppression, I-wave amplitude and the AMDT score may indicate hidden hearing loss which leads to a decrease in communication skills. The background noise (40dB SPL) which was used in our study can be used to detect low spontaneous fibre loss, especially since it causes suppression of high spontaneous fibre.

Although the ABR test is the gold standard in the diagnosis of occult hearing loss in our study and in the literature, the diagnosis of occult hearing loss with only the ABR test is insufficient in revealing all the signs of the disease in real terms. Therefore, when diagnosing latent hearing loss, all objective and subjective tests such as AMDT, otoacoustic emission tests, adaptation test, and the ABR test should be used together.

#### CONCLUSION

The control of noise in high-noise environments such as dental prosthesis laboratories is important for the health of employees due to hearing loss which can be seen in groups with high exposure to noise. In our study, it was observed that ABR wave I amplitude decreased as the intensity increased in the high-risk group. In the low-risk group, it was

observed that, as the stimulus intensity increased, ABR wave I amplitude wave increased. This is a finding that should be taken into consideration in the diagnosis of occult hearing loss. At the same time, periodically performing audiometric tests on technicians working in these locations and using earplugs to minimize the noise exposure of these individuals can help prevent hearing loss. In the process of diagnosing individuals with hidden hearing loss, differentiations in the ABR wave I amplitude, the AMDT and suppression otoacoustic emission (especially DPOAE) may be useful in the early diagnosis of hidden hearing loss.

# MAIN POINTS

- Noise exposure can cause wave differences in auditory brainstem responses without causing permanent loss of hearing thresholds.
- Continuous exposure to high intensity noise in dental prosthesis associate degree students can cause permanent loss of auditory nerve cells.
- The combined use of amplitude modulation detection tests, otoacoustic emission tests, auditory brainstem response and speech in noise tests provides useful information in the diagnosis of occult hearing loss.

# ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Our study was approved by the Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University Ethics Committee and implemented according to the Helsinki Declaration (approval number: 56/15).

**Informed Consent:** The individuals who applied for occupational health check-ups were informed about the aims of this study and consent was obtained from those who agreed to participate.

#### Authorship Contributions

Concept: B.Ç., Design: B.Ç., Supervision: B.Ç., Fundings: B.Ç., Data Collection and/or Processing: B.Ç., Analysis and/or Interpretation: B.Ç., Literature Search: B.Ç., Writing: B.Ç., Critical Review: S.T.Y.

# DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Mojarad F, Massum T, Samavat H. Noise levels in dental offices and laboratories in Hamedan, Iran. 2009; 181-6.
- Setcos JC, Mahyuddin A. Noise levels encountered in dental clinical and laboratory practice. Int J Prosthodont. 1998; 11(2): 150-7.
- 3. Sampaio Fernandes JC, Carvalho AP, Gallas M, Vaz P, Matos PA. Noise levels in dental schools. Eur J Dent Educ. 2006; 10(1): 32-7.
- Kujawa SG, Liberman MC. Synaptopathy in the noise-exposed and aging cochlea: Primary neural degeneration in acquired sensorineural hearing loss. Hear Res. 2015; 330(Pt B): 191-9.
- Borg E, Canlon B, Engström B. Noise-induced hearing loss. Literature review and experiments in rabbits. Morphological and electrophysiological features, exposure parameters and temporal factors, variability and interactions. Scand Audiol Suppl. 1995; 40: 1-147.

- Plack CJ, Léger A, Prendergast G, Kluk K, Guest H, Munro KJ. Toward a Diagnostic Test for Hidden Hearing Loss. Trends Hear. 2016; 20: 2331216516657466.
- Furman AC, Kujawa SG, Liberman MC. Noise-induced cochlear neuropathy is selective for fibers with low spontaneous rates. J Neurophysiol. 2013; 110(3): 577-86.
- Kujawa SG, Liberman MC. Adding insult to injury: cochlear nerve degeneration after "temporary" noise-induced hearing loss. J Neurosci. 2009; 29(45): 14077-85.
- 9. Kumar UA, Ameenudin S, Sangamanatha AV. Temporal and speech processing skills in normal hearing individuals exposed to occupational noise. Noise Health. 2012; 14(58): 100-5.
- Liberman MC, Epstein MJ, Cleveland SS, Wang H, Maison SF. Toward a Differential Diagnosis of Hidden Hearing Loss in Humans. PLoS One. 2016; 11(9): e0162726.
- Schaette R, McAlpine D. Tinnitus with a normal audiogram: physiological evidence for hidden hearing loss and computational model. J Neurosci. 2011; 31(38): 13452-7.
- Morăraşu C, Burlui V, Bortă C, Ignat L, Bortă B, Morăraşu G. Evaluarea nivelului zgomotului în cabinetul stomatologic [The evaluation of sound level in dental practice]. Rev Med Chir Soc Med Nat Iasi. 2001; 105(4): 785-9.
- Johnson TA, Cooper S, Stamper GC, Chertoff M. Noise Exposure Questionnaire: A Tool for Quantifying Annual Noise Exposure. J Am Acad Audiol. 2017; 28(1): 14-35.
- 14. Keskin M. Comparison of the Subjects with and Without Noise Sensitivity, As Determined by the Turkish Version of Weinstein Noise Sensitivity Scale (Wnss) Following Its Adaptation into Turkish. Gazi University Institute of Health Sciences. 2015.
- 15. Willeford J. Sentence tests of central auditory dysfunction. Handbook of clinical audiology. 1985; 3: 404-20.
- Durankaya SM, Serbetçioglu B, Dalkiliç G, Gürkan S, Kirkim G. Development of a Turkish monosyllabic word recognition test for adults. The Journal of International Advanced Otology. 2014; 10(2): 172.
- Beck D, Benite L. A two-minute speech-in-noise test Protocol and Pilot Data. Audiology Today. 2019; 31(3): 28-34.
- Gorga MP, Neely ST, Dorn PA, Hoover BM. Further efforts to predict puretone thresholds from distortion product otoacoustic emission input/output functions. J Acoust Soc Am. 2003; 113(6): 3275-84.
- 19. Ramos JA, Kristensen S, Beck DL. An overview of OAEs and normative data for DPOAEs. Hear Rev. 2013; 20(11): 30-3.
- Zilany MS, Bruce IC, Carney LH. Updated parameters and expanded simulation options for a model of the auditory periphery. J Acoust Soc Am. 2014; 135(1): 283-6.
- 21. Taylor M, Creelman CD. PEST: Efficient estimates on probability functions. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1967; 41(4A): 782-7.
- Hickox AE, Liberman MC. Is noise-induced cochlear neuropathy key to the generation of hyperacusis or tinnitus? J Neurophysiol. 2014; 111(3): 552-64.
- Fernandez KA, Jeffers PW, Lall K, Liberman MC, Kujawa SG. Aging after noise exposure: acceleration of cochlear synaptopathy in "recovered" ears. J Neurosci. 2015; 35(19): 7509-20.
- Brattico E, Kujala T, Tervaniemi M, Alku P, Ambrosi L, Monitillo V. Long-term exposure to occupational noise alters the cortical organization of sound processing. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005; 116(1): 190-203.
- Dau T. The importance of cochlear processing for the formation of auditory brainstem and frequency following responses. J Acoust Soc Am. 2003; 113(2): 936-50.

- Mitchell C, Phillips DS, Trune DR. Variables affecting the auditory brainstem response: audiogram, age, gender and head size. Hear Res. 1989; 40(1-2): 75-85.
- Bourien J, Tang Y, Batrel C, Huet A, Lenoir M, Ladrech S, et al. Contribution of auditory nerve fibers to compound action potential of the auditory nerve. J Neurophysiol. 2014; 112(5): 1025-39.
- 28. Salo SK, Lang AH, Salmivalli AJ, Johansson RK, Peltola MS. Contralateral white noise masking affects auditory N1 and P2 waves differently. Journal of Psychophysiology. 2003; 17(4): 189-94.
- 29. Matas CG, Silva FN, Leite RA, Samelli AG. Study of suppression effect in the brainstem auditory evoked potential. Pro Fono. 2010; 22(3): 281-6.
- 30. Tomchik SM, Lu Z. Modulation of auditory signal-to-noise ratios by efferent stimulation. J Neurophysiol. 2006; 95(6): 3562-70.
- 31. Marques FP, da Costa EA. Exposure to occupational noise: otoacoustic emissions test alterations. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2006; 72(3): 362-6.

**DOI:** 10.4274/cjms.2021.2021-132 Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):58-63

# Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Nurses: A Qualitative Study

# 🕲 Ümran Dal Yılmaz, 🕲 Nurhan Bayraktar

Department of Nursing, Near East University Faculty of Nursing, Nicosia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** Nurses are the largest healthcare professional group providing frontline care in coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19). As COVID-19 is a new disease and the medical system and culture of different countries varies, research is needed on the effects of this pandemic on nurses in order to increase knowledge. This study was performed to explore the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** This qualitative study was conducted using mass media and social media settings between March, 11<sup>th</sup> and May, 15<sup>th</sup> 2020. A total of 31 nursing statements were examined.

**RESULTS:** Analysis of the statements of the Turkish nurses about the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic revealed four main themes, namely "emotions", "self-health", "patient care" and "employee rights."

**CONCLUSION:** Management strategies to support nurses coping with emotions, self-care, patient care and employee rights issues should be developed.

Keywords: COVID-19, Coronavirus disease, pandemic, nursing

# INTRODUCTION

In today's modern world, millions of people are at severe risk of acquiring evolving viral infections.<sup>1</sup> A novel coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) was first reported and then became widespread within Wuhan, China, in November, 2019. This disease rapidly spread becoming a global health emergency.<sup>2,3</sup> Since the first case of unexplained pneumonia in Wuhan, COVID-19 has affected many countries worldwide, with over 131 million cases and over 2.8 million deaths being reported globally as of the time of writing.<sup>2,4,5</sup> The COVID-19 pandemic was confirmed to have reached Türkiye in March, 2020, with the first case being officially confirmed on the 11<sup>th</sup> of March, 2020. As of the 5<sup>th</sup> of April, 2020, the number of confirmed total cases in the country was over 3.5 million, of which 3,130,977 had recovered and 32,456 had died.<sup>6</sup>

Coronaviruses are a large family of viruses which may cause illness in animals or humans.<sup>2,7</sup> COVID-19 mainly causes respiratory and digestive

tract symptoms, with symptoms ranging from mild self-limited disease to systemic multiple organ failure syndrome.<sup>4</sup> COVID-19 is associated with intensive care unit admission, mechanical ventilation and it causes high mortality. In general, the disease is an acute illness but it can be deadly, with an average case fatality rate of 2%.<sup>5</sup> To date, there are no particular medications or vaccines against COVID-19 infection for human therapy.<sup>8,9</sup> Its medical treatment and nursing care mainly include antiviral and traditional medicine treatment, isolation, symptomatic support, and close monitoring.<sup>4</sup>

There have been many negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemics on communities all over the world. As a disaster condition, the pandemic has caused serious disruption to the functioning of communities involving widespread human, material, economic and environmental losses and impacts, which have exceeded the ability of the affected societies to cope using their own resources.<sup>10</sup> In this context, medical

To cite this article: Dal Yılmaz Ü, Bayraktar N. Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Nurses: A Qualitative Study. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):58-63

ORCID IDs of the authors: Ü.D.Y. 0000-0002-9482-6983; N.B. 0000-0002-3072-5788.



Address for Correspondence: Nurhan Bayraktar E-mail: nurhan.bayraktar@neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3072-5788

Received: 30.05.2021 Accepted: 22.09.2021

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. workers have important responsibilities in the struggle against this epidemic. Unfortunately, many front-line personnel have sacrificed their own well-being and have been infected and even died.<sup>4</sup> The mental health of healthcare staff has also been greatly challenged during this viral epidemic.<sup>11</sup>

In this global crisis, nurses are the largest healthcare professional group providing frontline care. Nurses' play pivotal roles in the care and management of the novel COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>5</sup> They are in a natural position to take an active role in disaster management because they spend the most time with patients, and they have expertise in providing clinical care, team leadership, and creative problem-solving skills.<sup>12</sup> In order to recognize the vital service of nurses in health care, the World Health Organization designated 2020 as the International Year of the Nurse and Midwife.<sup>13</sup> Clinical nurses have experienced great stress during their fight against COVID-19 which can affect their health and safety and also requires their interpersonal relationships and related knowledge.<sup>14</sup>

In Türkiye, as well as in other countries, nurses are at the forefront of the struggle against COVID-19 in the healthcare team, together with physicians. Nurses play pivotal roles in the organization of health services, safety precautions, planning and the implementation of care, providing training and evaluating the effectiveness of care in the fight against COVID-19. In Türkiye, as a top priority, the government took an effective role in resource allocation, and the education of the public regarding precautions. Nursing managers and the Turkish Nurses Association also have played active roles by providing protective equipment to nurses, ensuring appropriate nurse manpower, and providing transparent information. However, as is the case all over the world, nurses have been physically and psychosocially affected by this pandemic.

As COVID-19 is a novel disease and the medical system and culture of different countries varies, research is needed on the effects of this pandemic on nurses in order to increase knowledge. Understanding the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses will be beneficial in developing strategies so as to cope with future outbreaks. The aim of this study was to determine of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on Turkish nurses.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Research Design**

This study was performed retrospectively with a descriptive phenomenological approach to explore the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses. In this research, Colaizzi's descriptive phenomenological investigation method was applied.<sup>15</sup>

#### Procedures

A semi-structured tool was used in this study to frame the data collection. The framework of this study included the following areas of questioning in order to investigate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on nurses: What are the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on the emotions of the nurses? What are the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on the self-health of the nurses? and What are the other effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on nurses?

This study was conducted using Turkish mass media (newspapers, TV channels, web pages of the nursing associations) and social media

websites (Facebook and Twitter) between March, 11<sup>th</sup> and May, 15<sup>th</sup> 2020, which was the beginning period of this outbreak. Search terms related to the COVID-19 pandemic were monitored daily by the two researchers. Nursing statements regarding the effects of the pandemic were recorded by hand or by mobile phone and then transferred to Microsoft Word documents. Content about the other healthcare professionals' statements was excluded. The confidentiality of the statements was assured by using numbers instead of names. A total of 31 nursing statements were examined.

#### **Ethical Aspects**

Ethical approval was obtained from the Near East University Review Board (approval number: YDU/2021/91-1347). Although data collection was performed from mass media and social media, the statements of the nurses were recorded using participant numbers for confidentiality. Informed consent was not required because of the data collection method.

#### Statistical Analysis

The two co-authors analyzed the data simultaneously following Colaizzi's descriptive phenomenological steps. Content analysis was applied in this study. In this context, the researchers first transcribed the recordings and read the texts several times independently for familiarization. The researchers identified those statements which were of direct relevance to the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on nurses. Following this, they formulated meanings in these statements and categorized the meanings into clusters of common themes. The meanings and themes throughout the analysis process were compared and discussed by them until consensus on the themes was achieved. Finally, a reflective process by returning to the participant statements from the original mass media or social media settings was performed for validation. In addition, an independent researcher who was experienced in phenomenological research was asked to evaluate the consistency between the data and the themes. Finally, revisions were made in line with their suggestions.

#### Results

The data about impacts of the COVID-19 pandemics on Turkish nurses were analyzed under the four main themes of "emotions", "self-health", "patient care" and "employee rights" (Table 1).

#### Emotions

The Emotions theme was composed of clusters of themes including "Anxiety", "Fear", "Fighting", "Threatened", "Anxiety of family members", "Concern about contamination of microorganisms", "Separation", "Longing", "Fear", "Panic", "Sadness", "Happiness" and "Motivation."

Examples of the statements related to this category include:

"At the beginning, I was more anxious, I followed the literature constantly and always had a fear of being infected."

"We fight against COVID-19 at the zero point, we are at risk."

"I left my son with my mother before starting work. We haven't seen each other for a month. We try to eliminate separation by talking on video calls. My child is without me these days..."

"When I was diagnosed with COVID-19, of course, I experienced fear and panic like everyone else."

Table 1. Statements of the nurses regarding the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemics with themes					
Significant statements	Theme clusters	Emergent themes			
"At the beginning, I was more anxious, followed the literature constantly and always had a fear of being infected."	Anxiety Fear				
"We fight against COVID-19 at the zero point, we are at risk."	Frightened Threatened				
"We also know from examples in the world that this disease has a high risk of transmission to healthcare workers. Our families are also concerned for us."	Anxiety of family members				
"The anxiety of contamination of microorganisms from hospital to home is affecting me psychologically."	Concern about contamination of microorganisms				
"I miss my family very much."	Constation	Emotions			
"I left my son with my mother before starting work. We haven't seen each other for a month. We try to eliminate this separation by talking on video calls. My child is without me these days"	separation	emotions			
"When I was diagnosed with COVID-19, of course, I experienced fear and panic like everyone else."	Fear Panic				
"I feel very disappointed to see people who go out to socialize. People should be aware of the severity of this event"	Sadness				
"I feel happy when patients recover."	Happiness				
"The applause of people on the balconies for healthcare workers motivated me and made me feel better."	Motivation				
"This is my fifteenth hour in these protective gowns. My lungs have faded from constantly taking my	Fluid loss				
breath. In the overalls, I lost all of the water I drank. The pit that the mask and visor caused on my face	Discomfort in breathing				
is not to be mentioned"	Mask marks				
"In this epidemic, there is a risk of contamination to ourselves, and we have to protect ourselves." "We, the healthcare providers, are not immune. It should not be forgotten that we are human beings. Who will take care of the patients if we are not good?"	The need to protect self- health Self-health				
	COVID-19 illness				
I had a lot of trouble when I caught COVID-19. There were incomparable joint pains, respiratory distress.	Joint pain and respiratory distress due to COVID-19				
"There is always fatigue."	Fatigue				
	Increase in the number of patients				
sensitivity."	Challenge in providing effective care to a large number of patients				
"Patients are afraid of our protective equipment such as masks, and protective gowns."	Discomfort of patients due to protective measures	Patient care			
"Prolonged work and fatigue of the nurses can increase the risk of errors."	Increased risk of errors due to fatigue				
"Nurses in intensive care are having difficulties. Sometimes we work with a few hours of sleep. There are nurses who have a 24-hour working shift."	Long working hours				
"We work day and night without leaving the clinic."					
"When first cases in Türkiye were announced, I was on annual vacation. I left my vacation and returned to my job in the intensive care unit."	Working without vacation				
"I was transferred to the corona clinic from my clinic."	Workspace change				
"Nurses can't make their voice heard enough. The phrase "physicians and other healthcare personnel" is used as if it is only physicians providing the entire service. However, nurses are the closest working group to the patients 24/7."	Underappreciation	Employee rights			
"Healthcare providers cannot get the salary they deserve. Nurses should be provided with additional funding during this process."	אסר צבונווצ אמות בווסמצוו וסו ומסטו				
"Under these difficult conditions, healthcare workers should not be exposed to violence."	Violence				
It is positive that the Ministry of Health has increased nurse recruitment.	Recruitment increase				
"The personal protective materials are not enough. The meals are inadequate."	Insufficient protective equipment Insufficient food				

"I feel very disappointed to see people who go out to socialize. People should be aware of the severity of this event."

"The applause of people on the balconies for healthcare workers motivated me and made me feel better."

#### Self-Health

"Fluid loss", "Discomfort in breathing", "Mask scars", "The need to protect self-health", "COVID-19 illness", "Joint pain and respiratory distress due to COVID-19" and "Fatigue" were the clusters of themes related to the "Self-health" theme.

#### Nurses stated the following:

"This is my fifteenth hour in these protective gowns. My lungs faded from constantly taking my breath. In the overalls, I lost all of the water I drank. The pit that the mask and visor caused my face is not to be mentioned..."

"We, the healthcare providers, are not immune. It should not be forgotten that we are human beings. Who will take care of the patients if we are not good?"

"I had a lot of trouble when I caught COVID-19. There were incomparable joint pains, respiratory distress."

#### **Patient Care**

The "Patient care" theme includes clusters of themes; "Increase in the number of patients", "Challenges in providing effective care to a large number of patients", "Discomfort of patients due to protective measures" and "Increased risk of errors due to fatigue."

Examples of the statements related to this category are as follows:

"We have to provide the care they deserve to a large number of patients with the same efficiency and sensitivity".

"The prolonged work and fatigue of the nurses can increase the risk of errors."

#### **Employee Rights**

"Employee rights" was another theme originating from clusters of themes including "Long working hours", "Working without vacation", "Workspace change", "Underappreciation", "Not getting paid enough for labor", "Violence", "Recruitment increase", "Insufficient protective equipment" an "Insufficient food."

Nurses stated the following:

"Nurses in intensive care are having difficulties. Sometimes we work with a few hours of sleep. There are nurses who have a 24-hour working shift."

"Nurses can't make their voice heard enough. The phrase "physician and other healthcare personnel" is used as if it is only physicians providing the entire service. However, nurses are the closest working group to the patients 24/7."

"Healthcare providers cannot get the salary they deserve. Nurses should be provided with additional funding during this process." "Under these difficult conditions, healthcare workers should not be exposed to violence."

#### Discussion

The results of this study were discussed with the themes including "emotions", "self-health", "patient care" and "employee rights."

#### Emotions

The number of medical healthcare professionals (doctors, nurses, paramedics) suffering from mental health impacts after epidemics and pandemics are often greater than the physical injury.<sup>16</sup> In the current study, it was determined that the nurses had anxiety and fear of being contaminated by microorganisms. The nurses stated that they could not see their families for a long time and that they missed them. They expressed their sadness that some individuals in the community break the rules of staying at home and do not obey the rules while they are working with devotion away from their families. The nurses who were diagnosed with COVID-19 and recovered stated that they experienced a feeling of fear and panic. In line with these findings, these problems were emphasized in the Turkish Nurses Association's report.<sup>17</sup> The emotional effects of the pandemic have also been emphasized in the international literature.<sup>3,4,11,18-20</sup> Sun et al.<sup>4</sup> performed a study with the aim of exploring the psychology of nurses caring for COVID-19 patients. They found that nurses had psychological helplessness, health threats, a lack of knowledge, and interpersonal unfamiliarity under the threat of epidemic disease, which led to a large number of negative emotions such as fear, anxiety, and helplessness. In another study conducted to explore the mental health status of medical and nursing staff during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wuhan, trends in levels of psychological distress and factors such as exposure to infected people and psychological assistance were identified. 36.9% of participants had subthreshold mental health disturbances, 34.4% had mild disturbances and 22.4% had moderate disturbances in the immediate wake of the viral epidemic.<sup>11</sup> Another study showed that around 85% of the surveyed health care workers were afraid of becoming infected at work.<sup>18</sup> Another study also reported that nurses were trying to cope with the fear and anxiety of contracting the illness themselves and passing the disease on to friends and family.<sup>3</sup> Nurses are parents, siblings, friends and partners with all of the worries and concerns shared by most people providing for and protecting themselves and their families, and so in addition to caring for patients, the well-being of their own families weighs heavily on them as nurses at this time.<sup>21</sup> Accordingly, we found that the nurses stated that they were mutually concerned about their own health as well as their families. In the relevant literature, it is emphasized that mental health services, efficacy of psychological care, and the assessment of psychological care needs are necessary for nursing staff.<sup>16</sup> Mental healthcare and mental healthcare training need to be developed and implemented.22

In addition to negative emotions, our participants also expressed their positive emotions such as happiness as a result of the recovery of the patients and motivation from social support and appreciation. A literature review also reported that nurses experience both positive and negative emotions including pride, fear, commitment and other overwhelming emotions.<sup>10</sup> In a similar fashion to this, Sun et al.<sup>4</sup> found the presence of positive emotions in nurses such as confidence, calmness, relaxation, and happiness. Optimism has a protective effect against psychological trauma during disasters.

#### Self-Health

Nurses expressed their experiences regarding their individual health. The importance of protecting their own health due to the risk of transmission of the disease was emphasized by many nurses. Sweating caused by the use of personal protective equipment, difficulty breathing, and marks on the face caused by the masks were expressed as the main problems. In addition, those nurses who were diagnosed with and recovered from COVID-19 stated that they had problems such as pain and respiratory distress. During disasters and infectious disease outbreaks, nurses sacrifice their own needs in order to actively participate in their work and make selfless contributions as a result of their professional responsibility.<sup>4</sup> One study showed physical health as a basic necessity required to overcome an epidemic, and all of the respondents exhibited a strong need for maintaining health.<sup>14</sup> Another study showed that resilience (tenacity, strength) and social support (objective support, subjective support and availability of support) could significantly predict the mental health in fresh staff. A high level of training and professional experience, resilience and social support are necessary for health care workers who are taking part in their first public health emergency.<sup>19</sup> It is helpful to apply effective interventions in order to meet the needs of those nurses caring for COVID-19 patients.

#### Patient Care

The statements of the nurses revealed the responsibilities they feel about patient care and society. Their thoughts about giving care to all patients with the same sensitivity, their emotional support to patients, their motivation to heal patients and their expressions about not making mistakes show their sensitivity to care. However, it is important to provide nurses with conditions under which they can effectively maintain healthcare. These issues also have been reported by the Turkish Nursing Association. The Turkish Nursing Association has reported that nurses face barriers to providing care in a manner that does not compromise patient safety.<sup>2,17</sup> Zhang et al.<sup>18</sup> also emphasized that medical systems should ensure that frontline workers have enough time to rest between shifts in order to avoid overworking and making unconscious errors during epidemic relief efforts.

#### **Employee Rights**

Nurses expressed their problems such as long working hours, insomnia, changing the clinic where they work, violence, not getting enough salary and the inadequacy of meals. They also stated that nurses could not make their voices heard, despite being the closest healthcare professionals working with patients 24/7. They expressed that they perceived themselves as being like warriors on the frontline. According to the Turkish Nurses Association report during the COVID-19 period, 21.1% of the nurses could not take a break while working, 58.3% of the them work 40-48 hours per week and 50.0% have not been provided with the necessary food for adequate and balanced nutrition.<sup>17</sup> In one study, it was also reported that during the COVID-19 epidemic, some deficiencies were present at a major tertiary general hospital. Prediction capacity and strategic preparatory awareness for public health emergencies were not sufficient. This resulted in an evident lack of workforce and supplies at the beginning of the outbreak.<sup>23</sup>

In this study, it was seen that nurses stated that protective materials were insufficient. The Turkish Nurses Association also showed that nurses stated that they had frequent difficulty in obtaining gloves In the current study, many nurses stated that they had been transferred to a corona clinic. The transfer of nurses to pandemic clinics without their orientation was also indicated by the Turkish Nurses Association as an important issue. According to the report by the Turkish Nurses Association, nurses stated that they were not informed (13.1%) or only partially informed (39.7%) about the measures which should be taken in order to protect themselves while providing care to those patients with COVID-19 diagnoses or even those with suspected COVID-19.<sup>17</sup>

#### **Study Limitations**

There are certain limitations to the current study which need to be addressed. The search from social media was limited to the open accessible statements of the nurses by the researchers. Individual interviews were not conducted in this study. Another limitation was that accessing the participants individually for validation was not possible because of the data collection method used in this study.

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, after the analysis of the statements of the Turkish nurses about the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, four main themes emerged, namely "emotions", "self-health", "patient care" and "employee rights." The results showed that the nurses expressed anxiety and fear regarding contamination, and a longing for their families. Those nurses who were diagnosed with and recovered from COVID-19 stated that they experienced a feeling of fear and panic. The statements of the nurses revealed their experiences about their own health, coping with their problems, as well as the responsibilities they felt about patient care and towards society. In addition, nurses expressed the problems they faced such as their long working hours, insomnia, changing the clinic where they worked, violence, not getting enough salary, and a lack of personal protective equipment and food. It can be concluded that the nurses' roles and responsibilities in coping with the COVID-19 pandemic are substantial in order to provide health care for the general population. The related institutions and organizations, and nursing managers should develop management strategies with the aim of supporting nurses to cope with their emotions, self-care, patient care and employee rights issues. Establishing psychological coping support may contribute to fulfill the needs of nurses and protect their mental health. Social support, enough time to rest between shifts, avoiding overwork, providing the ideal nurse-to-patient ratio, adequate supplies, and the utilization of personal protective equipment can meet the needs for health and safety among nurses.

#### MAIN POINTS

- The statements of the Turkish nurses about impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic revealed the 4 main themes of "emotions", "self-health", "patient care" and "employee rights."
- Nurses expressed their anxiety and fear regarding contamination, and a longing for their families.
- Those nurses who were diagnosed with and recovered from COVID-19 stated that they experienced a feeling of fear and panic.
- The statements of the nurses revealed their experiences about their own health, and also the responsibilities they felt about their patient care and towards society.
- Nurses expressed the problems they faced such as their long working hours, insomnia, changing the clinic where they work, violence, not getting enough salary, and a lack of personal protective equipment and food.

## **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethical approval was obtained from the Near East University Review Board (approval number: YDU/2021/91-1347).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was not required because of the data collection method.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Design: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Supervision: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Materials: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Data Collection and/or Processing: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Analysis and/or Interpretation: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Literature Search: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Writing: Ü.D.Y., N.B., Critical Review: Ü.D.Y., N.B.

### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

- 1. Al-Hazmi A. Challenges presented by MERS corona virus, and SARS corona virus to global health. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2016; 23(4): 507-11.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. 2020. https://covid19.who.int/. Accessed April 5, 2021.
- Stannard D. COVID-19: Impact on Perianesthesia Nursing Areas. J Perianesth Nurs. 2020; 35(3): 237-8.
- Sun N, Wei L, Shi S, Jiao D, Song R, Ma L, et al. A qualitative study on the psychological experience of caregivers of COVID-19 patients. Am J Infect Control. 2020; 48(6): 592-8.
- Paterson C, Gobel B, Gosselin T, Haylock PJ, Papadopoulou C, Slusser K, et al. Oncology Nursing During a Pandemic: Critical Reflections in the Context of COVID-19. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2020; 36(3): 151028.
- Turkey Ministry of Health. Turkish daily COVID-19 data. Available from:https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/. Accessed April 5, 2021.

- Nursing Center. 2019 Novel Coronavirus Nurse Resources. Available from: https://www.nursingcenter.com/coronavirus. Accessed May 19, 2020.
- Rothan HA, Byrareddy SN. The epidemiology and pathogenesis of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak. J Autoimmun. 2020; 109: 102433.
- 9. Naserghandi A, Allameh SF, Saffarpour R. All about COVID-19 in brief. New Microbes New Infect. 2020; 35: 100678.
- Hammad KS, Arbon P, Gebbie K, Hutton A. Nursing in the emergency department (ED) during a disaster: a review of the current literature. Australas Emerg Nurs J. 2012; 15(4): 235-44.
- 11. Kang L, Ma S, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R, et al. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: A crosssectional study. Brain Behav Immun. 2020; 87: 11-7.
- 12. Smith RP. Making a case for integration of disaster-preparednesscontent in associate degree nursing programs. Teach Learn Nurs. 2007; 2: 100-4.
- 13. Tsay SF, Kao CC, Wang HH, Lin CC. Nursing's response to COVID-19: Lessons learned from SARS in Taiwan. Int J Nurs Stud. 2020; 108: 103587.
- 14. Yin X, Zeng L. A study on the psychological needs of nurses caring for patients with coronavirus disease 2019 from the perspective of the existence, relatedness, and growth theory. Int J Nurs Sci. 2020; 7: 157-60.
- Sanders C. Application of Colaizzi's method: interpretation of an auditable decision trail by a novice researcher. Contemp Nurse. 2003; 14(3): 292-302.
- Mental Well-Being of Nursing Staff During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Outbreak: A Cultural Perspective. J Emerg Nurs. 2020; 46(4): 426-7.
- Turkish Nurses Association. Nurses' situation analysis. Available from:http:// www.thder.org.tr/uploads/files/EK-SB-Hemsirelerin-Durum-Analizi-5.Rapor. pdf. Accessed May 19, 2020.
- Zhang M, Zhou M, Tang F, Wang Y, Nie H, Zhang L, et al. Knowledge, attitude, and practice regarding COVID-19 among healthcare workers in Henan, China. J Hosp Infect. 2020; 105(2): 183-7.
- 19. Cai W, Lian B, Song X, Hou T, Deng G, Li H. A cross-sectional study on mental health among health care workers during the outbreak of Corona Virus Disease 2019. Asian J Psychiatr. 2020; 51: 102111.
- 20. Xiang YT, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. Lancet Psychiatry. 2020; 7(3): 228-9.
- Jackson D, Bradbury-Jones C, Baptiste D, Gelling L, Morin K, Neville S, et al. Life in the pandemic: Some reflections on nursing in the context of COVID-19. J Clin Nurs. 2020; 29(13-14): 2041-3.
- 22. Usher K, Durkin J, Bhullar N. The COVID-19 pandemic and mental health impacts. Int J Ment Health Nurs. 2020; 29(3): 315-8.
- 23. Liu Y, Wang H, Chen J, Zhang X, Yue X, Ke J, et al. Emergency management of nursing human resources and supplies to respond to coronavirus disease 2019 epidemic. Int J Nurs Sci. 2020; 7(2): 135-8.



# **Determination of Striae Gravidarum and its Affecting Factors During Pregnancy**

Betül Mammadov<sup>1</sup>, Dilay Necipoğlu<sup>2</sup>, Gülşen Vural<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Midwifery, Near East University Faculty of Health Sciences, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Nursing, Near East University Faculty of Nursing, Nicosia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: The aim of the study was to determine the formation of striae gravidarum (SG) and its affecting factors during pregnancy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: This study was conducted as a descriptive-cross-sectional study between April and July, 2018. The population of the study consisted of women (n=239) who gave birth at term in the Women's Health and Maternity Service of a university hospital in Cyprus and volunteered to participate in this study. The data were collected via the "Data Collection Form" consisting of 30 questions.

RESULTS: Thirty one percent of the women had intense striae. SG intensity was mostly located on the abdomen (50.4%), hips (8.5%) and breasts (8.5%). SG development time increased mostly in the third trimester of pregnancy (72.1%). It was found that 57.4% of women had striae in the same fashion as their mothers. The prevalence of striae in pregnancy was significantly higher in those women whose mothers also developed SG (p<0.001). It was observed that striae development was higher in women with high body mass index (BMI) in the pre-pregnancy period and after pregnancy (p<0.001).

CONCLUSION: Those women who had family history of SG (especially in their mothers) and whose BMI was higher both before and after pregnancy had more SG.

Keywords: Striae gravidarum, midwifery, nursing, pregnancy

# INTRODUCTION

Many changes occur in women's bodies during pregnancy. Striae gravidarum (SG) is among the physiological changes which develop in the female body during pregnancy. SG may develop during pregnancy with individual differences in terms of size, shape and region.<sup>1</sup> SG starts out as erythematous, red or purple linear bands and then turns into mother-of-pearl patterning and then it heals, leaving an atrophic scar. Deep striae may cause itching, burning, discomfort or bleeding. Although the factors causing the formation of SG are not known precisely, some risk factors have been defined. These are; the age of the mother, the presence of striae in the family history, race, the weight of the mother during pregnancy, the weight of the new-born and the size of the head circumference, being primigravida, hormonal changes

during pregnancy and increased lateral tension in the connective tissue as a result of increased regional distension.1-5

SG is seen in approximately 50-90% of pregnant women and is more common in the last trimester of pregnancy.<sup>6</sup> SG is generally seen in the breasts, abdomen, hips, thighs and axillary regions.<sup>7</sup> In the literature, there are many studies regarding the prevention of SG.1-7 The most important reason for this is that SG does not disappear after it occurs and becomes an aesthetic body perception problem for women in the postpartum period.8,9

Due to the increased importance which women place on beauty and aesthetics, the demand to reduce or prevent SG has also increased.<sup>10</sup> It is seen that many herbal and cosmetic products are commonly used

To cite this article: Mammadov B, Necipoğlu D, Vural G. Determination of Striae Gravidarum and its Affecting Factors During Pregnancy. Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(1):64-69

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.M. 0000-0002-9051-0279; D.N. 0000-0001-8213-5854; G.V. 0000-0001-7304-685X.



Address for Correspondence: Dilay Necipoğlu E-mail: dilav.necipoglu@neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8213-5854

Received: 05.08.2021 Accepted: 08.12.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. to reduce or prevent SG from occurring. A systematic review showed that the herbal and cosmetic products used to date are not sufficient in preventing SG.<sup>10</sup> For this reason, it is thought that more studies are needed in order to determine the factors which are effective in the development of SG and the methods used to prevent this condition. Knowing the risk factors in the formation of SG is important in terms of guiding the training and care to be given to pregnant women by midwives and nurses.

The aim of the study was to determine the frequency and severity of SG occurring during pregnancy in puerperal women and the factors affecting the formation of SG. In this context, the research questions were;

1) How common is SG in pregnant women?

2) What are the factors affecting the development of SG in pregnant women?

3) How severe is SG in pregnant women?

4) What are the methods used by pregnant women to prevent SG?

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Design of Study**

The study was designed in a descriptive cross-sectional manner.

#### Population and Sampling of the Study

It was determined that the number of births in a year at the University Hospital was between 550-600. The sample of this study was taken as n=600 and the population of the study was calculated with a sample formula of the known universe with a 95% confidence interval and a 5% margin of error (n=234). During this study, n=239 cases were investgated. The population of this study consisted of women (n=239) who were in the inpatient ward of the Gynaecology and Obstetrics Department of a University Hospital located in the Turkish Republic of North Cyprus, who had just given birth and were willing to participate in this study.

# Variables of the Study

The independent variables of this study were sociodemographic factors and the products used to prevent the striae, while the dependent variable was the presence of SG.

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

This participants of this study were women who had just given birth, who spoke Turkish, and were willing to participate.

#### Application of the Study

The data were collected with the "Data Collection Form" comprising 30 questions prepared by the researchers. The data collection form was prepared after taking the advice from experts (3 specialist nurses). A pilot study was conducted using the data collection form (n=30, and these participants were subsequently included in this study as there was no change in the data collection forms). The first section of the data collection form consists of 12 questions on the socio-demographic characteristics of the women (age, education, number of pregnancies, weight, height etc.); the second section consists of 18

questions related to (SG development, the number of SG, the time of the SG occurrence, family history of SG and the products they used to prevent SG and how regularly they used them etc.). The location of the SG was determined and its severity was recorded as mild, moderate or severe. The presence of 1-5 striae in a localised region was classed as mild, 6-10 striae was classed as moderate and 11 or over striae was classed as severe SG.<sup>11,12</sup> In addition, visuals were added to the questionnaire in order to determine the location of the striae. The body regions of puerperant women with SG were visually evaluated by the researchers.

The data were collected between the 1<sup>st</sup> of April and the 30<sup>th</sup> of July, 2018 by a face-to-face interview technique lasting 15 to 20 minutes with the women who had given birth at the hospital. When interviewing the women face-to-face, a time when they felt comfortable and did not have any pain was selected. The researchers observed the SG regions, regarding their location and severity and recorded this information in order to analyse the development of SG.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

In order for the data collection forms to be administered, institutional permission, Near East University Ethics Committee permission (approval number: YDU-2017/45-385) and informed consent were obtained from the participants and the relevant institutions.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences software version 21.0 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA) package software was used to analyse the data. Percentage, frequency and chi-squared tests ( $\chi^2$ ) were used to analyse the data. The data were evaluated with a 95% confidence level and level of significance of p<0.05.

## RESULTS

A total of 83.7% of the women who developed SG during pregnancy were between the ages of 25-40 years and 74.4% (n=96) of them had postgraduate degrees. It was determined that 53.5% (n=69) of the women who developed SG were primiparous and 89.1% gave birth to babies whose birth weight was within the normal margins (2,500-4,000 gr.) (Table 1). Thirty one percent of the participants (n=40) had severe SG (11 or over) and in order of frequency, the regions in which it was observed were the abdomen (50.4%), hips (8.5%) and breasts (8.5%) (Table 2). When the women were asked when they developed SG, they stated that the increase in striae was more severe in their third trimester (72.1%). 79.9% of the women who had SG stated that before pregnancy, they had no striae on their bodies (Table 3).

When the family history of women who developed SG was considered, 84.5% of them had a first degree relative with a history of SG. The presence of SG in their family history was determined to be a statistically significant factor with regards to the development of SG (Table 1), (p<0.001). When the women who had SG were asked who the family member who had SG was, 57.4% of them responded by saying their mother or grandmother had SG, so it was determined this significantly affected the development of striae during their pregnancy (p<0.001). The development of striae both before and after pregnancy was found to be related to body mass index (BMI). It was determined that women with higher BMI had more striae (both before pregnancy; p<0.001, and after pregnancy p<0.001). It was also found that the difference between the BMI before and after pregnancy was not related to the formation of SG (p=0.713).

When the cosmetic and herbal products which women used to prevent SG during pregnancy were considered, 70.5% of them stated that they developed striae regardless of using these products. It was determined that the use (p=0.061) of various cosmetic creams and herbal ointments (almond oil, olive oil, cocoa butter, baby oil etc.) and the different frequencies of use (sometimes, 1-3 times a day etc.) did not prevent striae development (p=0.792). Also, it was also determined that smoking (p=0.276), multiple pregnancies (p=0.366), birth method (p=0.465), the baby's gender (p=0.620), or the presence of polyhydramnios (p=0.523) did not affect the development of SG significantly (Table 1).

# DISCUSSION

It is estimated that SG develops in over half of pregnancies and its aetiology is not yet known.<sup>9</sup> When the literature is reviewed with regard to the causes and precautions taken against SG, it can be seen that there are very few studies in this field. According to the results of our study, women who have a family history of SG (especially in their mother) are

more likely to develop SG (p=0.001). Our results showed that another important factor affecting SG was a high BMI. For example, our study showed that a high BMI before and during pregnancy increased the development of striae (p=0.001). The prevalence study conducted by J-Orh et al.<sup>11</sup> on 180 pregnant women regarding SG showed that young women with a family history of SG and those who had a high BMI before and during pregnancy were more susceptible to SG. The results of the study conducted by Ghasemi et al.<sup>13</sup> showed similar results, indicating that genetic and physical factors play a significant role in the development of SG. As a result of the literature review conducted by Farahnik et al.<sup>14</sup> in 2016, it was determined that the most important risk factors in the development of SG were: being a young mother, the presence of a family history of SG (especially in the mother), an increased BMI before and during pregnancy and a heavy birth-weight new-born. When the results of other studies are considered, it can be seen that the factors affecting SG are genetic and physical aspects such as: being a young mother, the presence of a family history of striae, high prepregnancy BMI, and excessive weight gain during pregnancy.<sup>15-19</sup> As a result of our study, this finding, which supports the literature, revealed that genetic factors are effective in the development of striae.

Socio-demographic characteristics		Striae gravidarum, (n=129) (54%)		No striae gravidarum, (n=110) (46%)		<b>x</b> <sup>2</sup>	р
		n	%	n	%		-
Age	18-24	4	3.1	2	1.8	3.248	0.189
	25-40	108	83.7	95	86.4		
	41 and above	17	13.2	13	11.8		
Education level	Primary education	7	5.4	3	2.7	3.761	0.154
	Secondary education	26	20.2	14	12.7		
	Higher education	96	74.4	39	84.5		
Number of pregnancies	Primiparous	69	53.5	71	64.5	- 3.010	0.084
	Multiparous	60	46.5	39	35.5		
Birth weight of babies	Below 2,500 gr	8	6.2	8	7.3	0.248	0.883
	2,500-4,000 gr	115	89.1	98	89.1		
	Over 4,000 gr	6	4.7	4	3.6		
Smoking	Yes	35	27.1	37	33.6	1.193	0.276
	No	94	72.9	73	66.4		
Multiple pregnancy	Yes	8	6.2	4	96.4	0.819	0.366
	No	121	93.8	106	3.6		
Type of delivery	Caesarean section	87	67.4	79	71.8	0.536	0.465
	Normal vaginal delivery	42	32.6	31	28.2		
Baby's gender	Female	58	45	53	48.2	0.248	0.620
	Male	71	55	57	51.8		
Presence of polyhydramnios	Yes	15	11.6	10	9.1	0.408	0.523
	No	114	88.4	100	90.9		
Family history of SG	Yes	20	15.5	68	61.8	15.894	0.001
	No	109	84.5	42	38.2		
The relationship to an individual with SG in the family	None	20	15.5	42	38.2	17.656	0.001
	Mother	74	57.4	45	40.9		
	Sister	27	20.9	14	12.7		
	Other (aunt etc.)	8	6.2	9	8.2		

 $\chi^2$ : Chi-squared tests, p<0.05

Our study also showed that there was no significant relationship (p>0.05) between the formation of SG during pregnancy and the various cosmetic and herbal ointments used (almond oil, olive oil, cocoa butter, baby oil etc.). Different results can be seen among the randomised controlled studies related to the use of various herbal and cosmetic ointments used in order to prevent SG. These studies showed that although the use of products reduces the severity of SG, they cannot remove SG or prevent it from occurring. For example, in one study conducted with 100 nulliparous women to measure the effects of olive oil in preventing SG, the women were separated into experimental and control groups. 1 mL of olive oil was topically applied twice a day to the abdomen area. The results showed that olive oil did not affect the severity or prevent the occurrence of SG.<sup>20</sup> Similarly, a study in which 360 nullipara women used olive oil and Saj cream showed that there were no differences

between the control group and the experimental group (p>0.05).<sup>21</sup> The study conducted by Taavoni et al.<sup>22</sup> in 2011 on the effects of olive oil in preventing SG during the second trimester showed that there were no differences in SG formation between the control and experiment groups, thus demonstrating that the use of olive oil did not prevent SG. When the results of the studies examining the effects of cocoa butter and bitter almond oils had on SG were examined, it could be seen that these oils also did not prevent striae development in pregnancy.<sup>23:25</sup> Similar to the results in the literature, our results also showed that the cosmetic creams and herbal oils and the frequency with which women used these did not prevent the occurrence of SG.

It is thought that the reason that the cosmetic creams and herbal oils used by the women participating in our study and the frequency with

Table 2. Information on women's use of products during pregnancy (n=239)							
		Striae gravidarum, (n=129) (54%)No striae gravidarum, (n=110) (46%)		χ²	р		
Product use during pregnancy (cream oil)	Yes	91	70.5	72	65.5		
roduct use during pregnancy (cream, on)	No	38	29.5	38	34.5	0.709	0.400
	None	38	29.5	38	34.5		
Used product during pregnancy	Cosmetic product	56	43.4	56	51.0	9.023	0.061
osed product during pregnancy	Vegetable oils	35	27.1	16	14.5	5.025	
	None	38	29.5	38	34.5		
	Abdomen	43	33.3	36	32.7		
The area of the hady where the product was used	Abdomen + breasts	8	6.2	17	15.5		0.119
The area of the body where the product was used	Abdomen + hips	20	15.5	5	4.5	7.396	
	Abdomen + hips + breasts	20	15.5	14	12.7		
	Never used	38	29.5	38	34.5		
Frequency of product use	Sometimes	22	17.1	14	12.7		0.792
	Once a day	40	31.0	36	32.7		
	2 times a day	24	18.6	17	15.5	1.694	
	3 times per day	5	3.9	5	4.5		

 $\chi^2$ : Chi-squared tests, p<0.05.

Table 3. Distribution of some features of striae gravidarum (n=129)*						
SG features		n	%			
	1-5	42	32.6			
How many SG developed	6-10	47	36.4			
	11 or above	40	31.0			
	Abdomen	65	50.4			
	Hips	11	8.5			
	Abdomen + breasts	18	14.0			
Area where SG developed	Breasts	11	8.5			
	Abdomen + hips	12	9.3			
	Abdomen + hips + breasts	6	4.7			
	Hips + breasts	6	4.7			
	First trimester	10	7.8			
SG development trimester	Second trimester	26	20.2			
	Third trimester	93	72.1			
Descense of this hafers are seen	Yes	48	20.1			
Presence of strike before pregnancy	No	191	79.9			
*Only those women who developed striae gravidarum were included.	·					

which they used them did not work was their genetic tendencies to develop SG. Our results showed that increased BMI can affect striae and that this is due to the fatty tissue under the skin becoming thicker and stretching the skin, thus causing SG. Although no significant relationship was found between the age of the women and the development of SG in our study (p=0.189), the literature states that SG is more common in younger women. This is due to the structure of the fibrils in younger women being more breakable, which allows stretch marks to occur more easily.<sup>11</sup> The ages of the women participating in our study were similar and so it is thought that if this study is repeated with participants from different age groups, this might affect the results.

The study conducted by Canpolat et al.<sup>12</sup> in 2010 showed that polyhydramnios is related to SG and that SG is seen in all polyhydramnios cases. This situation, which they assumed to be due to the abdomen region being wider thus increasing the tension in the skin, did not appear as a factor which increased striae in our study (p=0.523). It was also seen that smoking during pregnancy did not affect SG and it is assumed that this is due to the number of pregnant women who smoke being low and that there were not enough sample numbers to test the validity of this proposition. Also, although smoking has many harmful effects, it did not directly affect SG (p=0.276).

#### Study Limitations

Our research is limited to those women who applied to a university hospital in North Cyprus to give birth between April and July, 2018 and who also agreed to participate in this research. Increasing the sample size would increase the power of this study.

## CONCLUSION

It was found that approximately half of the women participating in our study developed SG and SG intensity increased mostly in the third trimester. It was found that the development of striae before and after pregnancy was higher in those women with a family history of SG and a high BMI. Many factors (maternal age, genetic predisposition, skin type, etc.) which cause SG during pregnancy are beyond the control of midwives and nurses. With good prenatal care and education, other factors affecting the development of SG can be controlled by midwives and nurses. Therefore, during pregnancy, it is necessary to monitor and control the mother's weight, to direct her to appropriate exercises, to maintain body hydration, to provide adequate fluid intake and to be followed up regarding edema.

In addition, in order to determine the formation of SG and its related factors during pregnancy, we recommend carrying out analytical and randomized controlled scientific studies on women with different genetic structures, from different cultures, living in different climates, and experimental studies using different products which are intended to prevent the formation of SG.

# MAIN POINTS

- · Approximately half of the women had striae gravidarum.
- Striae gravidarum severity increased mostly in the third trimester.
- The prevalence of striae in pregnancy was higher in those women whose mothers developed striae gravidarum.

- The development of striae gravidarum before and after pregnancy was higher in women with high BMI.
- Using various vegetable oils and cosmetic creams did not effectively prevent striae formation in pregnancy.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank all participants who voluntarily participated in this study.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Near East University Ethics Committee (approval number: YDU-2017/45-385).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent were obtained from the participants and the relevant institutions.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: B.M., D.N., G.V., Design: B.M., D.N., G.V., Supervision: G.V., Fundings: B.M., G.V., Materials: B.M., D.N., G.V., Data Collection and/or Processing: B.M., D.N., Analysis and/or Interpretation: D.N., Literature Search: B.M., D.N., G.V., Writing: B.M., D.N., Critical Review: B.M., G.V.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

- LeMone P, Burke K, Dwyer T, Levett-Jones T, Moxham L, Reid-Searl K. Medical surgical nursing. Pearson Higher Education; 2015. p.639.
- Murray SS, McKinney ES. Foundations of maternal-newborn and women's health nursing. In Medicine and Health. 2013; 99.
- Callen JP, Jorizzo JL, Zone JJ, Piette W, Rosenbach MA, Vleugels RA. Dermatological signs of systemic disease. In Expert Consult - Online and Print, Elsevier Health Sciences. 2016; 360.
- 4. Macdonald S. Mayes' Midwifery E-Book: A textbook for midwives. In Elsevier Health Sciences Medicine and Health. 2011; 436.
- Brennan M, Clarke M, Newell J, Devane D. Prevention of striae gravidarum: study protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2018; 19(1): 553.
- 6. Bolognia JL, Jorizzo JL, Schaffer J V. Dermatology E-Book. In Elsevier Health Sciences Medicine and Health. 2012; 447.
- Teskereci G, Boz İ, Şahin Aydus H. Determination of complementary therapies for prevention of striae gravidarum. Turkderm-Turk Arch Dermatol Venereology. 2018; 52(1): 29-32.
- 8. Nusrat U, Ahmed Asim S, Soomro S, Nuruddin Gitay M, Iqbal S, Waqar F, et al. Striae gravidarum. Prof Med J. 2019; 26(01): 116-21.
- Kocaöz S, Gördeles Beşer N, Kizilirmak A. Striae gravidarum in primigravid women: prevalence, risk factors, prevention interventions and body image. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020; 33(23): 3922-8.
- Brennan M, Young G, Devane D. Topical preparations for preventing stretch marks in pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012; 11(11): CD000066.
- 11. J-Orh R, Titapant V, Chuenwattana P, Tontisirin P. Prevalence and associate factors for striae gravidarum. J Med Assoc Thai. 2008; 91(4): 445-51.
- Canpolat F, Kaya Akış H, Çevirgen Cemil B, Eskioğlu F. Investigation of risk factors associated with striae gravidarum in Turkish primipara pregnants. Turkderm-Archives Turkish Dermatology Venerol. 2010; 44: 28-31.

- 13. Ghasemi A, Gorouhi F, Rashighi-Firoozabadi M, Jafarian S, Firooz A. Striae gravidarum: associated factors. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2007; 21(6): 743-6.
- Farahnik B, Park K, Kroumpouzos G, Murase J. Striae gravidarum: Risk factors, prevention, and management. Int J Womens Dermatol. 2016; 3(2): 77-85.
- Osman H, Rubeiz N, Tamim H, Nassar AH. Risk factors for the development of striae gravidarum. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007; 196(1): 62.e1-5.
- 16. Atwal GSS, Manku LK, Griffiths CEM, Polson DW. Striae gravidarum in primiparae. Br J Dermatol. 2006; 155(5): 965-9.
- 17. Kasielska-Trojan A, Sobczak M, Antoszewski B. Risk factors of striae gravidarum. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2015; 37(2): 236-40.
- Kılıç A, Çakmak S, Atalay C, Atıcı E, Er O, Yakut K, et al. Development of striae gravidarum in pregnant women and associated factors. Turkderm-Archives Turkish Dermatology Venerol. 2015; 49: 95-100.
- 19. Liu L, Huang J, Wang Y, Li Y. Risk factors of striae gravidarum in Chinese primiparous women. PLoS One. 2018; 13(6): e0198720.

- Soltanipoor F, Delaram M, Taavoni S, Haghani H. The effect of olive oil on prevention of striae gravidarum: A randomized controlled clinical trial. Complement Ther Med. 2012; 20(5): 263-6.
- 21. Soltanipour F, Delaram M, Taavoni S, Haghani H. The effect of olive oil and the Saj<sup>®</sup> cream in prevention of striae gravidarum: A randomized controlled clinical trial. Complement Ther Med. 2014; 22(2): 220-5.
- 22. Taavoni S, Soltanipour F, Haghani H, Ansarian H, Kheirkhah M. Effects of olive oil on striae gravidarum in the second trimester of pregnancy. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2011; 17(3): 167-9.
- Osman H, Usta IM, Rubeiz N, Abu-Rustum R, Charara I, Nassar AH. Cocoa butter lotion for prevention of striae gravidarum: a double-blind, randomised and placebo-controlled trial. BJOG. 2008; 115(9): 1138-42.
- 24. Buchanan K, Fletcher HM, Reid M. Prevention of striae gravidarum with cocoa butter cream. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2010; 108(1): 65-8.
- Timur Taşhan S, Kafkasli A. The effect of bitter almond oil and massaging on striae gravidarum in primiparaous women. J Clin Nurs. 2012; 21(11-12): 1570-6.



# A Rare Gallbladder Anomaly Mimicking Choledochal Cyst; Hourglass Gallbladder

🕲 Feyyaz Güngör<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Nihan Acar<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 İbrahim Cüneyit<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Osman Nuri Dilek<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of General Surgery, İzmir Katip Çelebi University, Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Anatomy, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye

# Abstract

Biliary tract anomalies are surprises which may cause surgeons unexpected issues. Although biliary system anomalies are frequently seen (42-58%), an hourglass gallbladder is a rare condition which cannot be given a specific rate, since very few cases have been reported in the literature. In this study, a case in which an hourglass gallbladder was unexpectedly detected during an operation is presented in light of the literature data.

Keywords: Hourglass gallbladder, anomalies, diagnosis, treatment

# **INTRODUCTION**

Anatomical variations of the biliary system are seen in 42-58% of the population.<sup>1,2</sup> The hourglass gallbladder, which is one of these variations, has been reported in single case reports in the literature but its incidence is unclear. It is considered to be congenital in the paediatric population and to develop after episodes of cholecystitis in adults. There are no typical findings in clinical presentation and preoperative laboratory tests. It may be detected on preoperative imaging if suspected. Although it is very rare, it is important in terms of morbidity and mortality in patients who develop complications in surgical treatment.

# CASE PRESENTATION

A 54-year-old male patient presented with right upper quadrant pain provoked after high-fat meals for three months. His past surgical and medical history, physical examination and laboratory tests were unremarkable. Abdominal ultrasound (US) detected choledochal cyst and cholelithiasis. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) also confirmed the diagnosis of choledochal cyst and classified it as type 2 according to Todani classification (Figure 1). Written informed consent was obtained from the patient and elective surgery was planned. Extrahepatic biliary tract resection was planned conventionally and the patient was operated on after preoperative preparations were completed. During the exploration, it was found that the gallbladder was in the normal position, the gallbladder narrowed from the fundus to the body and then widened again around the neck and the cystic duct was open from the usual site to the distal common bile duct (Figure 2). The extrahepatic biliary ducts were evaluated as completely normal. It was understood that the part which was interpreted as a choledochal cyst was the body and neck part of the gallbladder shaped like an hourglass. Cholecystectomy was performed (Figure 3) and the patient was discharged uneventfully on second day postoperative. The pathological examination was reported as chronic cholecystitis.

# DISCUSSION

It is reported that the hourglass gallbladder was first described by Morgagni in 1769.3 Its incidence is unknown and there are very few case reports in the literature. In post-mortem studies, the duplication rate of any part of the biliary system is 1 in 4,000, and the hourglass gallbladder is a much rarer variant of congenital biliary malformation.<sup>3,4</sup> Although its pathogenesis is unclear, it is considered to be congenital in the paediatric population and to occur due to chronic inflammation and fibrosis caused by cholecystitis.<sup>5</sup> Cases may present with all common symptoms of biliary pathologies which makes differential

To cite this article: Güngör F, Acar N, Cüneyit İ, Dilek ON. A Rare Gallbladder Anomaly Mimicking Choledochal Cyst; Hourglass Gallbladder. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):70-72

ORCID IDs of the authors: F.G. 0000-0002-4066-6072; N.A. 0000-0003-0720-3794; İ.C. 0000-0003-0555-2114; O.N.D. 0000-0002-6313-3818.



Address for Correspondence: Feyyaz Güngör **E-mail:** feyyaz.gngr@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4066-6072

Received: 26.01.2020 Accepted: 05.10.2020

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License.



**Figure 1.** Sagittal and transverse section magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (T2 weighted). The yellow arrow was reported as choledochal cyst and the red arrow was reported as gallbladder.



Figure 2. Preoperative image. Cystic duct (ligated and cut) and fundus marked.



Figure 3. Specimen of hourglass gallbladder.

diagnosis difficult. Laboratory tests are usually normal unless there is an obstructive lesion. It can be detected via US by an experienced radiologist. In the literature, it is reported that similar images may also occur in the segmental type of gallbladder adenomyomatosis.<sup>6</sup> If hourglass gallbladder is suspected or any sign of variation is detected, further evaluation should be carried out in order to confirm the diagnosis and determine whether there is a relation with the biliary tree. Subsequently, MRCP and computed tomography should be performed and if there is still a conflict, hepatobiliary scintigraphy or endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) can be preferred. Although it is an invasive technique, ERCP has a sensitivity of up to 100% in the diagnosis of biliary cysts.<sup>7</sup>

Laparoscopic cholecystectomy is the initial treatment in symptomatic cases. However, in cases which cannot be diagnosed preoperatively such as the case presented here, conventional surgery is also a safe and effective way to evaluate the biliary tract properly.

# CONCLUSION

Gallbladder anomalies are rare entities which can rarely be detected with preoperative imaging. Therefore, the surgeon's attention during surgery is vital for diagnosis. In order to prevent possible complications, it is important to follow the rules for safe surgical dissection and to keep in mind potential variations of the biliary system.

## **MAIN POINTS**

- · Gall bladder anomalies are rare entities.
- Diagnosis is difficult and can usually be detected preoperatively.
- When detected in the preoperative period, it can be treated with laparoscopic surgery.
- However, in cases which cannot be diagnosed preoperatively such as the one presented here, conventional surgery is also a safe and effective way to evaluate the biliary tract properly.

**Acknowledgments:** This manuscript was presented as a poster at the 13<sup>th</sup> Turkish Congress of Hepato-pancreato-biliary Surgery, 1-4 November, 2017, Antalya, Türkiye.

# **ETHICS**

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consents were obtained from the patient who participated in this study and also for the publication of the photos used.

## **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: N.A., Design: I.C., Supervision: I.C., Fundings: I.C., Literature Search: F.G., Writing: F.G., N.A., O.N.D., Critical Review: O.N.D.

# DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Mortelé KJ, Rocha TC, Streeter JL, Taylor AJ. Multimodality imaging of pancreatic and biliary congenital anomalies. Radiographics. 2006; 26(3): 715-31.
- 2. Turner MA, Fulcher AS. The cystic duct: Normal anatomy and disease processes. Radiographics. 2001; 21(1): 3-22.
- 3. St-Vil D, Luks FI, Hancock BJ, Garel L, Brochu P, Blanchard H, et al. Diaphragm of the gallbladder: a case report. J Pediatr Surg. 1992; 27(10): 1301-3.
- Tsoraides SS, Cha AI, Crawford DL. Postcholecystectomy biliary symptoms. J SurgEduc. 2007; 64(4): 228-33.
- Reddy M, Studentsova Y, Castronuovo J. Acquired hourglass gallbladder. Clin Nucl Med. 2001; 26(2): 153.
- Wong HYF, Lee KH. The hourglass gallbladder. Abdom Radiol (NY). 2018; 43(5): 1268-9.
- Keil R, Snajdauf J, Rygl M, Pycha K, Kotalová R, Drábek J, Stovícek J, et al. Diagnostic efficacy of ERCP in cholestatic infants and neonates--a retrospective study on a large series. Endoscopy. 2010; 42(2): 121-6.



# Percutaneous Mitral Cleft Repair with MitraClip: An Interesting Case of Owl Eye Appearance in the Mitral Valve

# Cenk Conkbayır<sup>1,2</sup>, İsmail Ateş<sup>3</sup>, Alptekin Özkoç<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Cardiology, Cyprus Health and Social Sciences University, Güzelyurt, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Clinic of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul Sişli Kolan Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

# Abstract

We present a case of a successful MitraClip procedure in a 73-year-old male patient with severe mitral regurgitation and an intriguing "owl eye" appearance of the mitral valve. The patient had a history of coronary artery bypass graft surgery ten years previously and experienced recurrent pulmonary edema due to regurgitation. Following the MitraClip procedure, the patient's symptoms improved, and his quality of life significantly increased.

Keywords: Coronary surgery, mitraclip, mitraclip, mitral regurtitation, owl eye

# INTRODUCTION

The aim of this case report was to describe a successful MitraClip procedure in a 73-year-old male patient with a history of coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG) and recurrent pulmonary edema caused by severe mitral regurgitation with a cleft in the mitral valve.

# **CASE PRESENTATION**

A 73-year-old male patient presented to the emergency room with shortness of breath, dyspnea, and orthopnea. Physical examination revealed an S3 gallop, a severe pansystolic murmur, and crackles in the upper lung fields. The patient's history included recurrent pulmonary edema, reduced quality of life, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) treated with bronchodilators. Echocardiography showed an enlarged left atrium, moderate left ventricular dysfunction [ejection fraction (EF): 40%], and severe mitral regurgitation. Transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) further identified a mitral cleft on the posterior mitral valve. Coronary angiography revealed severe stenotic lesions in the left anterior descending, circumflex, and right coronary arteries, while the saphenous and left internal mammary artery (LIMA) bypass grafts were patent.

Given the patient's history of CABG, patent bypass grafts, COPD, frequent hospital admissions due to pulmonary edema, and high EuroSCORE (calculated as 14), the heart team recommended a high-risk MitraClip procedure instead of redo open-heart surgery. Informed consent was obtained from the patient and his family after a detailed discussion of the procedure and its associated risks.

Preoperative preparation included the administration of intravenous diuretics, bronchodilators, and oxygen to minimize cardiac and pulmonary-related risks. The patient was placed under general anesthesia and intubated for the MitraClip procedure. A 7-French sheath was inserted, followed by a septostomy performed 3.7 cm away from the mitral valve in order to optimize the entrance of the left atrium and enhance the success of the MitraClip procedure. Under three-dimensional TEE guidance, two MitraClips were successfully inserted, providing an intriguing "owl eye" view of the mitral valve, as demonstrated by 3D echocardiography (Figure 1). Color Doppler imaging revealed mild mitral regurgitation, while X-ray imaging confirmed the presence of the MitraClips (Figure 2). The severe mitral regurgitation (Figure 3) was effectively treated with two MitraClips, as evidenced by mild mitral regurgitation on 2D echocardiography post-procedure

To cite this article: Conkbayır C, Ateş İ, Özkoç A. Percutaneous Mitral Cleft Repair with MitraClip: An Interesting Case of Owl Eye Appearance in the Mitral Valve. Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(1):73-75

ORCID IDs of the authors: C.C. 0000-0002-6594-1915; İ.A. 0000 0003 4921 5582; A.Ö. 0000 0001 8704 9875.



Address for Correspondence: Cenk Conkbayır E-mail: cenkconk@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6594-1915

**Received:** 16.11.2022 Accepted: 12.07.2023

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (Figure 4). Post-procedure, the patient's symptoms improved, he was extubated, and subsequently discharged. Follow-up revealed no cardiac or lung-related issues, and the patient's quality of life significantly improved.

## DISCUSSION

Patients with severe mitral regurgitation and additional risk factors, including advanced age, COPD, prior CABG surgery, low EF, and high EuroSCOREs, face a significant risk of mortality and a diminished



**Figure 1.** "Owl eye" appearance after MitraClip procedure, visualized with 3D transesophageal echocardiography.



Figure 2. X-ray image showing the presence of MitraClips.

quality of life.<sup>1,2</sup> In cases where there is a history of prior CABG surgery with patent LIMA, cardiac surgeons may be hesitant to perform a redo sternotomy due to potential complications and the risk of injuring the LIMA, which can adhere to the sternum due to fibrotic changes between the pericardium and sternum. Conversely, anesthesiologists may be concerned about respiratory complications in COPD patients during the peri- and post-procedural periods. However, with recent advancements in percutaneous mitral valve procedures such as the MitraClip, success rates are increasing as has been shown in a recent meta-analysis where both surgery and MitraClip demonstrated a similar safety profile and shorter length of stay in high-risk patients.1 The literature has also demonstrated that percutaneous mitral valve clip repair may offer a survival benefit, especially within the initial 1 to 2 years, particularly in those patients with medically managed chronic functional mitral regurgitation.<sup>2,3</sup> Additionally, studies have shown that the MitraClip procedure is both effective and safe in randomized multicenter studies.<sup>3,4</sup> The literature has also discussed "the surgical double orifice technique", which can provide an "owl eye" view similar to that achieved with the percutaneous MitraClip procedure performed in our case, in cases of severe mitral valve regurgitation.<sup>5</sup>

# CONCLUSION

This case report highlights a successful percutaneous mitral valve repair with MitraClip in a high-risk patient with severe mitral regurgitation and a unique "owl eye" appearance of the mitral valve. The procedure



Figure 3. Pre-procedural image illustrating severe mitral regurgitation.



**Figure 4.** Post-procedural image depicting mild mitral regurgitation following MitraClip intervention.

provided significant symptomatic relief and improved the patient's quality of life. Percutaneous mitral valve repair should be considered as a viable option in carefully selected patients, especially those with significant comorbidities or previous cardiac surgeries.

## **MAIN POINTS**

- The MitraClip procedure provided significant symptomatic relief and improved the patient's quality of life.
- Percutaneous mitral valve repair should be considered as a viable option in carefully selected patients, especially those with significant comorbidities or previous cardiac surgeries.
- We present an interesting case of mitral valve repair with MitraClip in a high-risk patient with severe mitral regurgitation and a unique "owl eye" appearance of the mitral valve.

## **ETHICS**

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patient.

### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö., Concept: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö., Design: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö., Data Collection and/or Processing: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö., Analysis and/or Interpretation: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö., Literature Search: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö., Writing: C.C., İ.A., A.Ö.

## DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- 1. Oh NA, Kampaktsis PN, Gallo M, Guariento A, Weixler V, Staffa SJ, et al. Doulamis An updated meta-analysis of MitraClip versus surgery for mitral regurgitation. Ann Cardiothorac Surg. 2021; 10(1): 1-14.
- Ansari MT, Ahmadzai N, Coyle K, Coyle D, Moher D. Mitral Valve Clip for Treatment of Mitral Regurgitation: An Evidence-Based Analysis. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2015; 15(12): 1-104.
- Mauri L, Foster E, Glower DD, Apruzzese P, Massaro JM, Herrmann HC, et al. EVEREST II Investigators. 4-year results of a randomized controlled trial of percutaneous repair versus surgery for mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013; 62(4) 317-28.
- Marmagkiolis K, Hakeem A, Ebersole DG, Iliescu C, Ates I, Cilingiroglu M. Clinical outcomes of percutaneous mitral valve repair with MitraClip for the management of functional mitral regurgitation. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019; 94(6) 820-6.
- Maisano F, Schreuder JJ, Oppizzi M, Fiorani B, Fino C, Alfieri O. The doubleorifice technique as a standardized approach to treat mitral regurgitation due to severe myxomatous disease: Surgical technique. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2000; 17(3): 201-5.